
AGENDA
Pwyllgor PWYLLGOR CRAFFU AMGYLCHEDDOL

Dyddiad ac amser 
y cyfarfod

DYDD MERCHER, 20 TACHWEDD 2019, 4.00 PM

Lleoliad YSTAFELL BWYLLGOR 4 - NEUADD Y SIR

Aelodaeth Cynghorydd Patel (Cadeirydd)
Y Cynghorwyr Boyle, Derbyshire, Owen Jones, Lancaster, Jackie Parry, 
Owen, Wong a/ac Wood

Tua 
Amser.

1  Ymddiheuriadau am Absenoldeb  

Derbyn ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb.

2  Datgan Buddiannau  

I’w gwneud ar ddechrau'r Eitem Agenda dan sylw, yn unol â Chod 
Ymddygiad yr Aelodau.

3  Cofnodion  

Cymeradwyo cofnodion y cyfarfodydd a gynhaliwyd ar 
1 Hydref 2019.

4  Gwasanaethau Rheoliadol a Rennir – Diweddariad ar Gynnydd 
Pedair Blynedd  (Tudalennau 5 - 84)

Bydd hyn yn rhoi’r cyfle i’r Pwyllgor ystyried: 

 Perfformiad y Gwasanaethau Rheoliadol a Rennir ers i’r 
gwasanaeth gael ei sefydlu ym mis Mai 2015;

 Manylion Adroddiad Blynyddol 2018/19 y Gwasanaethau 
Rheoliadol a Rennir; a,  

 Darganfyddiadau a chamau o adroddiad diweddar Swyddfa 
Archwilio Cymru ‘Cyflawni gyda Llai - Gwasanaethau Iechyd 
Amgylcheddol'.  

4.05 pm



5  Adroddiad Gorchwyl a Gorffen Drafft – Rheoli, Bioamrywiaeth a’r 
Amgylchedd Naturiol yng Nghaerdydd  (Tudalennau 85 - 160)

Eitem i ystyried cynnwys yr adroddiad gorchwyl a gorffen drafft ‘Rheoli 
Bioamrywiaeth a’r Amgylchedd Naturiol yng Nghaerdydd’, a 
phenderfynu p’un ai oes angen unrhyw newidiadau cyn gorffen yr 
adroddiad ac yna’i gyflwyno i’r Cabinet. 

5.05 pm

6  Fframwaith Datblygu Cenedlaethol – Nodyn Briffio Aelodau  
(Tudalennau 161 - 242)

Nodyn briffio aelodau a fydd yn rhoi’r cyfle i’r Pwyllgor roi sylwadau ar 
ymateb y Cabinet i’r ymgynghoriad diweddar ar y Fframwaith Datblygu 
Cenedlaethol.   Ar ôl trafodaeth, bydd angen iddynt gytuno p’un a oes 
angen unrhyw gamau ar y pwnc hwn. 

5.35 pm

7  Cynllun Gwella Hawliau Tramwy Cyhoeddus – Nodyn Briffio 
Aelodau  (Tudalennau 243 - 252)

Nodyn briffio aelodau i roi’r cyfle i’r Pwyllgor roi sylwadau ar yr eitem 
‘Cynllun Gwella Hawliau Tramwy Cyhoeddus’ y bydd y Cabinet yn ei 
dderbyn ar 21 Tachwedd 2019.  Ar ôl trafodaeth, bydd angen iddynt 
gytuno p’un a oes angen unrhyw gamau yn y dyfodol ar y pwnc hwn. 

5.45 pm

8  Pwyllgor Craffu Amgylcheddol – Rhaglen Waith Drafft 2019/20  
(Tudalennau 253 - 256)

Eitem i adolygu’r cynigion sydd yn y Pwyllgor Craffu Amgylcheddol – 
Rhaglen Waith Drafft 2019/20.  Gofynnir i aelodau gytuno ar ffordd 
ymlaen ar gyfer y cyfnod rhwng Rhagfyr 2019 a Mawrth 2020. 

5.55 pm

9  Eitemau Brys (os oes rhai)  

10  Y Ffordd Ymlaen  

Adolygu’r dystiolaeth a’r wybodaeth a gasglwyd yn ystod y broses o 
ystyried pob eitem agenda, cytuno ar sylwadau, arsylwadau a 
phryderon Aelodau i’w hanfon i’r Aelod Cabinet perthnasol gan y 
Cadeirydd, a nodi eitemau i’w cynnwys ym Mlaenraglen Waith y 
Pwyllgor. 

6.15 pm



11  Dyddiad y Cyfarfod Nesaf  

Dydd Mawrth 3 Rhagfyr 2019 am 4.30pm yn Ystafell Bwyllgor 4, 
Neuadd y Sir. 

Davina Fiore
Cyfarwyddwr Llywodraethu a Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol
Dyddiad:  Dydd Iau, 14 Tachwedd 2019
Cyswllt:  Graham Porter, 02920 873401, g.porter@caerdydd.gov.uk



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 

1 
 

CYNGOR CAERDYDD 

CARDIFF COUNCIL 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL SCRUTINY COMMITTEE              

                                20th NOVEMBER 2019  

 
 

 
SHARED REGULATORY SERVICES – FOUR YEAR PROGRESS UPDATE 

 
 

Reason for the Report 
 

1. To provide the Committee with an opportunity to review the service provided by 

Shared Regulatory Services, and in doing so: 

 
 Four Year Progress Update: Consider the performance of Shared Regulatory 

Services since it was established in May 2015; 

 Annual Report 2018/19: Consider the Shared Regulatory Services Annual 

Report 2018/19; and,  

 Wales Audit Office Report: To consider the findings and actions falling out of 

the recent Wales Audit Office report titled ‘Delivering with Less – Environmental 

Health Services’.  

 
Background 
 

2. Shared Regulatory Services is a collaborative service that was formed between the 

partner local authorities of Bridgend, Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan on 1st May 

2015. The new approach aims to deliver a fully integrated service under a single 

management structure for Trading Standards, Environmental Health and Licensing 

functions with shared governance arrangements ensuring full Elected Member 

involvement. 

 
3. The creation of the service was originally driven by the need to address the real 

terms reduction in council budgets while at the same time building resilience within 

the operation. The budget for Shared Regulatory Services across the three partner 

local authorities has significantly reduced in recent years. In response to the 

Tudalen 5

Eitem Agenda 4



 

2 
 

challenging financial position all three authorities recognised an opportunity to work 

together to deliver services jointly and agreed the principle of a shared service. 

 
4. In September 2014 Cabinet reports were submitted to each of the three partner local 

authorities to propose and further the development of a single Shared Regulatory 

Service comprising the functions of Environmental Health, Trading Standards and 

Licensing.  The model recommended that Shared Regulatory Services would be 

delivered through a single management structure. This approach was approved by 

Cabinet and Council at each of the partner local authorities in autumn 2014 with a 

proposed implementation date of 1 April 2015. 

 
5. On the 1st May 2015 all staff in scope transferred to Shared Regulatory Services and 

were employed by the host authority, the Vale of Glamorgan Council. Since then 

staff have worked hard to continue providing the required service while implementing 

new working and management structures.  

 
6. Shared Regulatory Services operates under a Joint Working Agreement with the 

Head of Service reporting on service provision to a Joint Committee of Elected 

Members drawn from the three partner local authorities. The detailed delegations of 

policy and functions from partners to the Joint Committee and Head of Service are 

set out in the Joint Working Agreement, these include: 

 
 The functions to be carried out by the joint service. 

 The terms of reference and constitution of the Joint Committee, the Management 

Board, etc.. 

 The proposed terms of Shared Regulatory Services, for example, staffing, the 

services to be provided by the host and other partners, financing and other 

functional issues. 

 The financial operating model. 

 
Core Services Provided by the Shared Regulatory Service 
 

7. Shared Regulatory Services provides a diverse and comprehensive range of 

services that safeguard the health, safety and economic wellbeing of consumers, 

businesses and residents.  The services are covered under the three main areas of 

Environmental Health, Trading Standards and Licensing.  

Tudalen 6



 

3 
 

 
8. These broad areas encompass a wide range of services that deal with issues that 

can have a huge impact upon people when things go wrong or have not been 

enforced properly.  A brief description of specific services delivered by Shared 

Regulatory Services is included in this section of the report. 

 
9. Trading Standards – this service protects consumers and businesses by 

maintaining and promoting a fair and safe trading environment. This area of work 

ensures that businesses comply with a host of consumer protection statutes 

including those relating to: 

 
 Product safety;  

 Food standards;  

 Animal feed;  

 Age restricted sales;  

 Counterfeiting;  

 Environmental safety;  

 Weights and measures;  

 False claims about goods and services;  

 Malpractice including rogue traders, scams and doorstep crime.  

 
10. The Trading Standards Service investigates complaints, participates in criminal 

investigations and exercises, conducts inspections of businesses, undertakes a 

sampling programme, provides consumer advice to vulnerable residents and 

provides business advice to help businesses improve their trading practices.  

Furthermore the Trading Standards Service has the only UKAS accredited Metrology 

laboratory in Wales providing calibration of weights and measures of length and 

capacity.  

 
11. Food Safety – this service protects public health by ensuring that the food we eat is 

without risk to the health and safety of consumers. This is achieved through regular 

food safety inspections of food business and guest caterers, operating the Food 

Hygiene Rating Scheme, providing education courses and practical advice, 

Tudalen 7



 

4 
 

investigating food and hygiene related complaints, carrying out regular food and 

water sampling and undertaking checks on imported food.  

 
12. Housing Safety – this service protects public health by working with private 

landlords and owners to provide warm, safe and healthy homes for tenants. They 

ensure that Houses in Multiple Occupation are licensed through Mandatory and 

Additional Licensing Schemes, inspecting Houses in Multiple Occupation and 

improving physical and management standards of privately rented accommodation. 

Complaints from tenants about their rented accommodation are investigated; these 

can include complaints about damp, mould, heating disrepair, nuisance and student 

housing issues. Problems with empty homes that have fallen into disrepair are 

addressed and immigration inspections are undertaken. 

  
13. Pollution – this service protects public health by controlling noise and air emissions 

into the environment. The Pollution Service investigates noise complaints about 

issues such as amplified music, DIY activities, house and car alarms, barking dogs, 

and construction sites. It investigates air pollution complaints such as smoke, dust 

and odour and illegal burning, undertakes environmental monitoring, local air quality 

management and regulates emissions from industrial processes. 

 
14. Contaminated Land – this service protects public health by reviewing and 

implementing the Contaminated Land Strategy which ensures the identification, 

inspection and remediation of historically contaminated sites. Private water supplies 

used for both domestic and commercial purposes (such as drinking, cooking, and 

washing) are regulated and responses are provided to Environmental Information 

Requests and Planning application consultations.  

 
15. Health and Safety – this service protects public health and safety by working with 

others to ensure risks in the workplace are managed properly. This is achieved by 

undertaking planned inspections and targeted initiatives, investigating reported 

accidents, diseases, dangerous occurrences and complaints, providing advice and 

guidance to employers and employees and securing safety standards at outdoor 

events.  

 

Tudalen 8



 

5 
 

16. Communicable Disease – this service protects public health by controlling and 

preventing cases and outbreaks of infectious disease by investigating confirmed 

sporadic and outbreak cases of communicable disease, providing and reviewing 

advice and guidance on infection control, cleaning and disinfection, case and contact 

exclusions, providing training on food hygiene, nutritional and infection control, 

enforcing health protection legislation to minimise the spread of communicable 

disease and contamination from radiation and chemicals that threaten health and 

leading on local and national communicable disease surveillance programmes.  

 
17. Animal Health and Warden Services – this service ensures the wellbeing of 

animals generally and during transport. It also administers animal movements to 

prevent the spread of diseases such as rabies, anthrax and foot & mouth. Wardens 

respond to complaints about straying animals such as dogs and horses.  

 
18. Licensing – this service determines applications for the grant, renewal, variation 

and transfer of many different authorisations which are the responsibility of the three 

partner local authorities. Applications for licences, certificates, registrations and 

permits are processed and enforcement undertaken in respect of statutory 

requirements such as alcohol, public entertainment, gambling, street trading, taxi 

licences, charitable collections and animal related licensing.  

 
19. Pest Control – this service offers services to the Vale of Glamorgan area for the 

treatment of pests and infestations. This could include, rats, wasps, mice, fleas, 

cockroaches etc.. 

 
20. Port Health - this service prevents the import of infectious and animal disease into 

the UK, ensuring ships comply with international agreed public health sanitation 

standards and improving the safety and quality of the food chain.  

 
21. The Wales Illegal Money Lending Unit - this service is one of only three units 

operating across the UK. The Unit covers all 22 Local Authority areas in Wales with 

the key aim of tackling the problem of illegal money lending. The Unit is both 

proactive and reactive in its work providing education and promotion across Wales to 

various social groups and highlighting the dangers of illegal lending. The unit also 

Tudalen 9



 

6 
 

carries out detailed investigations with a view to prosecuting offenders and has the 

capabilities to act swiftly where necessary to deal with victims of loan sharks.  

 
Shared Regulatory Services – Four Year Progress Update 
 

22. At the meeting the Head of Shared Regulatory Services will deliver a presentation 

that will summarise: 

 
 The progress that has been made by the service since it was created in May 

2015; 

 The content of the Shared Regulatory Services Annual Report 2018/19 that was 

received by Cabinet on the 10th October 2019 (attached to this report as 

Appendix 1).  

 
Shared Regulatory Services - Annual Report 2018/19 
 

23. In April 2015, Cardiff Council, Bridgend County Borough Council and the Vale of 

Glamorgan County Borough Council signed a Joint Working Agreement for the 

provision of regulatory services across the three Council areas. The document 

created Shared Regulatory Services and the Shared Regulatory Services Joint 

Committee. 

 
24. The Cabinet Member for Clean Streets, Recycling & Environment and the Chair of 

the Licensing and Public Protection Committees are the two Cardiff Council 

representatives on the Shared Regulatory Services Joint Committee following 

appointment by the Council on 24 May 2018. 

 
25. In accordance with Clause 5.1 of the Joint Working Agreement, Shared Regulatory 

Services is required to produce an annual report that covers the operational and 

financial performance of the service for the preceding year. The latest Shared 

Regulatory Services Annual Report covers the period from 1 April 2018 to 31 March 

2019.   

 
26. In July 2017, the Council ratified the insertion of a new Clause 5.6 into the Joint 

Working Agreement to enable each partner authority’s Cabinet to receive the Shared 

Regulatory Services Annual Report, for information purposes. This report apprises 

Cabinet of the decisions taken and functions carried out by the Shared Regulatory 

Tudalen 10



 

7 
 

Services Joint Committee over the proceeding financial year, as well as the 

performance and financial position of Shared Regulatory Services. 

 
27. The Shared Regulatory Services Annual Report 2018/19 was received and approved 

by the Shared Regulatory Services Joint Committee on 11 June 2019. The 

document was then received by Cardiff Council’s Cabinet on the 10th October 2019, 

where the content of the report was noted.  A copy of the Shared Regulatory 

Services Annual Report 2018/19 that was received by Cabinet is attached to this 

report as Appendix 1. 

 
28. The management of key operational performance is through the Client lead for 

Shared Regulatory Services in Planning, Transport & Environment. The Client Lead 

and the Head of Shared Regulatory Services work closely with Finance, Legal and 

other Service Areas to ensure that the delivery of services is to the required level 

and where required improvements are implemented. 

 
Shared Regulatory Services Annual Report 2018/19 - Operational Performance 
& Implications 
 

29. The key aspects of operational performance across the region from the annual 

report are as follows: 

 
 Sickness absence levels for 2018/19 were 7.55 days per FTE person. This is 

below the Council’s average of 11.53 days FTE, but is an increase on the 

previous year where absence rates were recorded as 6.89 per FTE person. 

There are mitigating factors with a number of staff undergoing planned medical 

interventions. There are no discernible trends in either the short or long term 

absence figures. 

 
 The Gross Revenue Budget position for 2018/19 for the service was an 

underspend of £496,000 against the gross revenue budget of £8.504m. The 

Authority Specific Services for Cardiff Council, mainly licensing activities, 

overspent by £94,000, a reduction of £40,000 on the previous year. The outturn 

position in respect of Authority Specific services is due to expenditure in excess 

of budget and a reducing income stream. On a positive note, service efficiency 

drives have seen a gradual reduction in expenditure on authority specific services 

Tudalen 11



 

8 
 

in comparison to the previous years. Additionally, the Wales Audit Office 

completed its independent financial audit of the service in September 2019; there 

were no recommendations for improvement. 

 
 Shared Regulatory Services has consolidated service delivery in accord with the 

agreed standards and delivered the requisite financial savings. However, more 

demands are being placed upon the service at a time of reducing resources.  

 
 Operational performance throughout 2018/19 has been reported both to the Joint 

Committee and to the Council through the corporate system. The targets and 

actions identified in the 2018/19 plan were achieved for the most part. All 

statutory documents were published on time and the change programmes 

identified for the period concluded on time. The only failings were an inability to 

complete all of the proactive programmes due to resourcing. 

 
 Agile working, which underpins the new operating model, continues to be 

deployed to allow maximum flexibility for the deployment of officers. In 2019, 

Shared Regulatory Services is seeking to understand how to quantify objectively 

that this mode of working is increasing productivity. 

 
 The SRS has been active in the Courts - Appendix 2 of the Annual report sets out 

the successful interventions undertaken in the 2018/19 period. 

 
30. The key operational implications for Cardiff Council are as follows: 

 
Public Accountability Measures: 
 
 PAM 13: Percentage of empty private sector properties brought back into use 

during the year through direct action by the local authority. 

 
 PAM 14: Number of additional dwellings created as a result of bringing empty 

properties back into use. 

 
These indicators are focused upon reducing the number of empty properties. The 

indicators are not explicitly mentioned in the Annual Report, as Shared 

Regulatory Services did not perform this function in the Vale of Glamorgan for the 

Tudalen 12



 

9 
 

2018/19 period and only began to deliver the function in Bridgend from 

November 2018.  

 
In recent years, there has been concern regarding performance against this 

indicator. In 2017/18, the performance level achieved was for PAM 13 and PAM 

14 felt short of the target. However, in 2018/19, performance has improved and 

Shared Regulatory Services exceeded the target number. The performance 

against PAM 13 was 58 properties brought back into reuse against a target of 40, 

and the performance against PAM 14 was 32 additional dwellings created 

against a target of 30.  

 
For 2019/20, PAM 14 has been redesignated as PAM 45. The targets have been 

set at 48 properties to be brought back into use for PAM 13 and 33 additional 

dwellings created for PAM 45.  

 
 PAM 23: the percentage of food premises that are broadly compliant.  

 
This measure provides an indication of how well a food business complies with 

food hygiene legislation. The food industry is responsible for producing and 

distributing safe food. Shared Regulatory Services, as the enforcement agency, 

conducts inspections, ensuring that standards are met through a robust 

enforcement programme to deal with those who do not comply with standards. 

The business support regimes introduced into the Shared Regulatory Services 

structure also play a part in promoting an increase in hygiene standards, but 

ultimately this is a measure of the performance of the food businesses 

themselves. Premises are deemed broadly compliant if specified risk scores are 

achieved for cleanliness, structural issues, and confidence in the management of 

the business. The target for 2018/19 was 93% of businesses to be broadly 

compliant; the performance recorded was 94.54%. This is the best score ever 

recorded in Cardiff. It is important to note that Cardiff has a significant turnover of 

food business operators, many of these new entrants to the market do not attract 

immediately a broadly compliant rating, and that affects the overall broadly 

compliant score for Cardiff. Areas with a more settled food business community 

often score well on this indicator because the food business operators have had 

time to become accustomed to the requirements of the food hygiene legislation.  

Tudalen 13



 

10 
 

31. Shared Regulatory Services also has targets contained within the Capital Ambition 

document. These are: 

 
 Ensure taxi users and visitors to the city experience a consistently high 

quality and safe service, and that Cardiff taxi drivers are provided with a 

level playing field by using our regulatory powers to support customers 

and providers. 

 
 During the year, the Council recognised the Cardiff Hackney Alliance as a 

properly constituted taxi trade organisation allowing direct consultation with a 

group that represents over 300 licenced drivers. 

 
The consultation on Welsh Government proposals on new taxi legislation was 

received during December 2018 and took the form of a wider consultation on 

transport in Wales. Shared Regulatory Services prepared a response to the 

consultation and supported the engagement events hosted by the Welsh 

Government. Shared Regulatory Services officers gave evidence to the 

National Assembly for Wales  Economy and Transport Committee on this 

issue. 

 
In February 2019, the Public Protection Committee received a report 

proposing changes to the age of taxis and private hire vehicles and a new 

element incorporating an emissions standard. The policy proposals support 

the City wide action plan to address air quality; improvements in the emission 

standards of the licensed taxi fleet in Cardiff will have a positive impact on 

NO2 levels as demonstrated in the modelling work undertaken as part of the 

Councils Feasibility Study. Consequently, a consultation on the proposal to 

introduce emissions standards for Taxis has been carried out through the Taxi 

forum and other stakeholder meetings. This complements the work being 

done on the wider air quality improvement programme. The consultation will 

extend into 2019/20 and be reported back to the Public Protection Committee 

later this year. 

 

Tudalen 14



 

11 
 

 Drive up standards in the private rented housing sector by taking 

enforcement action against rogue agents and landlords letting and 

managing properties. 

 
 Following the tragic fire and loss of life at Grenfell Tower in North Kensington 

there has been a nationwide review of the use of a particular type of cladding 

known as Aluminium Composite Material which was used on the Tower. 

Within Cardiff in the last year, Shared Regulatory Services has begun to take 

a more prominent role in respect of the affected high-rise buildings, and 

remains in consultation with Welsh Government, the Fire Service and the 

Councils Building Control service on the remedial action being taken by 

property owners and developers. 

 
The Minister for Housing and Regeneration convened an Expert Group, to 

develop a ‘road map’ to respond to the issues raised by the Independent 

Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety (the ‘Hackitt’ review). Shared 

Regulatory Services  attends this group as a representative of the Regulatory 

services in Wales. Shared Regulatory Services is encouraging the Welsh 

Government to update aspects of the Housing Act in Wales, and to make 

other policy changes to Housing law to improve standards in the private 

rented sector.  

 
 Houses in Multiple Occupancy often present the worst physical and 

management standards, as well as having a detrimental impact on the 

neighbourhoods in which they are situated particularly in relation to street 

scene. Shared Regulatory Services  took prosecutions on six properties in 

Cardiff during 2018-19 for a range of offences, including neglect of proper 

management standards, failure to obtain a House of Multiple Occupancy 

licence or to register with Rent Smart Wales and breach of a Prohibition 

Order, with fines totalling £70,000. In addition to this enforcement work, the 

Housing Enforcement Team dealt with over 900 complaints about property 

conditions, issued over 400 works notices and licensed over 500 Houses of 

Multiple Occupancy, bringing the total licensed in Cardiff to 3,500. The team 

carried out over 100 fit and proper person checks for Rent Smart Wales, with 

a small number of these becoming more significant investigations into 

Tudalen 15



 

12 
 

landlord performance. The team carried out Rent Smart Wales audits of nine 

managing agents, identifying action plans for improvement in each case and 

will follow up during 2019-20. 

 
 Help protect the public and ensure businesses act responsibly through 

the provision of the collaborative Regulatory Service. 

 
 Shared Regulatory Services protects the public and ensure that businesses 

act responsibly through the delivery of a programme of activities that are 

outlined in the Shared Regulatory Services Business Plan. Delivery of the 

programme ensures the Council improves health and wellbeing, safeguards 

the vulnerable, protects the environment, supports the local economy and 

maximises the use of resources. The Business Plan for 2019/20 highlights 

achievement made under these headings.  

 
 Air Quality has become a high profile issue, featuring in the headlines on an 

almost daily basis. The annual Local Air Quality Management Progress 

Report for 2017 was submitted to the Welsh Government by the 31st 

December deadline. Shared Regulatory Services continues to review 

monitoring locations in Cardiff, but the most significant challenge for Shared 

Regulatory Services in 2018/19 was to assist with the development of Cardiff 

Council's Air Quality Strategy. This follows the issue of a direction by Welsh 

Government to identify the option that will deliver compliance with legal limits 

for nitrogen dioxide in the city in the shortest possible time. Shared 

Regulatory Services has seconded an officer to support the Council achieve 

this goal while continuing to support elected members with other associated 

initiatives. 

 
 Cabinet has asked for a report outlining the performance of Shared 

Regulatory Services over a longer period. Such a report would allow trends to 

be identified and provide a different perspective on the performance of 

Shared Regulatory Services since its formation in 2015. In May 2019, the 

Wales Audit Office began its own assessment of the environmental health 

discipline, revisiting its earlier study in 2014. That report, when published, will 

be used as a part of the wider Shared Regulatory Services assessment.  

Tudalen 16



 

13 
 

Wales Audit Office Follow Up Review: Delivering with Less- Environmental 

Health Services 

 
32. During the summer of 2019 the Wales Audit Office undertook three separate reviews 

in Bridgend, Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan to look at ‘Delivering with Less - 

Environmental Health Services’.  This document will focus on the Wales Audit Office 

report that was prepared for Cardiff Council, a copy of which is attached as 

Appendix 2.  

 
33. The aim of the report was to review environmental health services in Cardiff, and in 

doing so considered: 

 
 If there had been any budgetary or workforce changes within the Council's 

environmental health services; and, 

 The extent to which these changes had addressed the recommendations 

identified in the previous 2014 national report.  

 
34. Overall, the report findings were generally positive, and it concluded that: 

 
 'The Shared Regulatory Services model is enabling the Council to sustain its 

delivery of environmental health services in a context of reducing resources and 

additional responsibilities placed on it by ongoing changes in legislation'.  

 
The review also identified that: 

 
 'there is scope for the Council to strengthen its independent oversight and 

assurance arrangements of Shared Regulatory Services and work with Shared 

Regulatory Services and other providers to explore opportunities for future 

improvement'. 

 
35. The key findings from the follow up review were: 

 
 P1. The Council should subject any future changes to environmental health 

services to a more rigorous analysis of costs, benefits and impacts. We found 

some evidence of cost/benefit/impact analysis being performed to enable 

decision-making around savings and changes to services. Whilst some 

consideration was given to the impact of staffing restructuring over the period 

Tudalen 17



 

14 
 

between 2018-2021, members and officers acknowledged that the real impact of 

this will be largely unknown until £498,000 of savings begin to take effect.  

 
 P2. The Council should investigate further possibilities for commercialisation and 

income generation for environmental health services in order to provide 

additional financial capacity if funding reduces in the future. 

 
 P3.  When considering how environmental health services may need to change 

in the future, the Council should ensure that the distinction between statutory and 

non-statutory services is clearly documented and understood by decision-

makers. This will help to ensure that statutory responsibilities and powers are 

weighed and prioritised appropriately alongside discretionary services. 

 
 P4.  The Council should introduce greater challenge of the level and quality of 

environmental health services provided by third parties, including the Shared 

Regulatory Services under the Joint Working Agreement. 

 
 P5.  The Council should work with Shared Regulatory Services to undertake a 

review of business continuity and succession planning arrangements in relation 

to Shared Regulatory Services to mitigate the risk of overreliance on key 

individuals, such as the Head of Shared Regulatory Services and operational 

managers. 

 
 P6.  The Council should strengthen accountability and elected member oversight 

of its environmental health services, for example through more regular scrutiny of 

services provided by third parties, including Shared Regulatory Services 

 
 P7.  The Council should consider introducing more structured and targeted 

development and training opportunities for relevant members, which may be 

beneficial in the event of changes in personnel and in areas experiencing 

changes in legislation, for example, air pollution/food safety/infectious diseases. 

 
 P8.  The Council should more clearly link any future decisions on changes to 

service levels to an assessment of impact on relevant stakeholders, including 

service users and residents. Whether consultation is necessary, and the most 

appropriate means of consulting should be decided on a case-by-case basis. 

Tudalen 18



 

15 
 

However, where changes are likely to impact service users, businesses and local 

residents, they should be aware of and consulted on these decisions. 

 
 P9.  The Council needs to build on initiatives such as the Noise app, to ensure 

that future funding reductions can be mitigated by innovation and transformation 

in service delivery and that environmental health services are able to benefit from 

new technologies. 

 
36. In response to this report the Council has produced a draft ‘WAO Delivering with 

Less - Environmental Health Services – Follow Up Audit Cardiff Action Plan’, which 

is attached to this report as Appendix 3.  

 
Previous Scrutiny 
 

37. The Environmental Scrutiny Committee received an item titled ‘Shared Regulatory 

Services Business – Draft Business Plan 2019/20’ at its meeting on the 7th May 

2019.  The purpose of the scrutiny was to consider the content of the Draft Business 

Plan and the impact that this might have on services delivered by the Shared 

Regulatory Service in 2019/20.  Following the meeting letters were sent by the Chair 

on behalf of the Committee to the Cabinet Member for Clean Streets, Recycling & 

Environment and Cardiff’s Chair for Licensing & Public Protection.  The letters set 

out the comments, observations and recommendations of the Committee in relation 

to the Draft Business Plan for 2019/20, and are attached to this report as 

Appendices 4 and 5.  

 
Way Forward 
 

38. Councillor Michael Michael, Cabinet Member for Clean Streets, Recycling & 

Environment and Councillor Norma Mackie, Chair of Cardiff’s Licensing & Public 

Protection Committee have been invited to attend for this item. Officers from Shared 

Regulatory Services and the Council’s Planning, Transport & Environment will 

support them.  In addition to this, representatives of the Wales Audit Office will 

attend the meeting to comment on the report titled ‘Wales Audit Office Follow Up 

Review: Delivering with Less - Environmental Health Services’. 

 
 
 

Tudalen 19



 

16 
 

Legal Implications 
 

39. The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and recommend 

but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in this report are to 

consider and review matters there are no direct legal implications. However, legal 

implications may arise if and when the matters under review are implemented with or 

without any modifications. Any report with recommendations for decision that goes to 

Cabinet/Council will set out any legal implications arising from those 

recommendations. All decisions taken by or on behalf of the Council must (a) be 

within the legal powers of the Council; (b) comply with any procedural requirement 

imposed by law; (c) be within the powers of the body or person exercising powers on 

behalf of the Council; (d) be undertaken in accordance with the procedural 

requirements imposed by the Council e.g. Scrutiny Procedure Rules; (e) be fully and 

properly informed; (f) be properly motivated; (g) be taken having regard to the 

Council's fiduciary duty to its taxpayers; and (h) be reasonable and proper in all the 

circumstances. 

 
Financial Implications 
 

40. The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and recommend 

but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in this report are to 

consider and review matters there are no direct financial implications at this stage in 

relation to any of the work programme. However, financial implications may arise if 

and when the matters under review are implemented with or without any 

modifications. Any report with recommendations for decision that goes to 

Cabinet/Council will set out any financial implications arising from those 

recommendations. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Committee is recommended to: 
 
(i) Consider the information in this report and the information presented at the 

meeting; 

(ii) Determine whether they would like to make any comments, observations or 

recommendations to the Cabinet on this matter; and, 

Tudalen 20



 

17 
 

(iii)  Decide the way forward for any future scrutiny of the issues discussed. 

DAVINA FIORE 
Director of Governance & Legal Services 
14th November 2019 
 

Tudalen 21



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



APPENDIX 1

Tudalen 23



Tudalen 24



Tudalen 25



Tudalen 26



Tudalen 27



Tudalen 28



Tudalen 29



Tudalen 30



Tudalen 31



Tudalen 32



Tudalen 33



Tudalen 34



Tudalen 35



Tudalen 36



Tudalen 37



Tudalen 38



Tudalen 39



Tudalen 40



Tudalen 41



Tudalen 42



Tudalen 43



Tudalen 44



Tudalen 45



Tudalen 46



Delivering with Less – Environmental 
Health Services – Follow-up Review –
Cardiff Council  
Audit year: 2018-19 

Date issued: September 2019 

Document reference: 1492A2019-20 

APPENDIX 2

Tudalen 47



 

 

This document has been prepared for the internal use of Cardiff Council as part of work performed in 
accordance with Section 17 of the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004 and section 18 of the Local 

Government Wales Measure 2009.  

No responsibility is taken by the Auditor General or the staff of the Wales Audit Office in relation to 
any member, director, officer or other employee in their individual capacity, or to any third party.  

In the event of receiving a request for information to which this document may be relevant, attention is 
drawn to the Code of Practice issued under section 45 of the Freedom of Information Act 2000.  
The section 45 Code sets out the practice in the handling of requests that is expected of public 

authorities, including consultation with relevant third parties. In relation to this document, the Auditor 
General for Wales and the Wales Audit Office are relevant third parties. Any enquiries regarding 

disclosure or re-use of this document should be sent to the Wales Audit Office at  
info.officer@audit.wales.  

We welcome correspondence and telephone calls in Welsh and English. Corresponding in Welsh will 
not lead to delay. Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth a galwadau ffôn yn Gymraeg a Saesneg. Ni fydd 

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

Mae’r ddogfen hon hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg. This document is also available in Welsh.  

The work was delivered by Grant Thornton UK LLP under the direction of Huw Rees.  

 
 

Tudalen 48

mailto:info.officer@audit.wales


Contents 

Page 3 of 26 - Delivering with Less – Environmental Health Services – Follow-up Review –Cardiff 
Council 

The shared regulatory services (SRS) model is enabling the Council to sustain its delivery 
of environmental health services in a context of reducing resources and additional 
responsibilities placed on it by ongoing changes in legislation. There is scope for the 
Council to strengthen its independent oversight and assurance arrangements in relation to 
the SRS and work with SRS partners to explore opportunities for future improvement. 

Summary report 

Summary  5 

Proposals for improvement  7 

Detailed report 

The shared regulatory services (SRS) model is enabling the Council to sustain its  
delivery of environmental health services in a context of reducing resources and  
additional responsibilities placed on it by ongoing changes in legislation. There is scope  
for the Council to strengthen its independent oversight and assurance arrangements in 
relation to the SRS and work with SRS partners to explore opportunities for future 
improvement  9 

Resources available to environmental health services have reduced since  
2014-15, but the Council’s performance has been maintained by collaborating  
with two other councils through the SRS  9 

Whilst the Council and SRS are confident that environmental health obligations  
are being met, neither has explicitly assessed whether this is the case. The  
Council and SRS would benefit from working together to distinguish between 
statutory and non-statutory services to help inform decision making around any 
future budget reductions  13 

Governance and performance management frameworks for the SRS are robust,  
but arrangements for review and challenge of performance information could be 
formalised  14 

There is scope for the Council to improve the level of independent challenge  
and oversight it exercises in relation to environmental health services provided  
to it by the SRS  15 

The Council has consulted key external stakeholders on significant changes to 
environmental health services, but should more carefully consider the impact of 
future changes on residents and businesses and undertake direct consultation 
where appropriate  16 

The Council and the SRS must continue to innovate and transform services in  
order to help mitigate any future funding reductions  17 

Tudalen 49



 

Page 4 of 26 - Delivering with Less – Environmental Health Services – Follow-up Review –Cardiff 
Council 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Auditor General’s recommendations – Delivering with less – the impact  
on environmental health services and citizens, October 2014  19 

Appendix 2 – Council’s progress in addressing the Auditor General’s recommendations  
2 to 5 22 

 

Tudalen 50



Summary report 

Page 5 of 26 - Delivering with Less – Environmental Health Services – Follow-up Review –Cardiff 
Council 

Summary 

What we reviewed and why 
1 In October 2014, the Auditor General published a national report, Delivering with 

less – the impact on environmental health services and citizens (see 
Appendix 1 for the recommendations from that report). Our local review in 2019 
assessed whether there have been any budget and staff changes within the 
Council’s environmental health services and the extent to which it has addressed 
the recommendations included in our 2014 national report. For the purposes of this 
review, we focused on the Council’s progress in addressing recommendations 2, 3, 
4, and 5.  

2 Councils have numerous statutory environmental health duties and citizens highly 
value many of the environmental health services provided. Furthermore, 
environmental health services directly impact upon the health, wellbeing and safety 
of residents and visitors to Wales.  

3 Environmental health services cover a range of issues, such as food safety, pest 
control, dog control, housing and reducing the causes and effects of air pollution.  

4 To inform our findings, we interviewed a selection of officers and members whose 
remit includes Cardiff Council’s (the Council’s) environmental health arrangements. 
We also reviewed relevant documentation.  

5 We undertook the review during the period April 2019 to June 2019.  

Background 
6 Since 1 May 2015, Cardiff Council (the Council), Bridgend County Borough Council 

and the Vale of Glamorgan County Borough Council have been operating a joint 
service known as the shared regulatory service (SRS). The SRS provides 
environmental heath, licensing and trading standards services. The Council 
continues to provide other services outside the SRS, as listed in paragraph 11.  

7 The SRS has a single management team working across the three councils. It 
operates under a joint agreement between the participating councils. It is governed 
by a Management Board (officer-led) and a Joint Committee consisting of six 
elected members, two from each council.  

8 The SRS provides core services (functions common to all councils) and specific 
services which are unique to each council. Core services are jointly funded, and 
the contribution of each council is based on their population.  

9 The SRS was established to make more effective use of the councils’ resources 
and to enable the three councils to continue to deliver high-quality services whilst 
reducing costs.  

Tudalen 51

http://www.audit.wales/publication/delivering-less-%E2%80%93-impact-environmental-health-services-and-citizens
http://www.audit.wales/publication/delivering-less-%E2%80%93-impact-environmental-health-services-and-citizens


 

Page 6 of 26 - Delivering with Less – Environmental Health Services – Follow-up Review –Cardiff 
Council 

10 This report provides an assessment of the Council’s environmental health service 
performance including services delivered directly by the Council (dog kennelling, 
pest control and environmental enforcement) as well as those delivered jointly 
through SRS.  

11 Exhibit 1 below sets out the services which were in scope of our review. 

Exhibit 1: services in the scope of our review 

Services provided by the SRS  Services provided by the Council 
Pollution Control 
Food safety 
Health and Safety 
Infectious diseases 
Private sector housing 
Port health function 
Burial/cremation of persons deceased at 
public expense 
Licensing 
Night time noise 

Dog control and kennelling 
Pest control 
Environmental enforcement  

What we found 
12 Our review sought to answer the question: Is the Council’s environmental health 

service continuing to deliver its statutory obligations given the financial challenges? 

13 Overall, we found that the SRS model is enabling the Council to sustain its delivery 
of environmental health services in a context of reducing resources and additional 
responsibilities placed on it by ongoing changes in legislation. There is scope for 
the Council to strengthen its independent oversight and assurance arrangements 
in relation to the SRS and work with SRS partners to explore opportunities for 
future improvement. We reached this conclusion because: 

• resources available to environmental health services have reduced since 
2014-15, but the Council’s performance has been maintained by 
collaborating with two other councils through the SRS. 

• whilst the Council and SRS are confident that environmental health 
obligations are being met, neither has explicitly assessed whether this is the 
case. The Council and SRS would benefit from working together to 
distinguish between statutory and non-statutory services to help inform 
decision making around any future budget reductions. 

• governance and performance management frameworks for the SRS are 
robust, but arrangements for review and challenge of performance 
information could be formalised. 

Tudalen 52



 

Page 7 of 26 - Delivering with Less – Environmental Health Services – Follow-up Review –Cardiff 
Council 

• there is scope for the Council to improve the level of independent challenge 
and oversight it exercises in relation to environmental health services 
provided to it by the SRS. 

• the Council has consulted key external stakeholders on significant changes 
to environmental health services, but should more carefully consider the 
impact of future changes on residents and businesses and undertake direct 
consultation where appropriate. 

• the Council and the SRS must continue to innovate and transform services 
in order to help mitigate any future funding reductions. 

Proposals for improvement 

Exhibit 2: Proposals for improvement 

The table below sets out the proposals for improvement that we have identified following 
this review. Please note that the proposals for improvement apply to both services 
provided by the SRS and by the Council, unless stated otherwise. 

Proposals for improvement 

P1 The Council should subject any future changes to environmental health services 
to a more rigorous analysis of costs, benefits and impacts.  

 We found some evidence of cost/benefit/impact analysis being performed to 
enable decision-making around savings and changes to services.  

 However, whilst some consideration was given to the impact of staffing 
restructuring over the period between 2018-2021, officers and members 
acknowledged that the real impact of this will be largely unknown until £498,000 
of savings begin to take effect.  

P2 The Council should investigate further possibilities for commercialisation and 
income generation for environmental health services in order to provide 
additional financial capacity if funding reduces in the future.  

P3 When considering how environmental health services may need to change in 
the future, the Council should ensure that the distinction between statutory and 
non-statutory services is clearly documented and understood by decision-
makers. This will help to ensure that statutory responsibilities and powers are 
weighed and prioritised appropriately alongside discretionary services.  

P4 The Council should introduce greater independent challenge of the level and 
quality of services provided by the SRS under the Joint Working Agreement.  

P5 The Council should work with SRS to undertake a review of business continuity 
and succession planning arrangements in relation to the SRS to mitigate the risk 
of overreliance on key individuals, such as the Head of SRS and operational 
managers. 

Tudalen 53



 

Page 8 of 26 - Delivering with Less – Environmental Health Services – Follow-up Review –Cardiff 
Council 

Proposals for improvement 

P6 The Council should strengthen elected member oversight of its environmental 
health services, for example, through more regular scrutiny of services provided 
by third parties including the SRS. 

P7 The Council should consider introducing more structured and targeted 
development and training opportunities for relevant members, which may be 
beneficial in the event of changes in personnel and in areas experiencing 
changes in environmental health legislation, eg air pollution/food safety/ 
infectious diseases. 

P8 The Council should more clearly link any future decisions on changes to service 
levels to an assessment of impact on relevant stakeholders, including service 
users and residents. Whether consultation is necessary, and the most 
appropriate means of consulting should be decided on a case-by-case basis. 
However, where changes are likely to impact service users, businesses and 
local residents, they should be aware of and consulted on these decisions. 

P9 The Council needs to build on initiatives, such as the Noise app, to ensure that 
future funding reductions can be mitigated by innovation and transformation in 
service delivery and that environmental health services are able to benefit from 
new technologies. 

Tudalen 54



Detailed report 

Page 9 of 26 - Delivering with Less – Environmental Health Services – Follow-up Review –Cardiff 
Council 

The shared regulatory services (SRS) model is 
enabling the Council to sustain its delivery of 
environmental health services in a context of 
reducing resources and additional responsibilities 
placed on it by ongoing changes in legislation. 
There is scope for the Council to strengthen its 
independent oversight and assurance 
arrangements in relation to the SRS and work 
with SRS partners to explore opportunities for 
future improvement 

Resources available to environmental health services have 
reduced since 2014-15, but the Council’s performance has 
been maintained by collaborating with two other councils 
through the SRS 
14 The delivery of environmental health services through the SRS provides flexibility 

and resilience. Whilst resources have reduced, the SRS has been able to shift 
resources as priorities change and issues arise. Through the SRS, the Council has 
been able to continue to deliver some non-statutory environmental health services, 
such as food hygiene events to support local businesses.  

15 The cost of providing the services has reduced from £3.378 million in 2011-12 to 
£2.735 million in 2018-19 (revenue outturn, combined Cardiff and Cardiff SRS 
services), as illustrated in Exhibit 3, representing a reduction of 19%.  

  

Tudalen 55



 

Page 10 of 26 - Delivering with Less – Environmental Health Services – Follow-up Review –Cardiff 
Council 

Exhibit 3 – The Net Cost of Environmental Health Services, Cardiff and SRS Combined – 
Revenue Budget compared to Outturn from 2011-12 to 2019-20  

(This includes services that were retained by the Council as well as the cost of Cardiff 
SRS services, core and authority specific.) 

 
 

Source: Wales Audit Office Delivering with Less - Review of Environmental Health 
Services 2015, Cardiff City Council and SRS. 

 
16 The SRS provides the majority of the Council’s environmental health services, 

except for dog control, pest control and littering and fly-tipping enforcement. Exhibit 
4 below illustrates the cost of the SRS for all three councils, showing a trend in 
reduction in overall costs since the creation of SRS. As the SRS began on 1 May 
2015, costs for 2015-16 only reflect 11 months of the year. 

  

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

11-12 12-13 13-14 14-15 15-16 16-17 17-18 18-19 19-20

Revenue Budget Actual Revenue Outturn

£m

Tudalen 56



 

Page 11 of 26 - Delivering with Less – Environmental Health Services – Follow-up Review –Cardiff 
Council 

Exhibit 4: Total Cost of SRS, for all three councils combined (including core and authority 
specific services)  

 
Source: Cardiff City Council and SRS. 

 
17 The creation of SRS delivered an immediate and significant saving in comparison 

to the total of the previous service budgets for the participating organisations. The 
SRS has agreed to deliver 5% budget reductions on an annual basis from 2018-19 
to 2020-21. This represents a core budget reduction of £830,000 (of which 
£476,000 relates to Cardiff’s contribution). These figures include all SRS services, 
including those outside the scope of this review, such as trading standards. 

18 When the SRS was established, administrative costs and overheads, such as 
building costs remained with the individual councils. These overheads are not 
included within the financial information for the SRS (Exhibit 4) but are included 
within Exhibit 3.  

19 The SRS achieved an underspend of £496,000 in 2018-19, of which it could retain 
£200,000. This was achieved due to staff vacancies and restructuring of the 
service during 2018. The Joint Committee has agreed that this underspend can be 
retained by the SRS to invest in initiatives to address the current vacancies, rather 
than being returned to participating councils. This demonstrates that the three 
councils value the role of the SRS. The remaining underspend will be returned to 
the councils based on the agreed funding formula. 

20 The 2018-19 provisional outturn position for the SRS is illustrated in Exhibit 5 
below. 

  

4.8

5.0

5.2

5.4

5.6

5.8

6.0

6.2

6.4

15-16 16-17 17-18 18-19 19-20

Total Revenue Budget Total Revenue Outturn

£m

Tudalen 57



 

Page 12 of 26 - Delivering with Less – Environmental Health Services – Follow-up Review –Cardiff 
Council 

Exhibit 5: 2018-19 provisional outturn position for the SRS 

Council Gross budget 
£000 

Outturn 
£000 

Variance 
£000 

Cardiff 4,978 4,789 189 
Bridgend 1,774 1,602 172 
Vale 1,752 1,617 135 

Total 8,504 8,008 496 

Source: Joint Committee papers 11 June 2019. These figures are for all services 
provided by SRS and includes services outside the scope of this review, such as Trading 
Standards. 

 
21 Staff numbers have reduced from 2014 to 2019. In 2014, the three councils 

together employed 151.15 Full Time Equivalents (FTEs) compared to 143.92 FTEs 
employed by the SRS and councils combined in 2019. There is a significant 
reduction in the number of management posts, as the number of qualified officers 
and technicians has increased. This is illustrated in Exhibit 6 below. 

22 The percentage decrease in budget savings is comparatively higher than the 
percentage decrease in staff numbers. Through undertaking a detailed review of 
proposed staff cuts the SRS has been able to maintain its service provision whilst 
significantly reducing costs.  

Exhibit 6: Staff numbers (FTEs) employed by the SRS and the three councils combined 
(Cardiff, Vale of Glamorgan and Bridgend), 2014 compared to 2019  

 
Source: 2014 figures – Wales Audit Office Delivering with Less - Review of 
Environmental Health Services. 2019 figures – Cardiff City Council and the SRS. 

  

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

Manager

Qual EHO

Technician

Administrator

Trainee (paid)

Trainee (unpaid)

Number of staff 2014 Number of staff 2019

Tudalen 58



 

Page 13 of 26 - Delivering with Less – Environmental Health Services – Follow-up Review –Cardiff 
Council 

23 We found some evidence of cost benefit impact analysis being undertaken to 
enable decision-making in relation to these budget reductions. However, whilst 
some consideration was given to the impact of staffing restructuring over the period 
between 2018-2021, it was also acknowledged amongst officers and members that 
the real impact of this on services and therefore local residents and businesses will 
be largely unknown until the £498,000 savings removed from the budget in 2019-
20 begin to impact. Any future service changes should be subject to a transparent 
and thorough analysis of costs, benefits and impacts in order to anticipate and 
manage the risks arising. 

24 The Council can demonstrate stable or improving performance over time on the 
majority of its performance indicators, despite the reduction in resources. 

25 The SRS reports to the Joint Committee on ten indicators relating specifically to the 
Council’s services, excluding trading standards. Of these ten in 2018-19, eight 
achieved their target, of those eight achieving their target one demonstrated an 
improvement in performance and two a deterioration. 

Whilst the Council and SRS are confident that environmental 
health obligations are being met, neither has explicitly assessed 
whether this is the case. The Council and SRS would benefit 
from working together to distinguish between statutory and non-
statutory services to help inform decision making around any 
future budget reductions 
26 The SRS Joint Working Agreement commits the SRS to providing legally 

mandated statutory requirements as well as discretionary non-statutory services. 
The Joint Working Agreement sets out the activities to be undertaken for each 
service area but does not identify those which are statutory.  

27 The officers interviewed were generally able to articulate statutory and non-
statutory service requirements in relation to their areas of responsibility within 
environmental health services.  

28 From its own perspective, the Council has not explicitly assessed whether it or the 
SRS is meeting its statutory environmental health duties.  

29 We note that, in certain instances, the Council has elected to continue provision of 
non-statutory services in order to meet wider public health objectives, for example, 
the pest control service provided by the Council.  

30 It is acknowledged amongst officers and members interviewed that the Council 
may not be able to maintain the same range of non-statutory service provision in 
the future when faced with further financial pressures.  

Tudalen 59



 

Page 14 of 26 - Delivering with Less – Environmental Health Services – Follow-up Review –Cardiff 
Council 

31 Neither the SRS nor the Council has assessed whether the Best Practice 
Standards1 are being met, although local performance targets have been set.  

32 The Council adopts an outcomes-based approach to service delivery and has 
elected to maintain priority non-statutory services to assist in delivering wider 
corporate and public health objectives, such as pest control provided by SRS.  

33 However, we note that the Council has not undertaken a review to assess the 
extent to which it is meeting statutory environmental health obligations, and neither 
the Joint Working agreement nor the SRS performance reports distinguish 
between statutory and discretionary services.  

34 Clearly defining statutory services, as well as the baseline/upper acceptable 
standards of performance, would support the Council to adopt a risk-based 
approach to decision-making around any future changes to services, balancing 
statutory requirements against strategic priorities relating to non-statutory services.  

Governance and performance management frameworks are 
robust, but arrangements for review and challenge of 
performance information could be formalised  
35 Overall, there is a robust quarterly performance monitoring and management 

system in place for the SRS, with scrutiny and challenge provided through the 
Management Board, Joint Committee and the Environmental Scrutiny Committee.  

36 The SRS Business Plan sets out the vision and priorities for the service, how these 
contribute to the seven wellbeing goals and each council’s corporate priorities and 
outcomes.  

37 SRS environmental health objectives are aligned to the Council’s overall strategic 
objectives. Officers interviewed could articulate how the environmental health 
service contributes to achieving these. Officers and members interviewed 
represented that to date there have been no instances of conflicting interests 
between the Council and the SRS or with participating council members.  

38 The Joint Committee has delegated authority for decisions relating to the SRS and 
monitors the performance of the SRS, avoiding duplication whilst enabling political 
representation and transparency.  

39 The Management Board and the Joint Committee receive quarterly and annual 
performance reports, which is a requirement under the Joint Working Agreement. 
Performance reports are predominantly Key Performance Indicator (KPI) based, 

 
1 Chartered Institute of Environmental Health Wales and all-Wales Heads of 
Environmental Health Group, best practice standards. The standards are subject to 
regular review and update to take account of changes in statutory guidance; the impact of 
new legislation or case law; and to reflect new ways of delivering services. The standards 
define activity in each of the service areas and set out the characteristics that constitute: 
a minimum standard service; a good standard of service; and best practice in each of the 
areas. 

Tudalen 60



 

Page 15 of 26 - Delivering with Less – Environmental Health Services – Follow-up Review –Cardiff 
Council 

supplemented by qualitative information, such as public complaints or client 
surveys. The performance reports cover individual Council performance, as well as 
SRS as a whole, and provide trend analysis for up to four preceding years. We 
consider the reports to be comprehensive and the breadth and coverage of data 
sufficient to enable informed internal decision-making.  

40 Management information is used to provide a holistic view of the level and quality 
of service provision. Where possible, performance against internal targets is also 
compared against a set of national benchmarks.  

41 The SRS has been able to maintain or improve performance in most areas. Where 
performance is shown to have deteriorated, the reasons behind this and corrective 
action are clearly stated.  

42 Outside of the quarterly performance review cycle, monthly meetings take place 
between the Head of SRS, Operational Managers and individual Council officers 
and members. Specific operational and performance issues are often discussed 
informally at these meetings.  

43 The Council also has corporate performance management arrangements, and this 
includes relevant Public Accountability Metrics. We were able to confirm that the 
performance indicators reported within the SRS Annual Report were consistent 
with those reported and held on the Council’s corporate information system (CIS).  

44 For those services provided by the Council, not SRS, such as pest and dog control, 
performance is monitored by the head of service and reported to the Director. Any 
key performance issues are addressed through the corporate performance 
framework. We did not identify any performance issues relating to these services 
during our review. 

45 Officers and members feel that the arrangements described above are effective. 
However, we note that current arrangements for review and challenge of 
performance information are relatively informal and rely on positive working 
relationships between SRS and Council officers and members. Whilst this 
approach works well at the moment, there is a risk that it might not be resilient in 
the event of unforeseen circumstances, such as a significant service failure or a 
change in the key personnel involved.  

There is scope for the Council to improve the level of 
independent challenge and oversight it exercises in relation to 
environmental health services provided to it by the SRS  
46 Environmental health issues relating to the SRS and directly provided services are 

scrutinised by the Council’s Environmental Scrutiny Committee. This committee 
meets 11 times per year and considers the SRS Annual Report and Business Plan 
as well as specific task and finish issues, such as air quality and pest control. 
Minutes show that recommendations were made as a result of these reviews. The 
Head of SRS and Operational Managers attend these meetings as required.  

Tudalen 61



 

Page 16 of 26 - Delivering with Less – Environmental Health Services – Follow-up Review –Cardiff 
Council 

47 The Community and Adult Services Scrutiny Committee considers environmental 
health matters relating to housing. 

48 The documentation provided to members is comprehensive and enables them to 
assess the performance of SRS against the Business Plan and understand the 
challenges it faces going forward. 

49 The Council has an induction programme for new members and mandatory training 
for those members involved in the licensing committee. Officer support will also be 
provided through pre-meetings. Short 15-minute pre-meetings are held where 
members are able to ask questions. The Council should consider introducing more 
structured and targeted development and training for relevant members, as this 
may be beneficial to get new members familiar with the service and areas 
experiencing changes in legislation, eg pollution/food safety/infectious diseases. 

50 The Head of the SRS has separate monthly meetings with the Cabinet Member 
and Licensing Committee Chair in their role as Joint Committee members. Ad hoc 
meetings and support will be provided should individual members request this. 
Councillors and members interviewed felt this was a positive, two-way relationship. 

51 Scrutiny chairs and committee members interviewed feel that the ad hoc support 
provided by the Head of SRS and Operational Managers is sufficient to enable 
them to effectively discharge their duties.  

52 Scrutiny of SRS performance information is currently performed by individuals 
heavily involved in the service and in preparation of the performance information 
itself, creating a separation of duty/self-interest risk. It is, therefore, recommended 
that the Council introduces more independent review and challenge of SRS 
performance against agreed service standards as should be the case for any third-
party provider of services on behalf of the Council. 

53 Internal audit is a further source of independent assurance to the member councils. 
A review of the SRS Governance and Financial Controls was undertaken by the 
Bridgend and Vale of Glamorgan Shared Internal Audit Service in 2019-20, dated 
June 2019. The review provided substantial assurance. 

The Council has consulted key external stakeholders on 
significant changes to environmental health services, but should 
more carefully consider the impact of future changes on 
residents and businesses and undertake direct consultation 
where appropriate  
54 In our 2014 national report on environmental health services report, we 

recommended that councils improve engagement with local residents over planned 
budget cuts and changes in services (see Appendix 1). In order to make an 
informed decision, officers and members need to understand the impact of any 
changes on all stakeholders. For environmental health services a range of 

Tudalen 62



 

Page 17 of 26 - Delivering with Less – Environmental Health Services – Follow-up Review –Cardiff 
Council 

stakeholders could be affected, both external, such as businesses, local residents 
and other agencies and internal, staff and trade unions. 

55 The Council undertook extensive consultation in 2013-14 prior to the SRS being 
established. This included staff, trade unions, elected members and other 
stakeholders, such as the Food Standards Agency. An equality impact assessment 
was also undertaken. Similarly, staff and trade unions were consulted about the 
staff reductions in the SRS in 2018. 

56 In 2019-20, the Council increased its fixed penalty charges for littering from £80 to 
£100. Prior to implementing this specific increase, the Council consulted members 
of the public through its annual budget consultation process.  

57 With the above exception, given that the Council has broadly provided the same 
range of environmental health services since 2015, it has not done any public 
consultation relating to environmental health services since the inception of SRS.  

58 We acknowledge that the SRS has chosen not to undertake public consultation for 
administrative changes where frontline delivery of services is not expected to be 
affected.  

59 The SRS has established its own brand and website and provides a wide range of 
information on services. The website enables residents to access services, report 
food hygiene issues as well as key documents such as the SRS business plan. 
However, it does not currently invite comments and feedback from the public or 
businesses.  

60 The SRS makes active use of social media to inform a wide range of stakeholders 
and on a monthly basis reviews any information and feedback received in 
response through social media channels. This feedback is considered in 
operational management discussions.  

61 As resources become more constrained, the Council may have to make decisions 
on how environmental health services will be delivered which may impact 
residents. Local residents should be aware of and consulted on these decisions.  

The Council and the SRS must continue to innovate and 
transform services in order to help mitigate any future funding 
reductions  
62 Due to the initial budget reductions achieved through the inception of the SRS, as 

well as ongoing staffing cuts, the Council is yet to explore further possibilities of 
commercialisation through the environmental health services, beyond some 
income generation activity in pest control.  

63 For example, other authorities have outsourced contracts, looked to introduce 
means-based charges for non-statutory services or set up trading companies to 
make use of council assets and generate revenue. This is something that it may be 
helpful to consider in the near future, as resources become more stretched.  

Tudalen 63



 

Page 18 of 26 - Delivering with Less – Environmental Health Services – Follow-up Review –Cardiff 
Council 

64 The continued need to make savings means that the SRS needs to continue to 
look for innovative and new ways of providing services and consider the future 
shape of services. 

65 Potential areas for future innovation and opportunities to increase income could 
include:  
• new commercial and collaborative delivery models for services or for SRS as 

a whole; 

• use of data to predict service need and target responses rather than 
maintain universal service provision; and 

• further strategic support and integration with the councils’ wider service 
agendas including public health, community safety, health and social care, 
planning and economic growth.  

66 The SRS has begun to look at digital initiatives and is trialling a Noise app to report 
issues. However, this work is at an early stage and is not yet having a material 
impact on service costs or quality.  

 

Tudalen 64



Appendix 1 

Page 19 of 26 - Delivering with Less – Environmental Health Services – Follow-up Review –Cardiff 
Council 

Auditor General’s recommendations – Delivering 
with less – the impact on environmental health 
services and citizens, October 2014 
As part of his ‘delivering with less’ series of Local Government Improvement Studies, 
the Auditor General published his report – Delivering with less – the impact on 
environmental health services and citizens, in October 2014. The report contained 
six recommendations that are set out below: 

Exhibit 7: Auditor General’s recommendations 

Recommendation Responsible Partners 
R1  Revise the best practice standards 

to: 
• align the work of environmental 

health with national strategic 
priorities;  

• identify the wider contribution of 
environmental health in delivering 
the strategic priorities of the 
Welsh Government; and 

• identify the benefit and impact of 
environmental health services on 
protecting citizens.  

Councils, Chartered Institute of 
Environmental Health Cymru 

R2  Provide scrutiny chairs and members 
with the necessary skills and support 
to effectively scrutinise and 
challenge service performance, 
savings plans and the impact of 
budget reductions.  

Councils, Welsh Local Government 
Association 

R3  Improve engagement with local 
residents over planned budget cuts 
and changes in services by: 
• consulting with residents on 

planned changes in services; 
• using the findings to shape 

decisions; 
• outlining which services are to be 

cut and how these cuts will 
impact on residents; and 

• setting out plans for increasing 
charges or changing standards of 
service.  

Councils, Welsh Local Government 
Association 

Tudalen 65



 

Page 20 of 26 - Delivering with Less – Environmental Health Services – Follow-up Review –Cardiff 
Council 

Recommendation Responsible Partners 
R4  Improve efficiency and value for 

money by: 
• identifying the statutory and non-

statutory duties of council 
environmental health services; 

• agreeing environmental health 
priorities for the future and the 
role of councils in delivering 
these; 

• determining an ‘acceptable 
standard of performance’ for 
environmental health services 
(upper and lower) and publicise 
these to citizens; 

• improving efficiency and 
maintaining performance to the 
agreed level through: 
‒ collaborating and/or 

integrating with others to 
reduce cost and/or improve 
quality; 

‒ outsourcing where services 
can be delivered more cost 
effectively to agreed 
standards; 

‒ introducing and/or increasing 
charges and focusing on 
income-generation activity; 

‒ using grants strategically to 
maximise impact and return; 
and 

‒ reducing activities to focus on 
core statutory and strategic 
priorities.  

Councils, Welsh Local Government 
Association, Welsh Government 

Tudalen 66



 

Page 21 of 26 - Delivering with Less – Environmental Health Services – Follow-up Review –Cardiff 
Council 

Recommendation Responsible Partners 
R5  Improve strategic planning by: 

• identifying, collecting and 
analysing financial, performance 
and demand/need data on 
environmental health services; 

• analysing collected data to inform 
and understand the relationship 
between ‘cost: benefit: impact’ 
and use this intelligence to 
underpin decisions on the future 
of council environmental health 
services; and 

• agree how digital information can 
be used to plan and develop 
environmental health services in 
the future.  

Councils 

R6  Clearly set out the expectations of 
council environmental health 
services under new housing and 
health legislation and agree how 
these new duties will be delivered.  

Welsh Government 
Welsh Local Government Association 

 

Tudalen 67



Appendix 2 

Page 22 of 26 - Delivering with Less – Environmental Health Services – Follow-up Review –Cardiff 
Council 

Council’s progress in addressing the Auditor 
General’s recommendations 2 to 5 
A summary of the Council’s progress in addressing the Auditor General’s 
recommendations 2 to 5 in Delivering with less: The impact on environmental health 
services and citizens (October 2014).  

Exhibit 2: Council’s progress in addressing the Auditor General’s recommendations 

Recommendation Council’s progress in addressing 
recommendation 

R2  Provide scrutiny chairs and members 
with the necessary skills and support 
to effectively scrutinise and 
challenge service performance, 
savings plans and the impact of 
budget reductions.  

The Council has an induction programme 
for new members and mandatory training 
for those members involved in the 
licensing committee. Officer support will 
also be provided through pre-meetings, a 
short 15-minute meeting held where 
members are able to ask questions.  
Other than licensing it does not have a 
tailored training programme for 
environmental health. The Head of the 
SRS has monthly meetings with the 
scrutiny chair and cabinet lead. Ad hoc 
meetings and support will be provided 
should individual members request this.  
Although no concerns were raised during 
our meetings, we consider that members 
would benefit from the introduction of a 
more structured development/training 
programme.  

Tudalen 68



 

Page 23 of 26 - Delivering with Less – Environmental Health Services – Follow-up Review –Cardiff 
Council 

Recommendation Council’s progress in addressing 
recommendation 

R3  Improve engagement with local 
residents over planned budget cuts 
and changes in services by: 
• consulting with residents on 

planned changes in services and 
• using the findings to shape 

decisions; 
• outlining which services are to be 

cut and how these cuts will 
impact on residents; and 

• setting out plans for increasing 
charges or changing standards of 
service.  

The Council undertook extensive 
consultation in 2013-14 prior to the SRS 
being established. This included staff, 
trade unions, elected members and other 
stakeholders such as the Food Standards 
Agency. An equality impact assessment 
was also undertaken.  
Further changes and budget reductions to 
the SRS have taken place in 2018-19 and 
2019-20, which included reduction in staff 
numbers.  
Consultation has been undertaken and 
included staff and the trade unions. 
However, the consultation processes for 
both these changes did not include local 
residents and service users.  
The Council has consulted on the 
increase in fixed penalty notices for 
littering.  
We acknowledge that the SRS has 
chosen not to undertake public 
consultation where frontline delivery of 
services is not expected to be affected but 
would recommend that the likely impact 
on the full range of stakeholders should 
be considered and documented. We 
recognise that it may not be appropriate to 
consult residents and service users for all 
changes, but that the rationale for this 
decision should be documented and the 
likely impact considered. 

Tudalen 69



 

Page 24 of 26 - Delivering with Less – Environmental Health Services – Follow-up Review –Cardiff 
Council 

Recommendation Council’s progress in addressing 
recommendation 

R4  Improve efficiency and value for 
money by: 
• identifying the statutory and non-

statutory duties of council 
environmental health services; 

• agreeing environmental health 
priorities for the future and the 
role of councils in delivering 
these; 

• determining an ‘acceptable 
standard of performance’ for 
environmental health services 
(upper and lower) and publicise 
these to citizens; 

• improving efficiency and 
maintaining performance to the 
agreed level through: 
‒ collaborating and/or 

integrating with others to 
reduce cost and/or improve 
quality; 

‒ outsourcing where services 
can be delivered more cost 
effectively to agreed 
standards; 

‒ introducing and/or increasing 
charges and focusing on 
income-generation activity; 

‒ using grants strategically to 
maximise impact and return; 
and 

‒ reducing activities to focus on 
core statutory and strategic 
priorities.  

The Council has improved efficiency and 
value for money. It has maintained 
performance through collaboration with 
others and the introduction of the SRS.  
Through working in partnership with the 
Vale of Glamorgan and Bridgend Councils 
it can deliver its services in a more flexible 
and sustainable way and has not had to 
restrict its service provision, although it 
does look to deliver things in new and 
innovative ways.  
The SRS provides legally mandated 
statutory requirements as well as optional 
non-statutory services. The Joint Working 
Agreement sets out the functions for each 
service area and lists the tasks but does 
not identify those which are statutory.  
When considering how environmental 
health services may need to change in the 
future, the Council should ensure that the 
distinction between statutory and non-
statutory services is clearly documented 
and understood by decision-makers. This 
will help to ensure that statutory 
responsibilities and powers are weighed 
and prioritised appropriately alongside 
discretionary services.  
 

Tudalen 70



 

Page 25 of 26 - Delivering with Less – Environmental Health Services – Follow-up Review –Cardiff 
Council 

Recommendation Council’s progress in addressing 
recommendation 

R5  Improve strategic planning by: 
• identifying, collecting and 

analysing financial, performance 
and demand/need data on 
environmental health services; 

• analysing collected data to inform 
and understand the relationship 
between ‘cost: benefit: impact’ 
and use this intelligence to 
underpin decisions on the future 
of council environmental health 
services; and 

• agree how digital information can 
be used to plan and develop 
environmental health services in 
the future.  

The SRS Business Plan sets out the 
vision and priorities for the service, how 
these contribute to the seven well-being 
goals and each council's corporate 
priorities and outcomes. The SRS work 
collaboratively with the services provided 
by each individual council outside of the 
Joint Working Arrangement, eg Cardiff’s 
pest control service.  
Environmental health objectives are 
aligned to the Council's overall strategic 
objectives and officers interviewed could 
articulate how environmental health 
services contribute to achieving these. 
Financial and performance data is 
reviewed on a quarterly basis and we 
have observed evidence of appropriate 
scrutiny and challenge. Some digital 
initiatives are being trialled to improve 
future delivery of services.  
We found some evidence of cost-benefit-
impact analysis being undertaken to 
enable decision-making in relation to 
these budget reductions. However, whilst 
some consideration was given to the 
impact of staffing restructuring over the 
period between 2018-2021, it was also 
acknowledged amongst officers and 
members that the real impact of this on 
services and therefore local residents and 
businesses will be largely unknown until 
the £498,000 savings removed from the 
budget in 2019-20 begin to impact. Any 
future service changes should be subject 
to a transparent and thorough cost, 
benefit and impact analysis in order to 
anticipate and manage the risks arising. 
The SRS uses social media to engage 
with stakeholders, but the use of digital 
information to plan and develop 
environmental services in the future is 
limited. 

 

Tudalen 71



 

 

Wales Audit Office 
24 Cathedral Road 
Cardiff CF11 9LJ 

Tel: 029 2032 0500 
Fax: 029 2032 0600 

Textphone: 029 2032 0660 

E-mail: info@audit. wales 
Website: www. audit. wales 

Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru 
24 Heol y Gadeirlan 
Caerdydd CF11 9LJ 

Ffôn: 029 2032 0500 
Ffacs: 029 2032 0600 

Ffôn testun: 029 2032 0660 

E-bost: post@archwilio. cymru 
Gwefan: www. archwilio. cymru 

 

Tudalen 72

mailto:info@audit.wales
http://www.audit.wales/
mailto:post@archwilio.cymru
http://www.archwilio.cymru/


WAO Delivering with Less - Environmental Health Services – Follow Up Audit 

Cardiff Action Plan 

Ref Proposals for Improvement Action/Completion Date 
P1 The Council should subject any future changes to environmental 

health services to a more rigorous analysis of costs, benefits 
and impacts. We found some evidence of cost/benefit/impact 
analysis being performed to enable decision-making around 
savings and changes to services. Whilst some consideration 
was given to the impact of staffing restructuring over the period 
between 2018-2021, members and officers acknowledged that 
the real impact of this will be largely unknown until £498k of 
savings begin to take effect.  

This proposal for improvement comments upon the delivery of 
SRS savings across the three Councils only and not budget 
reductions from the other services within Cardiff.  

Future SRS changes/savings will undergo rigorous analysis 
across the three Councils. That process will begin again in May 
2020, as the SRS sets out its next three year financial programme 
covering 2021 to 2024. Proposals will be considered by the SRS 
Management Board, Elected Members, through the review 
mechanisms at each Council, the Trade Unions and SRS officers.  

Changes to the other Environmental Health services delivered by 
the Council will also be assessed through the established Council 
mechanisms and that process will pay heed to the requirements 
of this proposal.  

Both processes will also take into account the recommendation 
presented in Proposal 8.  

P2 The Council should investigate further possibilities for 
commercialisation and income generation for environmental 
health services in order to provide additional financial capacity if 
funding reduces in the future.  

The SRS will as part of the budgeting process for 2021/24 
undertake a full assessment of existing income streams and 
determine what additional income might be generated without 
impacting upon service delivery to local people.  

Income generation on Environmental Health functions is an 
important part of the SRS model. SRS has generated new, and 
increasing, income arising through training and the operation of 
the Primary Authority scheme. However, Income Generation has 
limitations, while it will provide some respite if funding for service 

APPENDIX 3

T
udalen 73



 

 

delivery reduces in the future, it is not a complete panacea for the 
challenges facing service delivery in the future.   
 
 

P3 When considering how environmental health services may need 
to change in the future, the Council should ensure that the 
distinction between statutory and non-statutory services is 
clearly documented and understood by decision-makers. This 
will help to ensure that statutory responsibilities and powers are 
weighed and prioritised appropriately alongside discretionary 
services.  
 

Understanding the distinction between statutory and non-statutory 
services will provide elected members with some insight into 
which service are legally mandated. However, to date, the SRS 
business plans are geared toward outcomes; achieving those 
outcomes involves using all the tools available. This includes 
statutes that bestow powers upon the Council, but not duties. 
When the Joint Working Arrangement was created, it defined 
services in terms of ensuring public health, helping customers to 
access information and knowledge and securing a safe, healthy, 
fair, environment. From the outset, the Councils agreed that this 
required the use of both statutory and non-statutory legislation to 
achieve service and corporate goals.  
 
Going forward the SRS will incorporate into the Business Plans an 
indication of the “status” of the services being delivered and a 
rationale for the prioritisation of those activities.  
 
Additionally, when the actions identified in Proposal 1 above are 
undertaken, officers will ensure that decision makers are apprised 
of the nature of the service being delivered.  
 
 

P4 The Council should introduce greater challenge of the level and 
quality of environmental health services provided by third 
parties, including the SRS under the Joint Working Agreement.  
 

We will continue to build on our existing mechanisms to further 
strengthen scrutiny and accountability of environmental health 
services and those provided by third parties. We intend to: 
 
 Ensure that the following Scrutiny Committees have oversight 

and input into the SRS Business Plan and Work programme: 
 

o Environment 
o Economy & Culture and  

T
udalen 74



 

 

o Community and Adult Social Services  
 

 Develop the initial discussions held with our counterparts in 
the Vale of Glamorgan and Bridgend to explore the 
establishment of a more collaborative approach to the scrutiny 
of the SRS.  This will include: 

 
o Exploring options for the use of Performance Panel(s) 

which may enable us to scrutinise performance in greater 
detail and add greater value.  

o Establishing a mechanism for enabling the Scrutiny 
Committees to consider reports presented to the SRS 
Joint Committee including the Business Plan, and 
performance reporting to identify any key 
issues/challenges that could be reviewed/scrutinised in 
greater detail and form part of the scrutiny’s work 
programme.  

 
 Enhance the mechanisms whereby: 

 
o The recommendations of the 3 authorities be collated and 

fed back to the SRS Joint Committee. 
o The SRS Joint Committee can refer items to the relevant 

Scrutiny Committee of each authority for their 
consideration (as appropriate). 

 
P5 The Council should work with SRS to undertake a review of 

business continuity and succession planning arrangements in 
relation to the SRS to mitigate the risk of overreliance on key 
individuals, such as the Head of SRS and operational 
managers.  
 

In 2020, the SRS will produce a four year review of the service to 
supplement the Annual reports. That review will examine trends in 
service delivery and service demand since inception in 2015. It 
will also look forward to the likely delivery mechanisms for the 
next three years, in line with the budget proposals. An 
examination of the robustness of the operating model and 
succession planning arrangements will form part of that review.  
 

T
udalen 75



 

 

P6 The Council should strengthen accountability and elected 
member oversight of its environmental health services, for 
example through more regular scrutiny of services provided by 
third parties, including the SRS.  
 

Actions identified in improvement proposals P4 above and P7 
below will support the achievement of this improvement proposal.   

P7 The Council should consider introducing more structured and 
targeted development and training opportunities for relevant 
members, which may be beneficial in the event of changes in 
personnel and in areas experiencing changes in legislation, e.g. 
air pollution/food safety/infectious diseases.  
 

The Head of Shared Regulatory Services will work closely with 
the Heads of Democratic Services to identify and deliver a 
programme of briefing sessions/e-learning opportunities that 
would benefit members across the footprint of the SRS in relation 
up and coming legislative and policy developments. These 
briefing sessions/workshops will be incorporated as part of the 
Member Development Programme.  
 

P8 The Council should more clearly link any future decisions on 
changes to service levels to an assessment of impact on 
relevant stakeholders, including service users and residents. 
Whether consultation is necessary, and the most appropriate 
means of consulting should be decided on a case-by-case 
basis. However, where changes are likely to impact service 
users, businesses and local residents, they should be aware of 
and consulted on these decisions.  
 

Currently, dialogue with stakeholders in delivered through the 
annual consultation on the SRS Business Plans where the 
programme of activities is articulated and developed through that 
engagement exercise. This process does not currently extend to 
residents and businesses. It is proposed to extend the customer 
satisfaction process to include the opportunity to comment upon 
any proposed changes in service delivery and to engage the 
corporate consultation mechanisms to collect more information to 
form part of the decision making process.  
 

P9 The Council needs to build on initiatives such as the Noise app, 
to ensure that future funding reductions can be mitigated by 
innovation and transformation in service delivery and that 
environmental health services are able to benefit from new 
technologies.  
 

The SRS is undertaking an ICT review in 2020 that will examine 
how technology can be deployed further to improve service 
delivery and where possible make financial savings.  

 

T
udalen 76



1 

Ref: RDB/RP/MM/07.05.2019 

14 May 2019 

Councillor Michael Michael, 
Cabinet Member for Clean Streets, Recycling & Environment, 
County Hall, 
Atlantic Wharf, 
Cardiff CF10 4UW. 

Dear Councillor Michael, 

Environmental Scrutiny Committee – 7th May 2019 

On behalf of the Environmental Scrutiny Committee I would like to thank you 

and the officers for attending the Committee meeting on Tuesday 7th May 

2019 to discuss the items on the ‘Planning, Transport & Environment – 

Directorate Delivery Plan – 2019/20’ and the ‘Draft Shared Regulatory 

Services – Business Plan 2019/20’.   The comments and observations made 

by Members on the areas relevant to your portfolio of responsibility are set out 

in this letter.  

Planning, Transport & Environment – Directorate Delivery Plan – 2019/20 

The Committee asked for a progress update on the delivery of ward based 

action plans.  They were told that these would be delivered within six months, 

however, they would be area based rather than ward based. An officer went 

on to explain that the roll out had been delayed to ensure that the area based 

action plans were developed using accurate information.  I would be grateful if 

you could confirm a start date for the area based action plans, along with 

details on the services involved and geographical boundaries allocated for 

each action plan.  In addition to this the Committee asks that you make the 

roll out of the scheme available for scrutiny before the end of 2019.  

Members asked during this item what could be done to improve the accuracy 

and speed of waste data collected for both commercial and domestic waste 

streams.  An officer explained that it was possible to tell immediately how 

much overall waste was collected, however, waste data flow needed actual 

quantities for specific materials – to make this more complicated, for the 

APPENDIX 4

Tudalen 77



 

 2 

material to count towards recycling figures it had to be supported by a 

processing receipt.  Members then asked if it was possible to provide 

recycling statistics by ward and were told that it was not. This created some 

confusion during the way forward as several Members seemed to think that 

they had been shown ward based recycling rates in the past.  To resolve this 

confusion I would be grateful if you could confirm if it is still possible to provide 

ward based recycling rates, and if it isn’t to provide an explanation as to what 

has changed since ward based recycling rates were published in the past.  

 
A Member commented on the importance of producing local food and then 

asked what the Council was doing to encourage local food production.  An 

officer explained that a Food Strategy was being developed and that it would 

be presented to Cabinet in the summer.  With this in mind it would be 

appreciated if you could ask officers to liaise with Scrutiny Services to arrange 

pre decision scrutiny on Cardiff’s new Food Strategy. 

 
One of the Members asked a question about the large number of missed 

collections that recently took place on a Saturday after the bank holiday in 

North Cardiff. In particular, he referred to the fact that after raising a query on 

the matter it took 12 days for an officer response. He was told that there had 

been issues with vehicle breakdowns, staff availability and sickness, with the 

officer then explaining that an action plan was being developed to prevent 

such an event happening in future.  To help provide the Committee with 

assurance that this will not be repeated I would be grateful if you could 

provide them with a copy of the action plan once it is completed.   

 
Draft Shared Regulatory Services – Business Plan 2019/20 
 
Members were concerned to hear that the service had experienced some 

recent issues around recruitment and retention, particularly for the Food 

Hygiene Service that is in the process of recruiting five new officers to replace 

staff who had left to pursue other employment opportunities. They hope that 

the current recruitment process is successful and that the temporary reduction 

in staff does not have a negative impact on the Food Hygiene Service’s ability 

to carry out all of the necessary visits.  They ask that the Shared Regulatory 

Tudalen 78



 

 3 

Service undertakes a short review to assess what can be done to prevent 

such a sudden loss of staff in future, and that they share any findings and 

future actions from this work with the Committee.  

 
During the meeting officers explained that the Shared Regulatory Service had 

a supply of ‘cold calling zone stickers’ that they could make available to any 

councillors who wanted them to distribute in their wards. The Committee 

thought that this would be very popular with local councillors and have asked 

for a supply to be sent to Cardiff Council’s Member Services. On arrival, 

Member Services could send out a short email explaining that they are 

available to all councillors for collection and distribution.  

 
At the meeting a Member expressed his frustration at the outcome of a recent 

illegal tobacco investigation in his ward in which the Shared Regulatory 

Service had played a major role.  He commented that they had caught the 

shop owner selling illegal tobacco, confiscated the contraband and then fined 

him £2,000.  Despite this, it was obvious that the shop owner had quickly 

restocked and continued with the illegal trade.  The fine and inconvenience 

were merely ‘a part of the business plan’.  The Member felt that the service 

needed to be able to apply more sanctions and pressure, but was told that 

this would not be possible as a dedicated resource would be required.  This is 

something that is not affordable within the constraints of the current Shared 

Regulatory Service budget.  An officer went on to explain that such an 

operation would only work if new powers were introduced in Wales, it was 

properly funded and supported by trading standards professionals.  On this 

basis, the Committee ask that you work with the Shared Regulatory Service to 

lobby Welsh Government for more powers and money to tackle the illegal 

tobacco trade, because without such an investment the problem will persist.         

 
The Committee is concerned that the future of the ‘Out of Hours’ service looks 

uncertain due to financial and other pressures.  Members believe that this is 

an important service, which if lost would make it difficult to tackle a wide range 

of late night anti-social behaviour.  Should a proposal be put forward to close 

the ‘Out of Hours Service’, then I would ask that you inform the Committee 

Tudalen 79



 

 4 

directly before a decision is taken so that scrutiny can be undertaken on the 

matter.    

 
I would be grateful if you would consider the above comments and provide a 

response to the content of this letter. Some of the information in this letter has 

been included in the letters to Councillors Wild, Mackie and Thorne, therefore, 

I am happy to receive a combined response to the relevant parts. 

 

Regards, 

 

Councillor Ramesh Patel 

Chairperson Environmental Scrutiny Committee 

Cc: 
 
 Andrew Gregory - Director of Planning, Transport & Environment  

 Matt Wakelam – Assistant Director, Street Scene 

 Jane Cherrington - Operational Manager, Waste Strategy & Enforcement 

 Dave Holland – Head of the Shared Regulatory Service 

 Christina Hill – Operational Manager, Commercial Services 

 Helen Picton – Operational Manager, Enterprise & Specialist Services 

 Will Lane – Operational Manager, Neighbourhood Services 

 Davina Fiore - Director of Governance & Legal Services 

 Members of Cardiff’s Environmental Scrutiny Committee 

Tudalen 80



1 

Ref: RDB/RP/NM/07.05.2019 

14 May 2019 

Councillor Norma Mackie, 
Chair of Licensing & Public Protection, 
County Hall, 
Atlantic Wharf, 
Cardiff CF10 4UW. 

Dear Councillor Mackie, 

Environmental Scrutiny Committee – 7th May 2019 

On behalf of the Environmental Scrutiny Committee, I would like to thank you 

and the officers for attending the meeting on Tuesday 7th May 2019 to discuss 

the item on the ‘Draft Shared Regulatory Services – Business Plan 2019/20’.   

The comments and observations made by Members of the Committee on this 

item are set out in this letter.   

Draft Shared Regulatory Services – Business Plan 2019/20 

Members were concerned to hear that the service had experienced some 

recent issues around recruitment and retention, particularly for the Food 

Hygiene Service that is in the process of recruiting five new officers to replace 

staff who had left to pursue other employment opportunities. They hope that 

the current recruitment process is successful and that the temporary reduction 

in staff does not have a negative impact on the Food Hygiene Service’s ability 

to carry out all of the necessary visits.  They ask that the Shared Regulatory 

Service undertake a short review to assess what can be done to prevent such 

a sudden loss of staff in future, and that they share any findings and future 

actions from this work with the Committee.  

During the meeting officers explained that the Shared Regulatory Service had 

a supply of ‘cold calling zone stickers’ that they could make available to any 

councillors who wanted them to distribute in their wards. The Committee 

thought that this would be very popular with local councillors and have asked 

for a supply to be sent to Cardiff Council’s Member Services. On arrival, 

APPENDIX 5

Tudalen 81



 

 2 

Member Services could send out a short email explaining that they are 

available to all councillors for collection and distribution.  

 
At the meeting a Member expressed his frustration at the outcome of a recent 

illegal tobacco investigation in his ward in which the Shared Regulatory 

Service had played a major role.  He commented that they had caught the 

shop owner selling illegal tobacco, confiscated the contraband and then fined 

him £2,000.  Despite this, it was obvious that the shop owner had quickly 

restocked and continued with the illegal trade.  The fine and inconvenience 

were merely ‘a part of the business plan’.  The Member felt that the service 

needed to be able to apply more sanctions and pressure, but was told that 

this would not be possible as a dedicated resource would be required.  This is 

something that is not affordable within the constraints of the current Shared 

Regulatory Service budget.  An officer went on to explain that such an 

operation would only work if new powers were introduced in Wales, it was 

properly funded and supported by trading standards professionals.  On this 

basis, the Committee ask that you work with the Shared Regulatory Service to 

lobby Welsh Government for more powers and money to tackle the illegal 

tobacco trade, because without such an investment the problem will persist.         

 
The Committee is concerned that the future of the ‘Out of Hours’ service looks 

uncertain due to financial and other pressures.  Members believe that this is 

an important service, which if lost would make it difficult to tackle a wide range 

of late night anti-social behaviour.  Should a proposal be put forward to close 

the ‘Out of Hours Service’, then I would ask that you inform the Committee 

directly before a decision is taken so that scrutiny can be undertaken on the 

matter.    

 
I would be grateful if you would consider the comments above and provide a 

response to the content of this letter. This information has also been included 

in a letter to Councillors Michael and Thorne, therefore, I am happy to receive 

a combined response. 

 
 

 

Tudalen 82



 

 3 

Regards, 

 

Councillor Ramesh Patel 

Chairperson Environmental Scrutiny Committee 

Cc: 
 
 Andrew Gregory - Director of Planning, Transport & Environment  

 Dave Holland – Head of the Shared Regulatory Service 

 Christina Hill – Operational Manager, Commercial Services 

 Helen Picton – Operational Manager, Enterprise & Specialist Services 

 Will Lane – Operational Manager, Neighbourhood Services 

 Davina Fiore - Director of Governance & Legal Services 

 Members of Cardiff’s Environmental Scrutiny Committee 

Tudalen 83



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



1 
 

CYNGOR CAERDYDD 

CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL SCRUTINY COMMITTEE                     20 NOVEMBER 2019  

 

 
MANAGING BIODIVERSITY & NATURAL ENVIRONMENT IN CARDIFF – 

DRAFT TASK & FINISH REPORT 

 
 

Background  

 
1. At the Environmental Scrutiny Committee meeting on the 19th March 2019 the 

Committee agreed to undertake the Managing Biodiversity & Natural Environment 

task & finish exercise. This report provides background information about the inquiry 

and outlines the next steps in the process. 

 
2. The agreed terms of reference for the inquiry were: 

 

To provide Members with the opportunity to explore and consider how the Council 

can support and help improve the biodiversity in Cardiff.  In particular this will include 

scrutiny of: 

 The development of Cardiff’s Biodiversity Forward Plan, for example, its 

structure, aims and objectives; 

 The ongoing implications of Cardiff’s Biodiversity Forward Plan, for example, 

future reporting and monitoring of the document;  

 The approach taken by other Welsh local authorities to develop biodiversity 

forward plans and to identify best practice in this area; 

 The Council’s current role, obligations and statutory / legislative requirements for 

supporting and improving biodiversity;  

 The importance of Cardiff’s biodiversity and ecosystems; 

 The resources available to support and improve biodiversity in Cardiff; 

Tudalen 85

Eitem Agenda 5



2 
 

 Community collaboration and other partnership working approaches to 

understand how they help support and enhance biodiversity in Cardiff;  

 The importance of raising awareness of biodiversity issues in Cardiff – internally, 

with key stakeholders and the public; 

 Cardiff’s Green Infrastructure Strategy – including the benefits of green 

infrastructure and ecosystem services;  

 Green Infrastructure Management – including the Green Infrastructure Group;  

 Cardiff Green Infrastructure SPG and Planned Development;  

 The Green Infrastructure Spatial Strategy;  

 Green Infrastructure Implementation Programme (Pollinators Action Plan, 

Individual Park Management Plans, Local Nature Plan, River Corridors, Tree 

Strategy, Cross border initiatives, other plans & projects);  

 Sustainable drainage – links with the SuDS Approval Body process. 

 
3. Members of the Task & Finish group were: 

 

 Councillor Ramesh Patel (Chair); 

 Councillor Peter Wong;  

 Councillor John Lancaster; 

 Councillor Bob Derbyshire;  

 Councillor Jaqueline Parry;  

 Councillor Owen Jones;  

 Councillor Jane Henshaw.  

 

4. During the Task & Finish Exercise the following people provided support and 

evidence: 

 
 Councillor Michael Michael - Cabinet Member for Clean Streets, Recycling & 

Environment  

 Councillor Caro Wild - Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning & Transport 

Tudalen 86



3 
 

 Councillor Peter Bradbury - Cabinet Member for Culture & Leisure 

 James Clemence - Head of Planning 

 Simon Gilbert - Operational Manager, Development Management (Strategic & 

Place Making) 

 Caryn Le Roux – Welsh Government 

 Geoff Robinson – Welsh Government 

 Matthew Harris – Ecologist, Planning, Transport & Environment Directorate 

 Nicola Hutchinson - Parks Conservation Officer, Parks Services 

 Kerry Rogers - Conservation Manager, Wildlife Trust 

 Mark Tozer, Parks Development Officer, Parks Services 

 Alan Abel - Complete Weed Control Limited 

 Heather Galliford – Natural Resources Wales 

 Geoff Hobbs – Natural Resources Wales 

 Adam Rowe - South East Wales Biodiversity Records Centre (SEWBReC) 

 Lucie Taylor - CLAS Cymru 

 Colin Cheesman – Plant Life 

 Clare Dinham – Bug Life 

 Jazz Austin – RSPB 

 Councillor Peter Jones – Swansea City Council 

 Siobhan Wiltshire - Welsh Government 

 Jo Smith – Welsh Government 

 
5. The draft report titled Managing Biodiversity & Natural Environment in Cardiff’ has 

been attached to this report as Appendix 1; the draft report makes a series of 

recommendations across the following areas: 

 Biodiversity & Natural Environment – Context Setting; 

 Council Resources;  

 Commitment, Structure & Process; 

 Communication & Engagement;  

 Baseline & Focus;  

 Best Practice & Practical Applications.  

 

   

Tudalen 87



4 
 

Legal Implications 

 
6. The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and recommend 

but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in this report are to 

consider and review matters there are no direct legal implications. However, legal 

implications may arise if and when the matters under review are implemented with or 

without any modifications. Any report with recommendations for decision that goes to 

Cabinet/Council will set out any legal implications arising from those 

recommendations. All decisions taken by or on behalf the Council must (a) be within 

the legal powers of the Council; (b) comply with any procedural requirement imposed 

by law; (c) be within the powers of the body or person exercising powers of behalf of 

the Council; (d) be undertaken in accordance with the procedural requirements 

imposed by the Council e.g. Scrutiny Procedure Rules; (e) be fully and properly 

informed; (f) be properly motivated; (g) be taken having regard to the Council's 

fiduciary duty to its taxpayers; and (h) be reasonable and proper in all the 

circumstances. 

 
Financial Implications 
 

7. The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and recommend 

but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in this report are to 

consider and review matters there are no direct financial implications at this stage in 

relation to any of the work programme. However, financial implications may arise if 

and when the matters under review are implemented with or without any 

modifications. Any report with recommendations for decision that goes to 

Cabinet/Council will set out any financial implications arising from those 

recommendations. 

 
Recommendations 
 
The Committee is recommended to: 

 
1. Take account of the information received at the meeting; 

2. Agree the content of the report subject to any alterations as required by the 

Committee; 

Tudalen 88



5 
 

3. To delegate authority to the Chair to agree any minor alterations to the report 

after this meeting.  

 
 
DAVINA FIORE 
Director for Governance & Legal Services 
14th November 2019 

Tudalen 89



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Scrutiny Report of Cardiff’s Environmental 
Scrutiny Committee 

Managing Biodiversity 
& Natural Environment 

in Cardiff 

September 2019 

Cardiff Council

APPENDIX A

Tudalen 91



  Appendix 1 
 

 2

 

CONTENTS 

 

 
 
Contents – Page 2 
 
Chair’s Foreword – Page 3 
 
Inquiry Methodology – Page 4 
 
Inquiry Terms of Reference – Pages 5 & 6  
 
Key Findings & Recommendations – Pages 7 to 62 
 
Witnesses to the Inquiry – Page 63 
 
Legal Implications – Page 64 
 
Financial Implications – Page 65 
 
 
Appendices: 
 
 Appendix 1 – Task Group Letter - Green Infrastructure & Biodiversity 

Forward Plan Letter 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 92



  Appendix 1 
 

 3

CHAIR’S FOREWORD 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Councillor Ramesh Patel 

Chairperson – Environmental Scrutiny Committee  
 

 

Tudalen 93



  Appendix 1 
 

 4

 

INQUIRY METHODOLOGY 

 

Cardiff’s Environmental Scrutiny Committee reviewed the management of 

biodiversity and natural environment in Cardiff to better understand how it can 

be better supported by the Council.  In doing this the inquiry considered the 

current position of biodiversity in Cardiff and across Wales; the resources 

being allocated by the Council to support this area; existing commitment, 

structures and processes; proposed future plans; communication and 

engagement; baseline information and best practice / practical applications.  

In reviewing the information the task group drew upon a number of witness 

contributions and information sources including: 

 
 Cardiff Council’s Cabinet Member for Clean Streets, Recycling & 

Environment;  

 Officers from Cardiff Council’s Planning, Transport & Environment 

Directorate;  

 Natural Resources Wales;  

 Welsh government;  

 RSPB;  

 CLAS Cymru; 

 SEWBReC;  

 Bug Life;  

 Plant Life;  

 Swansea City Council;  

 Wildlife Trust;  

 Planning & Biodiversity Forum.   

 
From this body of evidence the Members drew key findings and a series of 

recommendations that are contained within this report.   

Tudalen 94



  Appendix 1 
 

 5

 

 

INQUIRY TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 
 
The aim of the inquiry is to provide Members with the opportunity to explore 

and consider how the Council can support and help improve the biodiversity in 

Cardiff.  In particular this will include scrutiny of: 

 The development of Cardiff’s Biodiversity Forward Plan, for example, its 

structure, aims and objectives; 

 The ongoing implications of Cardiff’s Biodiversity Forward Plan, for 

example, future reporting and monitoring of the document;  

 The approach taken by other Welsh local authorities to develop 

biodiversity forward plans and to identify best practice in this area; 

 The Council’s current role, obligations and statutory / legislative 

requirements for supporting and improving biodiversity;  

 The importance of Cardiff’s biodiversity and ecosystems; 

 The resources available to support and improve biodiversity in Cardiff; 

 Community collaboration and other partnership working approaches to 

understand how they help support and enhance biodiversity in Cardiff;  

 The importance of raising awareness of biodiversity issues in Cardiff – 

internally, with key stakeholders and the public; 

 Cardiff’s Green Infrastructure Strategy – including the benefits of green 

infrastructure and ecosystem services;  

 Green Infrastructure Management – including the Green Infrastructure 

Group;  

 Cardiff Green Infrastructure SPG and Planned Development;  

 The Green Infrastructure Spatial Strategy;  

Tudalen 95



  Appendix 1 
 

 6

 Green Infrastructure Implementation Programme (Pollinators Action Plan, 

Individual Park Management Plans, Local Nature Plan, River Corridors, 

Tree Strategy, Cross border initiatives, other plans & projects);  

 Sustainable drainage – links with the SuDS Approval Body process. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 96



  Appendix 1 
 

 7

 
KEY FINDINGS & RECOMENDATIONS 

  
 
 
 

Section 1 – Biodiversity & Natural Environment – Context 
Setting 
 
 

During the 8 meetings and 14 witness presentations the task group was 

provided with a range of submissions that provided background information 

and context to the state of biodiversity, both locally and nationally. Some of 

the key background points that relate to the state of biodiversity are set out in 

this section.   

 
 State of Nature 
 

1. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) – The Cardiff Council 

presentation explained that the Wales ‘State of Nature Report 2016’ had 

identified the following: 

 
 Over the long term, 57% of vascular plant species declined and 43% 

increased. This pattern was unchanged over the short term. 

 60% of butterfly species declined and 40% increased over the long term. 

 Over the short term, 58% of bird species declined and 42% increased. 

 Over 5,000 of the species that are known to occur in Wales have been 

assessed. 354 (approximately 7%) of these are at risk of extinction from 

Great Britain. 

 
2. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) – Explained that overall diversity 

is declining, which is shown by loss of habitats and species. The extent of 

some habitats has also declined significantly while connectivity has greatly 

reduced. All ecosystems have problems with one or more attributes of 

resilience. This means that their capacity to provide ecosystem services and 

benefits may be at risk.  No ecosystem, on the basis of recent assessment, 

can be said to have all the features needed for resilience. 

Tudalen 97



  Appendix 1 
 

 8

3. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) - The United Kingdom National 

Ecosystem Assessment identified the following key points:   

 
 The natural world, its biodiversity and its constituent ecosystems are 

critically important to our well-being and economic prosperity, but are 

consistently undervalued in conventional economic analyses and decision-

making. 

 Ecosystems and ecosystem services, and the ways people benefit from 

them, have changed markedly in the past 60 years, driven by changes in 

society.  

 The United Kingdom’s ecosystems are currently delivering some services 

well, but others are still in long-term decline.  

 The United Kingdom population will continue to grow, and its demands 

and expectations continue to evolve. This is likely to increase pressures on 

ecosystem services. 

 
4. Giving Nature a Home (RSPB, Bug Life & Plant Life) – Joint Presentation 

– (04/07/2019) - The presentation delivered by RSPB, Bug Life & Plant Life 

made reference to the pressures placed upon biodiversity and the impact that 

these have had.  In doing this it made the following points:  

 
 The presentation made reference to a recent IPBES (Intergovernmental 

Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services) report. 

This concluded that biodiversity is being lost at an alarming rate and 

predicts that one million animal and plant species are now threatened with 

extinction. This is predominantly due to human factors including land use 

change for intensive agriculture and urbanisation, hunting and the direct 

exploitation of animals, climate change, pollution and invasive species.  

 
 Simultaneously, the global community is becoming increasingly 

disconnected from nature and nearly half of the world’s population live in 

urban areas. Re-connecting people with the natural world and creating 

opportunities for regular interactions has the potential to ignite public 

support to protect native wildlife. 

 

Tudalen 98



  Appendix 1 
 

 9

 Since the Second World War, the UK has lost at least 97% of its wildflower 

meadows. In the United Kingdom, 23 bee and flower visiting wasp species 

have become extinct since the 1850s, primarily caused by habitat loss and 

fragmentation, the introduction of inorganic nitrogen-based fertilizers and 

pressures on land use (i.e. industry and farming). Each year the United 

Kingdom imports 65,000 bumblebee colonies to support agricultural 

productivity due to wild pollinator declines. Re-establishing and stabilising 

wild pollinator populations in the UK is vital for pollination services to both 

wild and agricultural systems. 

 
 In Wales, swift numbers have declined by over 60% since 1995. If numbers 

continue to fall at the same rate, we might lose them as breeding birds 

altogether in the next 20 years. 

 
 Feeding on midges, moths, beetles and spiders, the lesser horseshoe has 

declined nationally in both population and distribution, but in Cardiff there 

are a number of protected roost sites for this threatened species. 

 
 56% of species in the United Kingdom have suffered a decline in numbers 

since 1970, with 15% of species on the endangered list. 

 
5. Welsh Government Presentation (18/06/2019) – This emphasised the 

importance of biodiversity in supporting everything that we do, and went on to 

provide a diagram (Diagram 1 below) to illustrate the importance of the 

relationship between atmosphere, soil and water cycle.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 99



  Appendix 1 
 

 10

 Diagram 1 – Environmental relationship between the atmosphere, soil 
and water cycle 

 

 
 Legislation & Local Authority Duties 
 

6. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) - The presentation identified the 

main roles of the Council in relation to biodiversity as: 

 
 Staff must comply with the same legislation in the exercise of their 

functions, as the public is required to do. 

 
 Some legislation introduces specific duties upon the Council as a Public 

Body. 

 
 New duties were placed upon all Public Bodies under the Environment 

(Wales) Act 2016. 

 
 The Council is well placed to act as facilitator to others in positive action.  

 
7. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) - The presentation provided 

examples of legislation that had been created to support biodiversity and the 

natural environment, this included: 

 
 Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 – most highly 

protected species and sites in Europe; 

 
 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended by the Countryside and 

Rights of Way Act 2000 and the Natural Environment and Rural 

Tudalen 100



  Appendix 1 
 

 11

Communities Act 2006) – protected sites and species in the United 

Kingdom; 

 
 Protection of Badgers Act 1992; 

 
 Deer Act 1991; 

 
 Wild Mammals (Protection) Act 1996; 

 
 Crime and Disorder Act 1998. 

 
8. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) – The presentation provided the 

following practical examples of how the Council and its staff should comply 

with legislation:  

 
 Planned maintenance to Council buildings – may disturb bat roosts or 

nesting birds; 

 
 Cutting hedges – may disturb birds nests or dormice; 

 
 Tree work – may disturb bats or nesting birds; 

 
 Highways schemes may affect roadside verges, hedgerows and trees, and 

the protected species they contain; 

 
 Footpath and cycleway schemes may cause habitat fragmentation or 

affect protected species, especially if lighting is introduced; 

 
 Cutting roadside verges – may harm reptiles and chop flowering plants; 

 
 Use of herbicides may affect aquatic habitats or other habitats; 

 
 Failure to control invasive non-native species such as Japanese Knotweed 

or Himalayan Balsam affect biodiversity; 

 
 Disposal of land with ecological constraints may incur liabilities. 

 

Tudalen 101



  Appendix 1 
 

 12

9. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) – Reference was made to the 

various pieces of planning policy that the Council uses to support biodiversity, 

these include: 

 
 The Local Development Plan (LDP) includes a series of policies, for 

example: KP 16 - Green Infrastructure; EN 5 – Designated Sites; EN 6 – 

Ecological Connectivity; EN 7 – Protected and priority habitats and 

species.  

 
 A Green Infrastructure Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) has been 

approved and is in use. It contains a series of Technical Guidance Notes, 

one of which is Ecology and Biodiversity.  

 
10. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) - The Environment (Wales) Act 

2016 placed a new duty on all public bodies, this includes the Council.  In 

particular Section 6 of the Act sets out a Biodiversity and resilience of 

ecosystems duty, which means that: 

 
 ‘A public authority must seek to maintain and enhance biodiversity in the 

exercise of functions in relation to Wales, and in so doing promote the 

resilience of ecosystems, so far as consistent with the proper exercise of 

those functions’. 

 
11. Welsh Government Presentation (18/06/2019) – The Welsh Government 

presentation also commented on Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 

2016, by mentioning the Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems Duty. 

They reiterated that - ‘Public Authorities must seek to maintain and enhance 

biodiversity in the exercise of functions in relation to Wales, and in so doing 

promote the resilience of ecosystems, so far as consistent with the proper 

exercise of those functions’. 

 
12. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) - In complying with subsection 

Section 6 of the Environment Wales Act, a public authority must take account 

of the resilience of ecosystems, in particular the following aspects: 

 
 Diversity between and within ecosystems; 

Tudalen 102



  Appendix 1 
 

 13

 
 The connections between and within ecosystems; 

 
 The scale of ecosystems; 

 
 The condition of ecosystems (including their structure and functioning); 

 
 The adaptability of ecosystems. 
 

13. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) - Section 6 of the Environment 

(Wales) Act 2016 places a duty on public bodies to: 

 
 Prepare and publish a plan setting out what it proposes to do to comply 

with subsection (1) of Section 6. 

 
 A public authority must, before the end of 2019 and before the end of 

every third year after 2019, publish a report on what it has done to comply 

with subsection (1) of Section 6. 

 
 However, enacting legislation and imposing sanctions for non-compliance, 

whilst important, are not the most productive means of furthering nature 

conservation. 

 
 Working in partnership with the public and with other organisations such 

as RSPB and Wildlife Trusts often adds more value nature conservation 

than legal deterrents. 

 
14. Wildlife Trust Presentation (18/06/2019) – They highlighted the benefit of 

SUDS, and that Cardiff was now the local reporting authority.  This has 

benefited from being built into legislation, and illustrates the importance of 

building other key environmental goals into legislation.   

 
 Cardiff’s Green Assets 
 

15. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) - The presentation provided a 

summary of Cardiff’s GI (Green Infrastructure) and Biodiversity Assets. This 

included the following statements: 

 

Tudalen 103



  Appendix 1 
 

 14

 Cardiff has a wealth of Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity Assets that 

are under significant pressure in the urban environment, for example, from 

recreation and development. 

 
 Assets include all habitats, for example, grasslands, woodlands, wetlands, 

ponds, scrub which are home to a variety of species. 

 
 Many of these assets are on Council owned land. Parks and open spaces 

are obvious examples, but these assets can also be found on land 

belonging to Estates, Highways and Housing. 

 
 Biodiversity assets can be found on Cardiff’s large stock of private land.  

 
 There are over 400 parks and open spaces in Cardiff. These contain 488 

hectares of natural and semi natural green spaces, which include 236 

hectares of woodland.   

 
 Cardiff has 58 locally designated Sites of Importance for Nature 

Conservation (SINC’s); seven Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI’s); 

one Special Area of Conservation (SAC); two Country Parks and four 

Local Nature Reserves.   

 
 Less obvious sites in Cardiff can support biodiversity assets, for example, 

road verges, areas around buildings and housing, private land, gardens. 

 
 Area Statements 
 

16. Natural Resources Wales Presentation (27/06/2019) – The presentation 

addressed ‘Area Statements’ and made particular reference to the ‘South 

Central Area Statement’ that includes Cardiff. They explained that they 

provided a mechanism to value the natural environment and that the South 

Central Area Statement aims to recognise the intrinsic worth of and to 

maximise the multiple benefits of the natural environment to wellbeing and 

economic prosperity. 

 
17. Natural Resources Wales Presentation (27/06/2019) - Building Equitable 

Partnerships – Natural Resources Wales emphasised the importance of 

Tudalen 104



  Appendix 1 
 

 15

building relationships that lead to equitable partnerships, giving a voice to and 

opening doors for partners by balancing empirical and qualitative evidence. 

This is particularly relevant in relation to developing the ‘Area Statements’.  

They also believe that it is important to put the environment at the heart of 

decision making. To do this ‘Area Statements’ spearhead the ‘new ways of 

working’ and will help to put the local environment at the heart of decision 

making. 

 
18. Natural Resources Wales Presentation (27/06/2019) – As a part of the 

development of area statements Natural Resources Wales will set out an 

Area Profile describing the natural resources in that particular area, as well as 

the benefits they can provide and how the national priorities, risks and 

opportunities for the sustainable management of natural resources (SMNR) 

are reflected in that place. 

 
 Green Infrastructure 

 
19. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) - Expertise in biodiversity and 

ecosystem resilience exists within Cardiff Council in the form of a cross-

service area collaboration forum referred to as the ‘Green Infrastructure 

Group’.  This group includes staff from several services including parks, 

planning, public rights of way, trees, environmental quality, drainage and flood 

risk management.  The aim is to deliver natural resource management in a 

coordinated and holistic way, which better reflects the current ‘Ecosystem 

Approach’ to natural resource management. 

 
20. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) - The Green Infrastructure Group 

has drafted a Green Infrastructure Plan, and this will be merged into Cardiff’s 

proposed biodiversity forward plan. The Draft Green Infrastructure Plan 

includes the following information: 

 
 What Green Infrastructure is and why is it important; 

 
 Six objectives, setting out how green infrastructure can contribute to: 

Protection of the natural environment; Climate change mitigation & 

Tudalen 105



  Appendix 1 
 

 16

adaptation; Supporting the local economy; Improving people’s physical & 

mental health; Creating opportunities for community engagement; 

volunteering & training and Placemaking; 

 
 How green infrastructure is protected and enhanced in Cardiff; 

 
 An Action Plan which would deliver this protection and enhancement,  

incorporating an implementation Programme setting out a list of ongoing 

and potential projects; 

 
 Critical to this Action Plan is working with all service areas within the 

Council to raise awareness of this duty and to develop Service-area Action 

Plans to maintain and enhance biodiversity. 

 
21. Natural Resources Wales (27/06/2019) – They have made a climate change 

and biodiversity commitment, this is different to Cardiff Council that has only 

declared a climate change emergency. They also believe that it is very 

important for a public body to embed delivery of its biodiversity forward plan 

into its well-being objectives. Natural Resources Wales has built the idea of 

‘managing today’s natural resources for tomorrow’s generations’ into its 

Corporate Plan to 2022.  

 
 
 Context Setting: Recommendation 1 – Declare Biodiversity & Climate 

Change Emergency 

Many of the actions linked to the cause of climate change relate directly to 

habitat and biodiversity loss, therefore, protecting, supporting and 

enhancing biodiversity will help in addressing climate change. 

Organisations like Natural Resources Wales have declared joint climate 

change and biodiversity emergencies, therefore, the task group 

recommends that the Council declares a biodiversity emergency to sit 

alongside the climate change emergency. When declaring the joint 

emergency, the Council should publish a list of actions that it proposes to 

take to deliver the aims of the joint declaration.  

 

Tudalen 106



  Appendix 1 
 

 17

 

Section 2 – Council Resources 
 

 

During the 8 meetings and 14 witness presentations the task group was 

provided with a range of information about the level of resource that the 

Council and associated partners allocate towards supporting and enhancing 

biodiversity in Cardiff.   Some of the key points that relate to resource 

allocation are set out in this section.   

 
 Council Resources 

 
22. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) - Resources allocated by the 

Council for supporting and enhancing biodiversity in Cardiff are limited. The 

allocated resource is mainly focused upon providing advice and management 

of biodiversity on the Council estate.  The main staff resources are allocated 

as follows:   

 
 A County Ecologist (Strategic Planning); 

 Community Ranger Team – this team consists of a Conservation Officer 

and eight other FTE posts (Park Services). 

 
23. Cardiff Council Information – Information provided explained that the 

Community Ranger Team consists of nine FTE posts and is based at Forest 

Farm in Cardiff.  The Community Ranger Team is reliant on grant funding and 

volunteer / partner support for the delivery and development of projects.  

 
24. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) - The Community Ranger Team 

delivers a wide range of work including: habitat /site management; habitat 

creation; events; environmental education / working with schools; working with 

Community and Friends Groups; working with NEETS and Community 

Service; working with volunteers; timber recycling; survey work; footpaths and 

access.  

Tudalen 107



  Appendix 1 
 

 18

25. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) - As referenced above the 

Community Ranger Team undertakes site management across Cardiff.  This 

typically includes: 

 
 The Community Ranger Team undertake practical management work of 

habitats across the city for biodiversity in the natural open spaces. This 

includes SSSI’s SAC’s and LNR’s. 

 They work under licence for European Protected Species. 

 Involvement in projects in more urban parks, for example, pollinator 

planting. 

 
26. When a Member asked what the Council could do to better support the work 

of the Community Ranger Team, he was told that the best way to improve 

things and better support biodiversity was to provide more resources for the 

team.  

 
27. Cardiff Council Information - The County Ranger Team contains individuals 

who between them hold a considerable wealth of experience and knowledge 

on Cardiff’s biodiversity and natural environment. Such a resource is 

massively valuable to the Council.  At the time of the inquiry the average age 

of the County Ranger Team was 51, with the youngest member being 39.  

This presents a workforce planning risk, since the experience and knowledge 

of the team is not being passed down to younger generations. If parts of the 

collective knowledge were lost then it could take many years to regain.  Unlike 

other parts of the Parks Service, the Community Ranger Team does not have 

any apprentices.  

 
28. Cardiff Council Information - During the years 2017/18, 2018/19 and 

2019/20 the Community Ranger Team has directly bid for or supported 16 

grant applications.  Collectively these grant applications have raised 

£1,471,680 of funding for schemes across Cardiff.  This means that the 

Community Ranger Service has helped to raised significantly more in three 

years than it would have cost to run the team for the same period.   

 

Tudalen 108



  Appendix 1 
 

 19

29. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) - The current County Ecologist is 

based in the Planning Service and spends the vast majority of his time dealing 

with and providing advice on planning applications.  The Council previously 

employed two Ecologists, with one of the posts being deleted several years 

ago as a result of budget cuts.  Having one County Ecologist who has to focus 

on planning matters means that there is limited expertise in dealing with other 

ecology matters. 

 
 Herbicides & Pesticides 
 

30. Glyphosate Presentation (18/06/2019) – During the task & finish exercise 

several witnesses stressed the importance of limiting the use of herbicides 

and pesticides on the Council estate, and made particular reference to the 

use of glyphosate.  Council officers and other witnesses explained that there 

were circumstances where glyphosate had to be used by the Council as there 

were no other practical alternatives, for example, along the public highway.  

However, it was suggested that the Council should review how and where 

glyphosate is used, and whenever possible to restrain from using it on Council 

land.  

 
31. Giving Nature a Home (RSPB, Bug Life & Plant Life) – Joint Presentation 

(04/07/2019) – The presentation suggested that the Council should 

dramatically reduce the use of herbicides and pesticides in Council managed 

green spaces. Chemical control often harms wildlife beyond the targeted 

species. Many species targeted through chemical control are not harmful or 

can be effectively controlled using other measures such as encouraging 

natural predators and companion planting. Many of the species targeted by 

chemical control, such as slugs and caterpillars, are fundamental parts of the 

food chain for birds and mammals. 

 
32. Glyphosate Presentation (18/06/2019) – In 2017 the EU licence came to an 

end and was reviewed.  The licence was only extended until 2021. All of the 

glyphosate products that Cardiff uses are approved. It is unlikely that there will 

be any move beyond that until after Brexit. Pesticides and herbicides are 

overseen by the Chemical Research Directorate, which is a part of the HSE.  

Tudalen 109



  Appendix 1 
 

 20

 
33. The Vale of Glamorgan Council has become the first local authority in Wales 

to eliminate the use of Glyphosate in its parks.   Foamstream herbicide-free 

technology for managing unwanted vegetation, is being used by the Vale of 

Glamorgan Council across several parks, making them greener, cleaner and 

safer for visitors to enjoy.  Keep Wales Tidy recently awarded Green Flag 

status – the mark of a top-quality outdoor space – to 10 sites maintained by 

the Council. Romilly Park, Alexandra Park and Windsor Gardens, Barry Island 

Seafront and Friars Point, Belle Vue Park, Central Park, The Knap Gardens, 

Victoria Park, Gladstone Park, Cosmeston Country Park, Porthkerry Country 

Park all received the accolade, and all are maintained with Foamstream. 

Foamstream works by using the extreme heat in boiling hot water to kill the 

vegetation. The water is insulated by a biodegradable foam that prevents the 

heat escaping into the surrounding atmosphere. Keeping heat on the 

unwanted plant for longer ensures a more effective kill of the plant. 

Foamstream also helps sterilise surrounding seeds and spores, reducing 

overall regrowth. 

 
 Volunteering 
 

34. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) - During 2017/18 the Community 

Ranger Team supported 15,221 volunteer hours; based on the living wage 

this is the equivalent of £101,621. This increased in 2018/19 when they 

supported 16,278 hours; based on the living wage this is the equivalent of 

£137,549.  As stated, the work delivered by the Community Ranger Team is 

very reliant on grants and supporting volunteers.  

 
35. Wildlife Trust Presentation (18/06/2019) – The Wildlife Trust emphasised 

that Friends Groups and other volunteer based groups were a great free 

resource that the Council should embrace.  They explained that the Council 

should aim to have a Friends Group in every park, but to remember that 

volunteers don’t just happen, they need to be supported, organised and 

developed. This requires resource. Supporting parks and volunteering can 

provide great health and economic value for a city, therefore, the Council 

should do what it can to support this.  

Tudalen 110



  Appendix 1 
 

 21

 
36. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) – This emphasised the 

importance of community collaboration. The task group was told that working 

with friends and community groups helped to engender a sense of ownership, 

helped to source funding, encouraged volunteer involvement, provided 

networking opportunities and fostered a wider sharing experience.  

 
 Biological Engineering 

 
37. Newport Biological Engineering Visit – Salix River & Wetland Services 

Ltd (02/07/2019) - The Task Group visited Riverside Walk in Newport on the 

2nd July to look at the biological engineering remediation work that had taken 

place along the banks of the River Usk.  During the visit Members were told 

that the natural habitats of estuaries are often missing, especially in urban 

areas. The absence of the soft edges (where wildlife is most abundant) 

impacts on the ecological recovery of our rivers and estuaries.  

 
38. Newport Biological Engineering Visit – Salix River & Wetland Services 

Ltd (02/07/2019) - Salix River & Wetland Services Ltd use bioengineering 

engineering techniques that work with natural processes and plant species in 

order to provide long term bank stability whilst creating vital missing habitats. 

Inter-tidal rivers offer a unique challenge for bioengineering solutions due to 

the water quality, noticeably higher salinity, and the highly variable water 

levels and long periods of inundation that occurs with the tidal influence. In 

addition, the nature of the fine alluvial soils in estuaries, the turbulent flows 

and wave action means that erosion is prevalent where no vegetation occurs. 

Vegetation establishment is often more difficult in this environment as is the 

construction of bioengineering solutions due to the soft soils and tidal 

restrictions for working on the river. 

 
39. Newport Biological Engineering Visit – Salix River & Wetland Services 

Ltd (02/07/2019) - The Newport scheme applied a soft engineering solution 

that used brushwood fascines and rock rolls as a direct alternative to large 

rock. The approach was described as: 

Tudalen 111



  Appendix 1 
 

 22

 A low carbon solution (bioengineering has a carbon footprint of 2 tonnes of 

CO2 per 25m of riverbank; while hard engineering with blockstone has a 

carbon footprint of 30 t tonnes of CO2 per 25m of riverbank).  

 Bioengineering absorbs the energy of the river, while hard engineering 

deflects the energy of the river causing erosion to happen further down the 

river.  

 A scheme that allows natural vegetation to establish. 

 A scheme that recreates saltmarsh and mud flat habitats.   

 
40. Cardiff Council and Natural Resources Wales is currently developing a flood 

defence scheme along the foreshore of South East Cardiff. This scheme 

includes the river mouth and lower estuary area of the River Rhymney that 

has some characteristics similar to those seen on the River Usk.  Members 

have been told that the Cardiff flood defence scheme will require remediation 

work once parts of the basic structure have been constructed.  It is hoped that 

this remediation work will support biodiversity and the natural environment.  

 
 
 Council Resources: Recommendation 2 - Additional Ecologist / 

Section 6 Officer 

 
The Council needs to employ an additional Ecologist or Section 6 Officer. 

He or she should work across all service areas to ensure that the Council is 

doing what is needed to meet the requirements of the Section 6 Duty of the 

Environment Act Wales. This would support the work of the current 

Ecologist who spends the majority of his time dealing with planning related 

work.  Tasks to be covered by this post should include:  

 
 To co-ordinate, support and promote a range of environmental projects 

across Cardiff being delivered to meet the requirements of the Section 

6 Duty. 

 To provide support for volunteer groups that are engaged in work that 

relates to the Section 6 Duty of the Environment Act Wales. 

 Liaison with partner organisations and other third party groups that are 

Tudalen 112



  Appendix 1 
 

 23

working with or supporting the Council to deliver projects that relate to 

the Section 6 Duty of the Environment Act Wales.  

 
 Council Resources: Recommendation 3 - Cardiff Ranger Team 

Apprentice 

 
The Council should employ, train and develop an apprentice to work with 

the Cardiff Ranger Service.  Given the current age profile of the Cardiff 

Ranger Service, the post would help preserve the extensive knowledge 

and experience of the team within the Council.  The length and structure of 

the apprenticeship scheme should reflect the amount of knowledge and 

skill that the apprentice would need to become a fully trained member of 

staff.  

 Council Resources: Recommendation 4 - Biological Engineering – 

River Rhymney 

 
Where possible, the Council should use the biological engineering 

techniques similar to those applied on the banks of the River Usk when 

undertaking remediation work on sections of the River Rhymney as a part 

of the new flood defence scheme. Taking this approach would provide 

biodiversity and reduced carbon footprint benefits when compared against 

hard engineering alternatives.   

 
 Council Resources: Recommendation 5 - Herbicides & Pesticides - 

Glyphosate  

 
Where practically possible, the Council should limit the use of pesticides 

such as glyphosate across its estate. Local authorities such as the Vale of 

Glamorgan have managed to become herbicide free in a number of parks 

by using alternative weed control and management practices.  The Council 

should look to learn from this and publish details of how, where and why 

herbicides and pesticides will be applied across the Council estate.  

 
 
 

Tudalen 113



  Appendix 1 
 

 24

 
 Council Resources: Recommendation 6 – Volunteer Support  

 
The Council does a good job in providing support to volunteer groups who 

carry out lots of work to help enhance Cardiff’s natural environment; this is 

evidenced by the 16,278 volunteer hours that were supported by the 

Cardiff Ranger Service in 2018/19.  However, Members feel that if more 

resource were invested into volunteering then volunteer contributions 

would be even greater.  On this basis, task group recommends that the 

Council should invest additional resources to encourage, recognise and 

expand support from volunteer groups for work that relates to the Section 

6 Duty of the Environment Act Wales.  Specifically, they believe that this 

resource would be maximised if it focused on volunteer co-ordination and 

in applying for grant funding.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 114



  Appendix 1 
 

 25

 
Section 3 – Commitment, Structure & Process 
 
 
During the 8 meetings and 14 witness presentations the task group was 

provided with a range of information about the commitment, structure and 

process that the Council and associated partners allocate towards supporting 

and enhancing biodiversity in Cardiff.   Some of the key points raised on these 

topics are set out in this section.   

 
 Section 6 - Biodiversity & Resilience of Ecosystems Duty 
 

41. Section 6 Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems Duty – Several 

bodies explained that public authorities must seek to maintain and enhance 

biodiversity in the exercise of functions in relation to Wales, and in so doing 

promote the resilience of ecosystems, so far as is consistent with the proper 

exercise of those functions. Public bodies should also: 

 
 Embed the consideration of biodiversity and ecosystems into their early 

thinking and business planning, including any policies, plans, programmes 

and projects, as well as their day to day activities. 

 In complying with the Section 6 Duty, must have regard to the Section 7 

list of habitats and species of principal importance for Wales. 

 Ensure that decisions are evidence-based. 

 This duty is in addition to the requirement to consider EU and UK legally 

protected species. 

 
42. Welsh Government Presentation (18/06/2019) - The Duty to Maintain & 

Enhance Biodiversity - The actions to do this should, as far as possible, be 

guided by the 6 objectives of  the Nature Recovery Action Plan for Wales 

(NRAP) which have been identified to contribute to reversing the decline of 

biodiversity in Wales:  

 
 Objective 1: Engage and support participation and understanding to 

embed biodiversity throughout decision-making at all levels. 

Tudalen 115



  Appendix 1 
 

 26

 Objective 2: Safeguard species and habitats of principal importance and 

improve their management.  

 Objective 3: Increase the resilience of our natural environment by 

restoring degraded habitats and habitat creation.  

 Objective 4: Tackle key pressures on species and habitats. 

 Objective 5: Improve our evidence, understanding and monitoring. 

 Objective 6:  Put in place a framework of governance and support for 

delivery. 

 
These objectives address the strategic goals of the UN’s Convention on 

Biological Diversity https://www.cbd.int/sp/elements/default.shtml.  

 
43. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) - The Duty to Report – It was 

explained that a public authority must, before the end of 2019, and before the 

end of every third year after 2019, publish a report on what it has done to 

comply with the duty. This does not be a standalone report – it can be 

included in the annual report on well-being objectives, or another report. It can 

include: 

 
 Identifying what steps have been taken to incorporate biodiversity 

measures into other areas of policy, strategies or initiatives; 

 Identifying practical actions taken on the ground;  

 Outlining any partnership initiatives on biodiversity have been set up and 

what they have achieved; 

 What the organisation has done to help raise awareness of and 

communicate the importance of biodiversity. 

 
44. Virtually all of the witnesses providing evidence to the task group (for 

example, Welsh Government, Natural Resources Wales and Swansea 

Council) felt that biodiversity should be an integral part of a public authority’s 

business or corporate planning processes, i.e. it should play a key role in all 

future decision making.  It was suggested that to comply with the Section 6 

duty, public authorities should embed the consideration of biodiversity and 

ecosystems into their early thinking and business planning, including any 

Tudalen 116



  Appendix 1 
 

 27

policies, plans, programmes and projects, as well as their day to day 

activities. 

 
45. Welsh Government Presentation (18/06/2019) – The Welsh Government 

presentation set out a number of key actions that they felt were important for 

any organisations that were looking to embed the principles of the Biodiversity 

Duty, these were:  

 
 Make a commitment to biodiversity and embed this into your corporate or 

business plan or sustainability statement, for example, as in the Swansea 

Corporate Plan;  

 Raise awareness across the organisation about how biodiversity 

contributes to our well-being, for example, Public Health Wales and the 

Biodiversity Duty;  

 Think about how enhancing biodiversity can help deliver across your 

organisation’s activities, not just what you may think of as biodiversity 

activities, for example, to support active recreation, education, flood 

prevention, regeneration and local food growing.  

 Reduce, re-use and recycle materials, but where products such as paper 

are bought, ensure that supplies come from sustainable sources, for 

example, paper from sustainable forests. 

 
46. Wildlife Trust Presentation (18/06/2019) – They felt that it was important for 

an organisation like Cardiff Council to work with Public Service Boards to 

deliver the aims of the Biodiversity Duty. All public services are required to 

adhere to the Biodiversity Duty, and so linking common goals across the 

Public Service Board parties would help maximise overall benefits for Cardiff. 

They also explained that green spaces need to feel safe and welcoming to 

encourage public use; public bodies need to be mindful of this and work 

towards creating such spaces.   

 
47. Giving Nature a Home (RSPB, Bug Life & Plant Life) – Joint Presentation 

– (04/07/2019) - The first part of the presentation referenced the Duty and the 

importance of linking this to decision making. In doing so the presentation 

explained the following: 

Tudalen 117



  Appendix 1 
 

 28

 
 By putting nature and the environment at the heart of all decisions that 

Cardiff Council makes, there is an opportunity for Cardiff to become a 

forerunner in the sustainable city movement and work towards the Welsh 

Governments targets of creating a ‘resilient Wales’. By implementing some 

of the simple steps and examples shown in this report, Cardiff Council can 

help conserve existing areas for biodiversity, create and connect 

communities of Cardiff with nature.    

 
48. Councillor Peter Jones, Swansea City Council Presentation (24/07/2019) 

- Members were told that it was important to make a commitment to 

biodiversity and then to embed it into the Council’s corporate / business plan 

or sustainability statement, this is something that has happened in Swansea’s 

Corporate Plan. Once this statement has been put in place then it is essential 

that the message is clearly communicated to the public.  

 
49. Councillor Peter Jones, Swansea City Council (27/07/2019) - The 

monitoring of the work will be measured by Swansea’s Scrutiny Performance 

Panel when they look at the natural environment.   

 
50. Natural Resources Wales Presentation (26/06/2019) – The presentation 

stressed the importance of focusing on the Section 7 responsibilities of the 

Environment Wales Act, which extends protection and support towards 

special, protected and rare wildlife. This relates to a list of the living organisms 

and types of habitat which are of principal importance for the purpose of 

maintaining and enhancing biodiversity in Wales.  The information in this list 

needs to be supported by a solid data source.  

 
 Wellbeing of Future Generations Act 

 
51. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) - A public authority must seek to 

maintain and enhance biodiversity in the exercise of functions in relation to 

Wales, and in so doing promote the resilience of ecosystems, so far as 

consistent with the proper exercise of those functions (Environment (Wales) 

Tudalen 118



  Appendix 1 
 

 29

Act 2016).  This ties in with the core principles of the Well-being of Future 

Generations (Wales) Act (2015), these are illustrated in Diagram 2 (below). 

 
Diagram 2 - Core principles of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) 

Act (2015) 

 

52. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) – The Well-being of Future 

Generations (Wales) Act (2015) has been created to drive well being and long 

term sustainability in Wales. The presentation provided a quote which 

described the Welsh ambition as - “A nation which maintains and enhances a 

biodiverse natural environment with healthy functioning ecosystems that 

support social, economic and ecological resilience and the capacity to adapt 

to change (for example climate change).” 

 
53. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) - The whole Biodiversity and 

Resilience of Ecosystems Duty is driven by the Well Being of Future 

Generations legislation. The seven primary goals (and descriptions) of this 

legislation are set out below: 

 A prosperous Wales - An innovative, productive and low carbon society 

which recognises the limits of the global environment and therefore uses 

resources efficiently and proportionately (including acting on climate 

change); and which develops a skilled and well-educated population in an 

economy which generates wealth and provides employment opportunities, 

Tudalen 119



  Appendix 1 
 

 30

allowing people to take advantage of the wealth generated through 

securing decent work. 

 
 A resilient Wales - A nation which maintains and enhances a biodiverse 

natural environment with healthy functioning ecosystems that support 

social, economic and ecological resilience and the capacity to adapt to 

change (for example climate change). 

 
 A healthier Wales - A society in which people’s physical and mental well-

being is maximised and in which choices and behaviours that benefit 

future health are understood. 

 
 A more equal Wales - A society that enables people to fulfil their potential 

no matter what their background or circumstances (including their socio 

economic background and circumstances). 

 
 A Wales of cohesive communities - Attractive, viable, safe and well-

connected communities. 

 
 A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language - A society that 

promotes and protects culture, heritage and the Welsh language, and 

which encourages people to participate in the arts, and sports and 

recreation. 

 
 A globally responsible Wales - A nation which, when doing anything to 

improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of 

Wales, takes account of whether doing such a thing may make a positive 

contribution to global well-being. 

 
54. Natural Resources Wales (26/06/2019) – It views ‘a resilient Wales’ as the 

primary Well Being of Future Generations goal that it needs to work to 

achieve.  In response to this Natural Resources Wales has ‘set objectives to 

achieve a biodiverse natural environment with health functioning ecosystems, 

and take all reasonable steps to achieve those objectives’. They felt that the 

current Cardiff Corporate Plan could have included more information setting 

out how it aims to address its biodiversity duty.  

Tudalen 120



  Appendix 1 
 

 31

 Green Infrastructure & Biodiversity Forward Plan 

 
55. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) - The Green Infrastructure 

Strategy for Cardiff is based on the ‘Ecosystem Approach’. An ‘ecosystems 

approach’ draws on the Convention of Biological Diversity definition. The 

Green Infrastructure Strategy for Cardiff is described as ‘a strategy for the 

integrated management of land, water and living resources that promotes 

conservation and sustainable use in an equitable way’. The Green 

Infrastructure Strategy for Cardiff puts an emphasis on maintaining the health 

of ecosystems as well as the sustainable human use of the environment, for 

present and future generations. 

 
56. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) - Green Infrastructure: Instead of 

referring to biodiversity and ecosystem resilience, Cardiff Council uses the 

term ‘Green Infrastructure’ to reflect a more holistic approach which 

incorporates: 

 
 Ecology and biodiversity; 

 
 Trees, soils and landscaping; 

 
 Access, public open space and recreation;  

 
 Sustainable drainage; 

 
 Use of vegetation to ameliorate pollution.  

 
57. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) - Green infrastructure is about 

multi-functional, connected green spaces that make the best use of land - at 

the same time providing green open space for all, helping wildlife to flourish, 

and delivering a wide range of economic, health and community benefits. This 

is as important to the city as its ‘grey’ infrastructure of roads, buildings and 

power lines (CABE 2009), and helps to address many of the social and 

environmental issues linked to urban life. 

 
58. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) – Cardiff’s Green Infrastructure 

Plan Objectives are: 

 

Tudalen 121



  Appendix 1 
 

 32

 Objective 1: To protect and enhance Cardiff’s ecosystems to ensure that 

they continue to support diverse habitats and species, allowing them to 

adapt to change; 

 
 Objective 2: To ensure that Cardiff’s green infrastructure is enhanced and 

managed in a way that increases resilience to the changing climate and 

provides protection for people and places;  

 
 Objective 3:  To maximise the contribution that green infrastructure 

makes to Cardiff’s economy by enhancing the city’s attractiveness for 

business, tourism and living; 

 
 Objective 4:  To increase the potential physical and mental health benefits 

from a good quality, natural environment by improving, promoting and 

creating connected, multi-functional green infrastructure in Cardiff; 

 
 Objective 5:  To use Cardiff’s green infrastructure to provide opportunities 

for people to access the outdoor environment and to participate in 

learning, training and volunteering to foster social inclusion and equality 

and improve life chances; 

 
 Objective 6: To build upon Cardiff’s reputation as a vibrant, green and 

attractive city by continuing to enhance and sustain the green 

infrastructure that underpins the city’s unique qualities and sense of place. 

 
59. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) - As part of the Implementation 

Programme, a ‘Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems Duty Action Plan’ 

had been drafted. The Green Infrastructure Plan and the BRED Action Plan 

was the subject of a Cabinet Report that had the intention of securing 

approval of these documents to discharge the Council’s duty to prepare and 

publish a forward plan. The Green Infrastructure Plan was approved on the 

26th September 2019, and the document sets out the following vision for the 

city: 

 
 ‘Cardiff’s distinctive natural heritage will provide a network of Green 

Infrastructure which will be protected, enhanced, developed and managed 

Tudalen 122



  Appendix 1 
 

 33

to ensure that its integrity and connectivity is sustained for the economic, 

social and environmental benefit of the City and the Region.’ 

 
60. Cardiff Council Presentation (03/07/2019) - As a part of this inquiry, the 

Committee considered the draft document and sent a letter to the responsible 

Cabinet Member which set out the comments, observations and 

recommendations of the task group in relation to the draft Green Infrastructure 

Plan. This was received by the Cabinet Member in advance of the Cabinet 

meeting on the 26th September 2019. A copy of this letter is attached to this 

report as Appendix 1.  

 
61. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) - The Green Infrastructure Plan is 

supported by the Green Infrastructure Implementation Programme. The key 

projects / plans identified for delivery within this Green Infrastructure 

Implementation Programme are: 

 
 Pollinator Action Plan; 

 Site Management Plans; 

 Local Nature Plan; 

 River Corridors; 

 Tree Strategy; 

 i-tree Cardiff; 

 Cross departmental and cross border initiatives, for example, PRoW; 

 Green Infrastructure Plan. 

 
62. Welsh Government Presentation (18/06/2019) – The presentation explained 

the duty of a Local Authority Biodiversity Forward Plan as: 

 
 A public authority must prepare and publish a plan setting out what it 

proposes to do to comply with the duty. 

 This need not be a standalone plan - it can be included in your well-being 

statement as to how your well-being objectives will be met, or another 

plan. 

Tudalen 123



  Appendix 1 
 

 34

 It can include how biodiversity will be incorporated into policies and 

strategies; what initiatives are being introduced to raise awareness within 

organisation; what programmes are being introduced to improve 

connectivity, condition  and diversity; and what partnerships will be 

developed. 

 If it hasn’t already, the plan should be produced as soon as possible. 

 It can align with corporate planning cycles, including Well Being of Future 

Generations planning.  

 
 Partnership Working 

 
63. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) – Identified the importance of 

partnership projects, for example, those delivered by the Cardiff Rivers Group, 

Welsh Water and Natural Resources Wales. These had supported river clean 

up projects in 2019.  

 
64. Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) – The presentation emphasised 

how important community collaboration was in terms delivering projects to 

support biodiversity and the natural environment. The task group was told that 

working with friends and community groups helped to engender a sense of 

ownership, helped to source funding, encouraged volunteer involvement, 

provided networking opportunities and fostered a wider sharing experience.  

 
 Planning 
 

65. Cardiff Council Presentation (03/07/2019) - A Cardiff Planning Officer 

explained that any policy decision needs to be backed up and explained 

within the Local Development Plan. You can’t create a Supplementary 

Planning Guidance document without having a relevant policy hook in the 

Local Development Plan. Developers will challenge any planning related 

proposal that isn’t referenced in the Local Development Plan, and any 

unsupported Council decision would be thrown out on appeal. 

 
66. Planning & Biodiversity Forum (10/09/2019) – At the meeting it was 

explained that Cardiff Council officers had not attended the Planning & 

Biodiversity Forum.  Members felt that this was a missed opportunity since 

Tudalen 124



  Appendix 1 
 

 35

Planning Policy Wales Edition 10, the Environment (Wales) Act and the Well 

Being of Future Generations had all had an impact on biodiversity related 

planning practice in the last twelve months. They felt that the profile and 

influence of the Planning & Biodiversity Forum would benefit from Elected 

Member involvement.   

 
67. A review of Cardiff’s Local Development Plan is scheduled to begin in 2020. 

This will provide Cardiff with an opportunity to review its Local Development 

Plan in the light of recent changes, for example, Planning Policy Wales 

Edition 10, the Section 6 Duty of the Environment (Wales) Act and the Well 

Being of Future Generations legislation. It will also allow the Council an 

opportunity to enhance the environmental policies and goals that underpin its 

Local Development Plan.  

 
68. Planning & Biodiversity Forum (10/09/2019) – Following the meeting with 

the representatives from the Planning & Biodiversity Forum, the task group 

concluded that a lack of detail was the biggest weakness in environment 

related planning guidance, meaning that developers were consistently able to 

win on appeal and offer ‘mitigating measures’ to comply with planning 

conditions.  

 
69. Planning & Biodiversity Forum (10/09/2019) – After a discussion Members 

concluded that the Council should focus on measuring tree coverage instead 

of the number of trees in the city. They felt that the environmental benefits of 

established tree coverage were far greater than those provided by newly 

planted trees; which are often provided as an environmental mitigating 

measure. They agreed that accurately measuring Cardiff’s tree coverage 

would be a good future performance indicator.  

 
70. During the task & finish exercise the task group was provided with information 

on a range of features that could be built into new developments to support 

biodiversity, for example, bat bricks and hedgehog holes. The cost of these 

features is relatively small; for example, a single bat brick costs less than £20.   

 

 

Tudalen 125



  Appendix 1 
 

 36

 

 Commitment, Structure & Process: Recommendation 7 – Building 

Biodiversity into Decision Making & Governance – During the task & 

finish exercise several witnesses raised the importance of building 

biodiversity and the Section 6 obligation into Council governance, policy 

documents and the wider decision making process. This would ensure that 

biodiversity becomes a corporate responsibility. Members supported this 

idea and based on the evidence provided recommend the following: 

 

 Recommendation 7 (a) – The Council should build a biodiversity well-

being commitment into Capital Ambition, alongside the other four well-

being objectives.  This would ensure that biodiversity becomes a 

corporate responsibility and policy objective.  

 
 Recommendation 7 (b) - Ask the Cardiff Partnership Board adopt a 

biodiversity well-being objective into its Well-Being Plan.  This would 

help provide consistency in approach for all of Cardiff’s public sector 

organisations who are, by definition, subject to the new responsibilities 

created by Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.  

 
 Recommendation 7 (c) - Build biodiversity and climate change into 

the Council’s decision-making process so that it is considered when all 

decisions are taken. This should include a Well Being, Climate 

Change, Biodiversity & Natural Environment Implications section in all 

Council, Cabinet and Committee reports / papers.  

 
 Recommendation 7 (d) - Build responsibility for biodiversity into the 

key Council business planning documents, for example, Directorate 

Delivery Plan and Personal Review Documents.  This should place 

biodiversity on a similar footing to Equalities and the Welsh language.  

 
 Recommendation 7 (e) - Ensure the Green Infrastructure Plan 

(including the Biodiversity Forward Plan) links into the new well-being 

biodiversity objective, and other relevant cross organisational policies 

at a strategic level, for example, the Local Well-being Plan and Area 

Tudalen 126



  Appendix 1 
 

 37

Statements. 

 
 Recommendation 7 (f) - Appoint a dedicated biodiversity and climate 

change champion to represent the Council. The task group felt that the 

title should be clear enough for the public to instantly understand the 

purpose of the role, for example, the ‘Champion for Nature’ was 

suggested.  The task group felt that the champion should: i) become 

the Council spokesperson for biodiversity and climate change 

announcements;  ii) act as Chair for a re-established Cardiff 

Biodiversity Partnership; iii) have sufficient status within the Council to 

ensure that he or she has regular access to the Cabinet and Senior 

Management; iv) have the support and responsibility to deliver an 

annual biodiversity and climate change report to Cabinet or Full 

Council setting out the progress achieved during the year against a set 

of agreed targets.     

 
 Recommendation 7 (g) - The Council’s biodiversity and climate 

change responsibilities should be built into one Cabinet portfolio to 

ensure clear lines of responsibility and accountability. The range of 

responsibilities are currently split across three Cabinet portfolios; 

Members felt that this division of responsibility created a barrier in 

terms of accountability and delivery.  

 
 Recommendation 7 (h) - Develop a clear and enthusiastic vision for 

maintaining and enhancing biodiversity to ensure a consistent ‘buy-in’ 

from each service. Once established this should be circulated across 

the Council and if possible to all of the other partners on the Cardiff 

Partnership Board.   

 
 Recommendation 7 (i) - The Council should identify and create a 

series of biodiversity and natural environment performance indicators 

that would sit alongside the Biodiversity Forward Plan and feature in 

the Council’s Performance Reporting.  The indicators should be 

meaningful and directly relate to the positive outputs that support 

biodiversity in the city, and should be included in an annual biodiversity 

Tudalen 127



  Appendix 1 
 

 38

and climate change report. 

 
 Recommendation 7 (j) - Identify funding for a dedicated officer to 

support the reincarnation of the Cardiff Biodiversity Partnership.  This 

post could either be held within the Council or delivered by one of its 

partners.  Tasks would include arranging meetings, collating 

information, producing reports and reporting on performance.  Ideally 

the individual would work with the Council and all of its partner bodies. 

 
 Commitment, Structure & Process: Recommendation 8 – Planning 
 

The task group received evidence relating to the planning system and the 

part that it could play in protecting biodiversity and the natural 

environment.  Members shared concerns that development priorities were 

continually being put ahead of nature, with developers regularly 

overturning planning decisions on appeal thanks to insufficiently detailed 

planning guidance. This in turn meant that Cardiff was regularly losing 

valuable pieces of green infrastructure, for example, mature trees, which 

were then replaced by ‘mitigating measures’, for example, saplings. 

Members felt that the cumulative effect of these decisions had been huge 

over the years.  The task group also had concerns about the lack of 

participation by Cardiff with the Planning & Biodiversity Forum, and that 

the Council should do more to ensure that developers did more to support 

biodiversity and the natural environment on new developments. Cardiff’s 

first Local Development Plan review is due to begin in 2020, and this ties 

in neatly with the recently updated Planning Policy Wales review and the 

shift towards all policy linking into the Well Being of Future Generations. 

Members felt that now is a good time to align and improve this suite of 

policies for the long-term benefit of the environment.  Considering the 

summary of planning information above, the task group recommends the 

following: 

 
 Recommendation 8 (a) - Planning & Biodiversity Forum – To date 

Cardiff Council officers have not attended the Planning & Biodiversity 

Forum.  Members felt that this was a missed opportunity, particularly as 

Tudalen 128



  Appendix 1 
 

 39

the direction of travel for supporting the environment has shifted in the 

last twelve months under Planning Policy Wales Edition 10, the 

Environment (Wales) Act and the Well Being of Future Generations. 

The task group, therefore, recommends that an officer from Cardiff 

attends future meetings of the Planning & Biodiversity Forum. They 

also feel that the profile and influence of the Planning & Biodiversity 

Forum would benefit from Elected Member involvement, and so ask the 

Council to approach the group to ask if it could be expanded to include 

councillor representatives from each of the represented local 

authorities.  

 
 Recommendation 8 (b) - Review of Cardiff’s Local Development 

Plan – A review of Cardiff’s Local Development Plan is due to begin in 

2020. Given the importance of recent changes within Planning Policy 

Wales Edition 10, the Section 6 Duty of the Environment (Wales) Act 

and the Well Being of Future Generations legislation, the task group 

recommend that now is an excellent opportunity to enhance the 

environmental policies and goals of Cardiff’s Local Development Plan. 

Strong and detailed environmental policy that link to the Council’s main 

corporate objectives could be used as a ‘hook’ to develop stronger 

supplementary planning guidance, which in turn could provide greater 

protection for Cardiff’s valuable green infrastructure.  

 
 Recommendation 8 (c) - Planning Policy Wales Edition 10 – 

Greater Detail – Following the meeting with the representatives from 

the Planning & Biodiversity Forum, the task group concluded that a 

lack of detail was the biggest weakness in environment related 

planning guidance, meaning that developers were consistently able to 

win on appeal and offer ‘mitigating measures’ to comply with planning 

conditions. The task group asks that the Council raises these concerns 

with Welsh Government, and asks them to increase the level of detail 

around the suite of planning guidance that is used to ensure 

environmental protection.  

 

Tudalen 129



  Appendix 1 
 

 40

 Recommendation 8 (d) - Measuring Tree Coverage – Members 

believe that the Council should focus on measuring tree coverage 

instead of the number of trees in the city. The environmental benefits of 

established tree coverage far outweigh that provided by newly planted 

trees, which are often provided as an environmental mitigating 

measure. As a consequence, the task group recommends that the 

Council should identify a way of accurately measuring Cardiff’s tree 

coverage, and then report on this annually.  

 
 Recommendation 8 (e) - Supporting Nature in new Developments  

 
The task group was provided with information on a range of features 

that can be built into new developments to support biodiversity, for 

example, bat bricks and hedgehog holes. The cost of these features is 

relatively small; for example, a single bat brick costs less than £20.  On 

this basis the task groups recommends that the Council asks 

developers to install nature supporting features on all new build 

properties as standard, and if necessary identify a policy ‘hook’ within 

the new or revised Local Development Plan to use to create 

supplementary planning guidance to support this aim.  

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 130



  Appendix 1 
 

 41

 
Section 4 – Communication & Engagement 
 
 

During the 8 meetings and 14 witness presentations the task group was 

provided with a range of information about communication and engagement 

issues relating to biodiversity and the natural environment.  Some of the key 

points that relate to communication and engagement are set out in this 

section.   

 
71. Councillor Peter Jones, Swansea City Council Presentation (24/07/2019) 

- Members were told that more communication and engagement were key in 

getting people to be more understanding towards biodiversity issues. They 

were told that the message needs to get out there, and that Council service 

areas have to properly engage on the matter.  For example, reducing the 

amount of cutting in parks can help biodiversity, but at the same time it can 

generate lots of complaints from the public.  This is why clean communication 

on what and why the Council is doing is important.  

 
72. Wildlife Trust Presentation (18/06/2019) – The task group was told that it 

was important to raise awareness across the organisation about how 

biodiversity contributes to our well-being.  This would help contribute to the 

Public Health Wales objectives and the Council’s Biodiversity Duty.  

 
73. Wildlife Trust Presentation (18/06/2019) – Commented that good clear 

communication and engagement was essential in changing the public attitude 

towards biodiversity, which is essential to achieve real change. 

Communication and engagement is also vital in helping to give people the 

skills to enjoy the experience of nature.   

 
74. Wild life Trust Presentation (18/06/2019) – When it comes to education it is 

important to catch children when they are young. Local authorities need to 

embrace this idea. It is beneficial to focus education facilities on sites, for 

example, Dow Corning has a very good site reserve that welcomes visitors.  

 

Tudalen 131



  Appendix 1 
 

 42

75. Wildlife Trust Presentation (18/06/2019) - Suggested a list of things to do 

for schools, this included making willow bird feeders; pond dipping; beach 

clean & rock pooling; clay footprints; bug hunts; reptile rambles; bird watching; 

tree identification.  

 
76. Wildlife Trust Presentation (18/06/2019) – The Council should think about 

how enhancing biodiversity can help deliver its services and activities, and not 

just what you may think of as biodiversity activities. Examples of where better 

biodiversity supports Council activities include supporting active recreation, 

education, flood prevention, regeneration and local food growing.  

 
77. Natural Resources Wales Presentation (27/06/2019) – The organisation 

plans to audit biodiversity awareness and action across all departments in 

2019/20. In carrying out this audit it will undertake the following: 

 
 All staff questionnaire; 

 Targeted research and group discussions – particular functions; 

 Recommendations and next steps for training, info and guidance develop 

and role out from 2020 onwards. 

 
78. Giving Nature a Home (RSPB, Bug Life & Plant Life) – Joint Presentation 

(04/07/2019) - The second part of the presentation provided a summary of the 

Giving Nature a Home project that is being delivered in Cardiff.  It explained 

that the Giving Nature a Home is a partnership project delivered by RSPB 

Cymru, Bug Life Cymru and Cardiff Council’s Community Park Rangers. The 

project is supported from funding by the National Lottery Community Fund 

between 2017 to 2022.  Until July 2019 it received additional funding from 

ALDI to deliver the free school outreach programme. The project came to life 

because of a report that found that only one in eight children in Wales have a 

reasonable connection with nature. The project aims to connect children and 

families with nature and support communities to act for nature. Childhood 

experiences of nature have been associated with more positive environmental 

attitudes and behaviours as adults. These aims have been predominantly 

achieved in the following ways:  

 

Tudalen 132



  Appendix 1 
 

 43

 Free Schools Outreach - Since 2017, they have provided 11,599 

connections to nature through our free schools outreach programme for 

primary schools, nurseries and early years settings.  

 
 Events – Since 2017, they have delivered events in Cardiff’s parks, 

libraries, community centres, festivals and fetes to provide 5,955 

connections to nature through a variety of Wild Challenge activities 

including bug hunts, investigating the weather, listening to bird song and 

finding the signs of spring.  

 
 Urban Buzz – They are currently working with 14 groups across Cardiff to 

help them improve their urban green space for pollinators. These sites 

include Llandaff North Allotments, the National Assembly, Rumney Hub 

and Llanishen Fach Primary School. There are 100 Urban Buzz sites in 

Cardiff and the scheme supports pollinators, training and workshops. 

Urban Buzz is working in eight cities across the United Kingdom.  

 
 Volunteering – They provide numerous opportunities for volunteers to get 

involved with the project from independently delivering schools outreach 

sessions to supporting long-term internships for those looking to gain 

relevant employment skills. They also run family volunteering sessions 

where they provide the opportunity for families to complete practical 

conservation tasks either in Cardiff’s parks or at Urban Buzz sites.  

 
 A ‘connection to nature’ is measured as a minimum of 30-minute hands on 

experience with nature. In addition, the Giving Nature a Home in Cardiff 

project is working with several other key groups to help connect 

communities in Cardiff with wildlife.  

 
 The Giving Nature a Home in Cardiff project has been a partner on the 

Glamorgan Bird Club’s swift project with Cardiff Council’s harbour authority 

to install a swift tower at Cardiff Bay and run an annual swift survey. This 

year they have 30-40 people taking part in the survey.  

 

Tudalen 133



  Appendix 1 
 

 44

 The project is also working with Cardiff Council’s Flat Holm: A walk 

through time project to help connect communities in Cardiff with the 

natural heritage of this unique island which is so close to the city.    

 
 The Giving Nature a Home in Cardiff project has confirmed funding until 

2022 to continue to deliver the above, however, there are numerous other 

ways that biodiversity can be improved in the city for future generations.  

 
79. Councillor Peter Jones, Swansea City Council Presentation (24/07/2019) 

– Change involves explaining to people what we are doing and why we are 

doing it. The expectations of people need to change and education is a key 

part of that. Some authorities have explained the changes as they go along, 

for example, not cutting sections of parks or highway verges – complaints at 

the outset are inevitable.  

 
 
 
 Communication & Engagement: Recommendation 9 - Embed New 

Biodiversity Well Being Objective 

 
The Council should embed the new biodiversity well-being objective into 

the organisation by developing and delivering relevant training to all 

Council staff.  Suggested examples of how to do this include: 

 
 Through the use of e-learning, various staff communications and staff 

questionnaires; 

 Building the new biodiversity well-being objective into the Personal 

Development Review (PDR) process; 

 Targeted research and group discussions – particular functions. 

It should also encourage other public organisations to roll out similar 

training within their organisations.  

 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 134



  Appendix 1 
 

 45

 
 Communication & Engagement: Recommendation 10 - Promote the 

Council’s Drive to Support Biodiversity 

 
Make information available to the public to encourage participation and 

understanding, for example, by publishing information on the Council 

webpages; sharing information with partner organisations and other key 

stakeholders; communicating the message through social media and 

running wider communications promotions.    

 
 Communication & Engagement: Recommendation 11 - Regular 

Liaison Meetings 

 
Invite environmental voluntary groups and Community Council 

representatives to attend regular liaison meetings – these could link into 

Cardiff Biodiversity Partnership meetings to ensure that all parties are kept 

informed.  The meetings would allow them to access additional support to 

specialist advice from relevant officers. 

 
 Communication & Engagement: Recommendation 12 - Schools & 

Governors  

 
Create environmental link Governors on school governing bodies who can 

take relevant information and projects to their school. Encourage better 

use of school grounds and local wildlife sites for biodiversity. 

 
 Communication & Engagement:  Recommendation 13 - Mandatory 

Biodiversity Training for Members  

 
The Council should introduce mandatory Member training to improve 

knowledge on biodiversity and the natural environment.   

 
 Communication & Engagement: Recommendation 14 - Dedicated 

Outdoor Learning Officer – The Council should either employ a 

dedicated outdoor learning officer, or identify funding to deliver this role 

and designate responsibility to a third party with existing experience to 

Tudalen 135



  Appendix 1 
 

 46

deliver this work. This would provide tailored support, training and delivery 

to enable Cardiff schools to: 

 
 Fully realise the potential of outdoor learning;  

 Deliver educational and wellbeing benefits from the varied natural 

resources that Cardiff possesses.   

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 136



  Appendix 1 
 

 47

 

Section 5 – Baseline & Focus 
 

 

During the 8 meetings and 14 witness presentations the task group was 

provided with some information about the importance of accurately 

establishing baseline data for monitoring biodiversity levels in Cardiff. They 

were told that having a good understanding of the current position would 

place the Council in a position to focus resources to the best effect. Some of 

the key points of that relate to baseline and focus are set out in this section.   

 
80. SEWBReC Presentation (03/07/2019) - The Council should be making 

decisions and plans based on the best available evidence, and contributing to 

our body of knowledge where possible, for example, by supporting citizen-

science initiatives.  It is important to link this in with existing evidence sources.   

 
81. Councillor Comment - During one of the meetings a Member stated that it is 

important to understand what you have, because without knowing this how 

can you direct effort and resource to address the problem. 

 
82. SEWBReC Presentation (03/07/2019) - South East Wales Biodiversity 

Records Centre (SEWBReC) is the centre for the collation, management and 

dissemination of biodiversity data for South East Wales. Their aim is to make 

appropriate local biodiversity information available to all those who need it, to 

help ensure that decisions which affect local biodiversity are made using best 

available data. They achieve this aim by: 

 
 Observation & Identification - Supporting the local biological recording 

community and helping them to manage and mobilise the wealth of 

information they gather. 

 
 Collaboration - Working with a wide range of organisations (from Welsh 

Government departments to Wildlife Trusts) to collate and computerise the 

data they hold. SEWBReC spends a significant amount of time working 

with volunteer groups. 

Tudalen 137



  Appendix 1 
 

 48

 
 Building Evidence - Collating and managing these diverse data sets in a 

central location. SEWBReC currently holds over three million species 

records and are constantly working to improve the quality and quantity of 

our data holdings. All evidence / data recorded on the SEWBReC 

database is, in statistical terms, independently verified.  

 
 Building Skills - Delivering a range of innovative and tailored biodiversity 

information products, training and services to meet the needs of its users. 

 
83. SEWBReC Presentation (03/07/2019) - SEWBReC is one of four 

environmental records centres in Wales – between them they provide 100% 

coverage across all of Wales. No other part of the United Kingdom is able to 

provide this level of coverage (Scotland, England and Northern Ireland only 

average 75% coverage). Welsh Government is very keen on the development 

and growth of a good evidence base to support the protection and recovery of 

biodiversity across Wales.  

 
84. SEWBReC Presentation (03/07/2019) - Having access to, and making use 

of, the best available biodiversity evidence base is likely to be considered 

essential when Welsh Government judge performance of public bodies 

against the requirements of Section 6 of the Environment Act (Wales) 2016. 

 
85. SEWBReC Presentation (03/07/2019) - The SEWBReC database could be 

used as a part of the planning process to quickly and easily identify the types 

of species that are within the vicinity of a proposed planning application.  It 

could also be used to check / verify independent ecological reports that 

developers commission as a part of the planning process.  Access to the 

SEWBReC database would provide the Council with the most comprehensive 

source of information on biodiversity in Wales (and Cardiff). Better 

understanding how and where there are biodiversity issues would provide the 

Council with an opportunity to direct its limited resources to areas that most 

need / benefit from support.  

 
86. SEWBReC Presentation (03/07/2019) - A full SLA with SEWBReC would 

cost the Council between £8,000 and £10,000 per annum. This should be a 

Tudalen 138



  Appendix 1 
 

 49

long-term, sustainably-funded arrangement. Cardiff is the most reported 

against area on the SEWBReC system - the Council doesn’t currently 

subscribe to or use the service.  

 
87. SEWBReC Presentation (03/07/2019) - SEWBReC is the best evidence 

source for biodiversity and the natural environment in the South East Wales 

region, therefore, it is the best tool to establish a baseline for biodiversity and 

the natural environment in the area.  

 
 

 Baseline & Focus: Recommendation 15 – SEWBReC Service Level 

Agreement 

 
The Council should enter into a service level agreement with the South 

East Wales Biodiversity Records Centre (SEWBReC) for 2019/20 and 

beyond. This would provide the Council with the best available data on 

local biodiversity, so that the Council is better informed about the natural 

resources that it has, and at the same time is in a good position to allocate 

its limited resources into the area of most need.  

 
 Baseline & Focus: Recommendation 16 – Ward Based Mapping 

 
Complete and publicise a ward mapping exercise. This would provide 

each ward and the Councillors with information specific to that ward. It 

would include information about important species, protected sites and 

other relevant ecological information as well as potential opportunities for 

improving biodiversity within the ward. This could be developed using 

information from the SEWBReC database.  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 139



  Appendix 1 
 

 50

 

Section 6 – Best Practice & Practical Applications 
 

 

During the 8 meetings and 14 witness presentations the task group was 

provided with some information on best practice and practical applications 

that can be used to support biodiversity and the natural environment. Some of 

the key points of that relate to best practice and practical application are set 

out in this section.   

 
 Connectivity 
 

88. Several organisations stressed the importance of maintaining and supporting 

connectivity; this would allow the movement of wildlife and plant life between 

areas and support diversity and growth. Comments made in relation to 

connectivity included: 

 
 Councillor Comment – A Councillor provided information on a seven-mile 

long “bee corridor” of wildflowers that Brent Council is growing in an effort 

to boost the numbers of pollinating insects. They are sowing 22 wildflower 

meadows in the borough’s parks and open spaces, which together will 

form 50,000sq m of new flowering spaces and stretch seven miles in 

length. It is the first initiative of its kind in London. Brent council announced 

its bee corridor plans just after a major UN report detailed the devastating 

impact humans are continuing to have on the natural world. The 

Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem 

Services (IPBES) said wild mammals had declined by 82 per cent since 

1980, space for natural ecosystems had halved, more than 97 per cent of 

the UK’s wildflower meadows had disappeared and one million species 

were now at risk of extinction because of human action. Insect pollinators 

are vital for the maintenance of ecosystem health and for global food 

security. Insects are required to maintain the existence of 75 per cent of 

crop species, 35 per cent of global crop production and up to 88 per cent 

of flowering plant species. 

Tudalen 140



  Appendix 1 
 

 51

 Giving Nature a Home (RSPB, Bug Life & Plant Life) – Joint 

Presentation (04/07/2019) - The Giving Nature a Home group stressed 

that the connectivity of habitats and sites across Cardiff (and wider) was 

essential for many species as it provides dispersal routes and access to 

areas to breed, shelter, over-winter and forage. This is particularly 

important in cities and other built up areas where roads, building and other 

infrastructure can pose barriers for wildlife. They suggested that making 

connectivity corridors created opportunities including: i)  promoting the 

growth of wildflower verges; ii) protecting and creating connected areas of 

habitat; ii) building wildlife friendly measures into new and renovated 

building developments. 

 
 Giving Nature a Home (RSPB, Bug Life & Plant Life) – Joint 

Presentation (04/07/2019) - The Giving Nature a Home group suggested 

that the Council and its partners should investigate where there may be 

disused space in the form of disused railways, roads or even private back 

gardens that can be used to ensure that Cardiff’s green spaces are well 

connected.  This would involve a mapping exercise. 

 
 Giving Nature a Home (RSPB, Bug Life & Plant Life) – Joint 

Presentation (04/07/2019) - The Giving Nature a Home group suggested 

that the Council should adopt a landscape-scale approach to pollinator 

conservation. In 2012, Buglife and a range or partner organisations 

established the ‘B-Lines’ initiative. B-Lines are effectively opportunity 

maps, identifying key areas where habitat connectivity can have the 

greatest impact for pollinators. B-Lines have been mapped for all of Wales 

and could be utilised by Cardiff Council to identify and prioritise areas for 

habitat connectivity across the city. 

 
 Giving Nature a Home (RSPB, Bug Life & Plant Life) – Joint 

Presentation (04/07/2019) - Hedgehog Highways - The Giving Nature a 

Home group felt that it was important that all new builds and existing 

properties should create hedgehog highways by cutting a small 13cm x 

13cm hole in garden fences to allow hedgehogs to travel to feed and mate. 

 

Tudalen 141



  Appendix 1 
 

 52

 Cardiff Council Presentation (23/04/2019) - In complying with subsection 

Section 6 of the Environment Wales Act, a public authority must take 

account of the resilience of ecosystems, in particular the following aspects: 

 
 Diversity between and within ecosystems; 
 
 The connections between and within ecosystems; 

 
 The scale of ecosystems; 

 
 The condition of ecosystems (including their structure and functioning); 

 
 The adaptability of ecosystems. 

 
 Giving Nature a Home (RSPB, Bug Life & Plant Life) – Joint 

Presentation (04/07/2019) – Identified protecting and creating connected 

areas of habitat as a quick win opportunity that could be achieved with 

limited resources.  

 
 Supporting & Developing Habitats 
 

89. Some of the witnesses emphasised the importance of protecting existing and 

developing new habitats in Cardiff.  Comments and suggestions relating to 

protecting and developing new habitats included:   

 
 Welsh Government Presentation (18/06/2019) - Support the creation of 

new habitats, such as local orchards, native hedges, wildflower meadows 

or other areas of wildlife-friendly green space that is accessible to local 

communities – either on your own land, or in partnership with others – this 

could be linked to green infrastructure strategies. 

 
 CLAS Cymru (03/07/2019) – Explained that it was important for the 

Council to provide support for the development of community managed 

spaces. If the Council did this then CLAS Cymru could provide policy 

perspective and a link to the type of tools that can be accessed to develop 

such schemes. 90% of the schemes that they support rely on wildlife to 

make them work. 

 

Tudalen 142



  Appendix 1 
 

 53

 CLAS Cymru (03/07/2019) - ‘Social Farms & Gardens’ describe creating 

‘a haven for wildlife’ as a priority in most schemes. They made reference 

to ‘The Earth Friendly Garden’ which explained that ‘our gardens can be a 

haven for wildlife, provide food, reduce carbon emissions, bring people 

together and make us healthier and happier!’  They identified a number of 

features that they like to see in gardens, including: rain water harvesting; 

composting; healthy no dig soil; mulch; plants for pollinators; bees; insect 

hotel; compost loo; a pond; forest garden planting; wild edges; people 

working, relaxing and playing together; growing from seed in peat free 

compos; reusing pots; fresh organic local food; permaculture principles; 

reusing pallets; natural predators controlling pests. 

 
 CLAS Cymru (03/07/2019) – They provided information on pocket parks 

and made specific reference to Northampton’s Pocket Parks. Pocket Parks 

are local public green spaces that are owned, looked after and cherished 

by local communities for peaceful enjoyment and the protection of wildlife. 

From the early 1980s to 2015 Northamptonshire County Council worked in 

partnership with other organisations and local authorities to help local 

volunteer groups create over 70 Pocket Parks across Northamptonshire 

for people to enjoy.  The pocket parks can vary in size from 0.04 hectares 

to 35 hectares and are found in all types of locations from town centres to 

quiet villages. 

 
 CLAS Cymru (03/07/2019) – They provided the task group with a case 

study that looked at Newtown Green Spaces. Newtown and Llanllwchaiarn 

Town Council transferred 130 acres of land into community ownership in a 

99-year lease to community land trust Open Newtown.  Town Councillor 

Richard Edwards, said: "This project started after a consultation with 

residents that highlighted how important the green spaces and parks are 

as a place for leisure and recreation; a space for nature and a means to 

promote health and wellbeing, with most residents saying they made use 

of green spaces frequently. Wishing to protect and enhance the open 

spaces the council led a call for action, enabling the community to come 

together to form Open Newtown."  

Tudalen 143



  Appendix 1 
 

 54

 
 Wildlife Trust Presentation (18/06/2019) – Wild Gardening - Witnesses 

explained that Cardiff’s private gardens were an excellent resource for 

nature. Members were told that if the Council and its partners could help to 

promote wild gardening and its benefits to the public, then this would be a 

big boost to biodiversity and the natural environment in the city.  

 
 Community Growing 

 
90. Community Growing Policy - Some witnesses mentioned the benefits that 

could be produced by developing a community growing policy. The comments 

and suggestions that relate this are set out below:  

 
 CLAS Cymru (03/07/2019) – Provided the ‘Monmouthshire Community 

Growing Policy’ as an example of good practice in terms of getting the 

community to grow more produce whilst supporting nature.  The 

Monmouthshire policy was created to allow the Council to make 

underutilised land in its ownership available for the community to grow 

food. This demand has been created through the lack of available 

allotment space, prevailing economic conditions and the need to develop 

more resilient communities. Monmouthshire County Council developed a 

policy and license that allows the use of small bits of council owned land to 

grow food on. They have done this to support and promote the ‘Incredible 

Edible’ movement. This is where groups of people get together to grow 

produce on easily accessible land – then the produce can be taken away 

freely by anyone not just those who have worked to make the produce 

grow. Monmouthshire is the first Council in Wales to have such a policy. 

There are hundreds of groups doing this throughout the world. 

 
 Verge Cutting & Wildflower Planting 

 
91. Roadside Verge Cutting & Wildflower Planting - Witnesses emphasised 

the importance of proper roadside verge cutting and wildflower planting. Some 

of the comments and suggestions that relate this are set out below:  

 

Tudalen 144



  Appendix 1 
 

 55

 Councillor Comment – A Councillor provided information on a seven-mile 

long “bee corridor” of wildflowers that Brent Council is growing in an effort 

to boost the numbers of pollinating insects. They are sowing 22 wildflower 

meadows in the borough’s parks and open spaces, which together will 

form 50,000sq m of new flowering spaces and stretch seven miles in 

length. It is the first initiative of its kind in London. Brent council announced 

its bee corridor plans just after a major UN report detailed the devastating 

impact humans are continuing to have on the natural world. The 

Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem 

Services (IPBES) said wild mammals had declined by 82 per cent since 

1980, space for natural ecosystems had halved, more than 97 per cent of 

the UK’s wildflower meadows had disappeared and one million species 

were now at risk of extinction because of human action. Insect pollinators 

are vital for the maintenance of ecosystem health and for global food 

security. Insects are required to maintain the existence of 75 per cent of 

crop species, 35 per cent of global crop production and up to 88 per cent 

of flowering plant species. 

 
 Giving Nature a Home (RSPB, Bug Life & Plant Life) – Joint 

Presentation (04/07/2019) - The Giving Nature a Home group stressed the 

importance of promoting wildflower verges and creating designated wild 

areas. They explained that globally we need to help create and protect 

pollinator friendly habitats to reverse the monumental decline of insect 

populations. A recent and high-profile report, found that more than 40% of 

insect species are declining and the rate of extinction is eight times faster 

than that of mammals, birds and reptiles. 

 
 Giving Nature a Home (RSPB, Bug Life & Plant Life) – Joint 

Presentation (04/07/2019) - The Giving Nature a Home group explained 

that the Council needed to reduce the amount of mowing of verges and 

other areas where possible. Verges should only be cut in the early spring 

and in the early autumn, after the seeds have dispersed.  

 
 Giving Nature a Home (RSPB, Bug Life & Plant Life) – Joint 

Presentation (04/07/2019) - The Giving Nature a Home group suggested 

Tudalen 145



  Appendix 1 
 

 56

that the Council should consider investing in cut and collect machinery to 

reduce fertility, reduce the amount of vegetation and its composition. This 

could be enhanced further by seeding with Yellow Rattle to reduce 

dominance by grasses and produce lower and more floristic swards. 

 
 Giving Nature a Home (RSPB, Bug Life & Plant Life) – Joint 

Presentation (04/07/2019) - Plant Life has been asked to re-write the 

highway verge cutting process and approach for Cardiff’s Highway Asset 

Management Plan.  Members thought that this was a positive thing and 

asked if they could see a copy of this once it is completed.  Dorset Council 

is an example of a local authority that has taken the verge cutting approach 

advocated by Plant Life, i.e. they have stopped cutting verges intensively. 

This change was described as relatively straight forward.  

 
 Giving Nature a Home (RSPB, Bug Life & Plant Life) – Joint 

Presentation (04/07/2019) - The Giving Nature a Home group explained 

that it was important to restore meadows or create new ones. They then 

referenced the Cardiff Meadows Project that aims to provide essential 

habitat for threatened pollinators and declining mammals such as 

hedgehogs.  The Cardiff Civic Society is running the scheme in 

partnership with Cardiff Council. 

 
 Giving Nature a Home (RSPB, Bug Life & Plant Life) – Joint 

Presentation (04/07/2019) – Identified promoting the growth of wildflower 

verges as a quick win opportunity that could be achieved with limited 

resources. 

 
 Biodiversity Friendly Buildings 

 
92. Biodiversity Friendly Buildings - Witnesses emphasised the importance of 

biodiversity friendly buildings. Some of the comments and suggestions that 

relate this are set out below:  

 
 Giving Nature a Home (RSPB, Bug Life & Plant Life) – Joint 

Presentation (04/07/2019) - The Giving Nature a Home group stated that 

Tudalen 146



  Appendix 1 
 

 57

a range of buildings infrastructure would support biodiversity in Cardiff and 

make the city a more pleasant and innovative city. For example, green 

roofs, green walls, sustainable urban drainage, planting more trees and 

creating low nutrient habitats that avoid the use of imported topsoil would 

make Cardiff a more pleasant and innovative city. Green roofs act as a 

carbon sink and helps a property adapt to weather in the winter and 

summer. They can be used to foster quite important habitats. 

 
 Giving Nature a Home (RSPB, Bug Life & Plant Life) – Joint 

Presentation (04/07/2019) – The Council should promote the retro-fitting 

of existing buildings to install green roofs and ensure that, where possible, 

all new builds should have a green roof incorporated.  Bug Life has 

produced a comprehensive guide of how to install a green roof called 

‘Creating a Green Roof for Invertebrates – A Best Practice Guide’.   

 
 Giving Nature a Home (RSPB, Bug Life & Plant Life) – Joint 

Presentation (04/07/2019) - Ensure that building new homes need not to 

be at the expense of the natural world by ensuring that all new builds 

retain greenspaces, allow for habitat connectivity, for example, through 

hedges, trees and hedgehog highways, water, installing bat and swift 

boxes as standard. 

 
 Giving Nature a Home (RSPB, Bug Life & Plant Life) – Joint 

Presentation (04/07/2019) – Identified building wildlife friendly measures 

into new and renovated building developments.as a quick win opportunity 

that could be achieved with limited resources.  

 
 Tree Planting 

 
93. Councillor Peter Jones – Tree Planting - Provided an example of when they 

door knocked in a relatively affluent area in his ward – they offered residents 

an opportunity to have a mature tree planted outside their property for £56, 

and a staggering number of people agreed to pay up. They are trying to use 

the community budget to plant trees in less affluent areas.  

 

Tudalen 147



  Appendix 1 
 

 58

 

 Best Practice & Practical Applications: Recommendation 17 – 

Connectivity – Improving connectivity of habitat across Cardiff represents 

a big step towards enhancing biodiversity in the city. Section 6 of the 

Environment Wales Act states that a public authority must take account of 

the resilience of ecosystems, and makes specific reference to maintaining 

‘connections between and within ecosystems’. Organisations such as the 

RSPB, Bug Life and Plant Life also advocate enhancing connectivity, while 

Councils such as Brent are running projects to improve nature 

connectivity. Members support this idea and recommend that the Council 

works with partner organisations and volunteer groups to: 

 
 Recommendation 17 (a) - Adopt a landscape-scale approach to 

pollinator conservation, i.e. to look at the challenges that biodiversity 

and supporting ecosystems face across a wide area.  This should 

involve working with partner organisations and volunteers to map 

nature connectivity so that it can identify how best to improve 

connectivity across the city. A good starting point would be to use the 

Cardiff ‘B-Lines’ data that was established in 2012, and to map out 

disused space, for example, abandoned railway lines.  

 
 Recommendation 17 (b) - Where connectivity gaps are identified, the 

Council should work with partners and volunteer groups to establish 

localised projects to bridge the gaps.  Suggested projects or 

approaches include promoting the growth of wildflower verges and 

building wildlife friendly measures into new and renovated building 

developments.  

 
 Recommendation 17 (c) - The Council should work with property 

developers and the wider community to better support hedgehog 

highways.  This would involve cutting 13cm x 13cm holes in garden 

walls and fences to allow hedgehogs to travel, feed and mate. 

 
 
 

 

Tudalen 148



  Appendix 1 
 

 59

 
 Best Practice & Practical Applications: Recommendation 18 - 

Supporting & Developing Habitats 

 
The task group received lots of evidence that highlighted significant habitat 

decline, which in turn has had a negative impact on ecosystems and 

biodiversity.  Reversing this trend requires developing more and 

supporting existing habitats, and witnesses such as the Welsh 

Government and CLAS Cymru identified a number of practical actions that 

they felt would help enhance natural habitats in Cardiff.  Based on the 

comments made during the task & finish exercise the task group 

recommends that the Council: 

 
 Recommendation 18 (a) - Create Accessible New Habitats – The 

Council should support the creation of new habitats, such as local 

orchards, native hedges, wildflower meadows or other areas of wildlife-

friendly green space that is accessible to local communities. This can 

either be done on Council land or in partnership with other 

organisations. This approach should be built into Cardiff’s Green 

Infrastructure Strategy.   

 
 Recommendation 18 (b) - Community Managed Spaces – The 

Council should provide support for the development of community 

managed spaces. If the Council did this then CLAS Cymru could 

provide policy perspective and a link to the type of tools that can be 

accessed to develop such schemes. 90% of community managed 

spaces that are supported by CLAS Cymru rely on and support wildlife. 

Features that are common to community managed spaces include rain 

water harvesting; composting; healthy no dig soil; mulch; plants for 

pollinators; bees; insect hotels; compost toilets; ponds; forest garden 

planting; wild edges; fresh organic local food and natural predators for 

controlling pests. 

 
 
 
 

Tudalen 149



  Appendix 1 
 

 60

 
 Best Practice & Practical Applications: Recommendation 19 - 

Community Growing 

 
The ‘Monmouthshire Community Growing Policy’ was cited to Members as 

an example of good practice in terms of getting the community to grow 

more produce while supporting nature.  It was created to allow the Council 

to make underutilised land in its ownership available for the community to 

grow food. This demand has been created through the lack of available 

allotment space, prevailing economic conditions and the need to develop 

more resilient communities. Monmouthshire County Council developed a 

policy and license that allows the use of small bits of Council owned land 

to grow food on. The creation and roll out of this policy has supported the 

‘Incredible Edible’ movement, i.e. where groups of people get together to 

grow produce on easily accessible land and the produce can be taken 

away freely by anyone not just those who have worked to make the 

produce grow.  The task group like this policy, and feel that the community 

growing approach produces added benefits for local biodiversity. They 

recommend that Cardiff follows suit by creating and publishing a 

community growing policy.  

 
 Best Practice & Practical Applications: Recommendation 20 - Verge 

Cutting & Wildflower Planting 

 
The task group received evidence on the importance of proper roadside 

verge cutting and wildflower planting. They provide a much needed space 

for nature, enhance local ecosystems, support connectivity, are very 

beneficial to pollinators and can be very cost effective to deliver.  Based on 

the evidence provided the task group recommends that:  

 
 Recommendation 20 (a) - Highway Verge Cutting Process – Plant 

Life explained that they have been asked by the Council to re-write its 

Highway verge cutting process.  This has worked well in Dorset where 

they have stopped cutting verges as intensively, and has benefited 

local biodiversity. The task group recommends that the Council follows 

Tudalen 150



  Appendix 1 
 

 61

this approach, ensuring that service areas and contractors are made to 

follow the new process.  

 
 Recommendation 20 (b) - Highway Verge & Wildflower Areas 

Connectivity – In conjunction with Recommendation 17, the task 

group recommend that highway verges and wildflower areas should be 

included into connectivity mapping. Where possible, the Council should 

also identify new pieces of land that are suitable for wildflower planting 

and work with volunteer or community groups to develop these areas, 

for example, in a similar way to the scheme that is being developed 

with the Cardiff Civic Society.  

 
 Best Practice & Practical Applications: Recommendation 21 - 

Biodiversity Friendly Buildings 

 
During the task & finish exercise witnesses emphasised the importance of 

biodiversity friendly buildings in urban areas.  They provide a valuable 

habitat for nature, are able to act as a carbon sink, help buildings adapt to 

seasonal weather changes and are generally cost effective to deliver. It is 

also felt that they can make cities feel more pleasant and innovative.  

Examples of features included in biodiversity friendly buildings include 

green roofs, green walls, sustainable urban drainage and planted trees.  

Given the wider decline in natural habitats, Members recommend that the 

Council should do more to encourage the development of biodiversity 

friendly buildings in Cardiff. This could be done by: 

 
 Talking to developers, local architects and surveyors about the benefits 

of the features of biodiversity friendly buildings;  

 Promoting the approach and providing advice through the planning 

process;  

 Documenting good practice and advice on delivering such schemes into 

planning guidance or policy, for example, including relevant information 

into supplementary planning guidance;  

 Taking a lead in developing biodiversity friendly features on Council 

buildings and promoting the benefits of this approach.  

Tudalen 151



  Appendix 1 
 

 62

 
 Best Practice & Practical Applications: Recommendation 22 - Tree 

Planting 

 
Tacking climate change means that we will have to find effective ways of 

removing carbon dioxide from the atmosphere. The simplest and most 

effective way to do this is to plant trees, as they store carbon dioxide 

naturally. When Councillor Peter Jones from Swansea addressed the task 

group in July, he explained that he and a few colleagues had decided to 

knock some doors in the ward that he represented to find out if local 

residents would like the opportunity to have a mature tree planted outside 

their property for £56. He was staggered by the response, with a large 

number of people agreeing to pay for a tree. Members were encouraged 

by this proactive approach, and felt that there was merit to replicating a 

similar scheme in Cardiff.  The task group recommends that the Council 

works with Elected Members, partner organisations, volunteer groups and 

the public to develop a ‘Plant a Tree Scheme’.  The scheme could 

encourage the public to buy trees, and help to identify funding to pay for or 

offset the cost of the trees. In turn this would reduce Cardiff’s carbon 

footprint, contribute to Cardiff’s climate change emergency agenda and 

help increase tree coverage across the city.   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 152



  Appendix 1 
 

 63

 
WITNESSES TO THE INQUIRY  

 

94. During the inquiry the task group was grateful to the following witnesses who 

provided support, verbal evidence or written contributions: 

 
 Councillor Michael Michael - Cabinet Member for Clean Streets, Recycling 

& Environment  

 Councillor Caro Wild - Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning & Transport 

 Councillor Peter Bradbury - Cabinet Member for Culture & Leisure 

 James Clemence - Head of Planning 

 Simon Gilbert - Operational Manager, Development Management 

(Strategic & Place Making) 

 Caryn Le Roux – Welsh Government 

 Geoff Robinson – Welsh Government 

 Matthew Harris – Ecologist, Planning, Transport & Environment 

Directorate 

 Nicola Hutchinson - Parks Conservation Officer, Parks Services 

 Kerry Rogers - Conservation Manager, Wildlife Trust 

 Mark Tozer, Parks Development Officer, Parks Services 

 Alan Abel - Complete Weed Control Limited 

 Heather Galliford – Natural Resources Wales 

 Geoff Hobbs – Natural Resources Wales 

 Adam Rowe - South East Wales Biodiversity Records Centre (SEWBReC) 

 Lucie Taylor - CLAS Cymru 

 Colin Cheesman – Plant Life 

 Clare Dinham – Bug Life 

 Jazz Austin – RSPB 

 Councillor Peter Jones – Swansea City Council 

 Siobhan Wiltshire - Welsh Government 

 Jo Smith – Welsh Government 

 

 

 

Tudalen 153



  Appendix 1 
 

 64

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 

95. The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and 

recommend but not to make policy decisions.  As the recommendations in this 

report are to consider and review matters there are no direct legal 

implications.  However, legal implications may arise if and when the matters 

under review are implemented with or without modification.  Any report with 

recommendations for decision that goes to Cabinet / Council will set out any 

legal implications arising from those recommendations.  All decisions taken by 

or on behalf of the Council must (a) be within the legal power of the Council; 

(b) comply with any procedural requirement imposed by law; (c) be within the 

powers of the body or person exercising powers on behalf of the Council; (d) 

be undertaken in accordance with the procedural requirements imposed by 

the Council e.g. standing orders and financial regulations; (e) be fully and 

properly informed; (f) be properly motivated; (g) be taken having regard to the 

Council's fiduciary duty to its taxpayers; and (h) be reasonable and proper in 

all the circumstances. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 154



  Appendix 1 
 

 65

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 

96. The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and 

recommend but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in this 

report are to consider and review matters there are no direct financial 

implications at this stage in relation to any of the work programme. However, 

financial implications may arise if and when the matters under review are 

implemented with or without any modifications. Any report with 

recommendations for decision that goes to Cabinet/Council will set out any 

financial implications arising from those recommendations. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Scrutiny Services, Cardiff Council, 

Room 263, County Hall, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff CF10 4UW 

Tel: 029 2087 3606 

Email: scrutinyviewpoints@cardiff.gov.uk 

www.cardiff.gov.uk/scrutiny 

© 2019 City of Cardiff Council 

Tudalen 155



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 

 1 

Ref: RDB/RP/CW/12.09.2019 
 
12 September 2019 
 
Councillor Caro Wild, 
Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning & Transport, 
County Hall, 
Atlantic Wharf, 
Cardiff CF10 4UW. 
 
Dear Councillor Wild, 
 
Biodiversity & Resilience of Ecosystems (BRED) Forward Plan 
 
As you will be aware the Environmental Scrutiny Committee is currently in the 

process of finishing off a task & finish exercise titled ‘Managing Biodiversity & 

Natural Environment in Cardiff’.  As a part of this work they received a 

presentation on the ‘Cardiff Green Infrastructure Plan’ on the 27th June 2019; 

this document was structured around the ‘Green Infrastructure Plan’ and the 

‘Biodiversity & Resilience of Ecosystems Duty Action Plan’.    

 
Members are aware that Cabinet is due to receive a paper titled ‘Biodiversity 

& Resilience of Ecosystems (BRED) Duty’ at its meeting on the 26th 

September 2019.  As this refers to the ‘Cardiff Green Infrastructure Plan’ they 

have asked me to write to you in advance of this meeting to provide feedback, 

comments and observations on the content of the document. These are set 

out below: 

 
 Members are supportive of the publication of the ‘Cardiff Green 

Infrastructure Plan’. They believe that it will act as an important co-

ordinating document that will help the Council and its partners to deliver a 

wide range to vital biodiversity projects, and in doing so contribute towards 

wider well-being objectives. They particularly welcome the introduction of 

the ‘Biodiversity & Resilience of Ecosystems Duty Action Plan’ that 

contains information on projects being delivered in Cardiff to help meet this 

objective.  

 
 The Biodiversity & Resilience of Ecosystems (BRED) Duty Action Plan 

includes a table called the ‘Green Infrastructure Implementation 

Tudalen 157



 

 2 

Programme 2016 to 2019’.  This table includes a number of columns 

including ‘Action’ and ‘Delivery focus’ that are designed to explain what the 

projects are and how they will be delivered.  Members agreed that the 

structure of the table was sound; however, the key columns lacked detail. 

They felt that each project documented in the table required: 

 
 A detailed explanation of what the project involved;  

 A starting point for the basis of the work;  

 An explanation on reporting and monitoring for the project;    

 The aims and objectives for the project;  

 Who would be responsible for the delivery of the project;  

 Detail of the resources available to support the project.  
 

 After reviewing the ‘Biodiversity & Resilience of Ecosystems Duty Action 

Plan’, it became clear how important the contribution of volunteers and 

partnership working was to the delivery of the projects.  Volunteer 

contributions do not happen by accident, they need the Council and other 

key partners to provide support and resource.  It is not obvious from this 

document how support and resources will be made available to ensure 

that the projects are delivered.  Members believe that if the Council is 

serious about delivering the volunteer projects, then it needs to confirm the 

support and resources that will be available to deliver each project. 

 
 To support the delivery of the ‘Cardiff Green Infrastructure Plan’, the 

Members recommend that the Council should re-establish the Cardiff 

Biodiversity Partnership. This group could be tasked with overseeing the 

delivery of the projects contained within the ‘Biodiversity & Resilience of 

Ecosystems Duty Action Plan’, and could provide Cabinet with regular 

updates. Some Members felt that the title of the group could be changed 

to ‘Partnership for Nature’ to better define its purpose, and that the 

partnership could be chaired by a Council appointed nature and 

biodiversity champion.  

 
 Section 3.2.3 of the ‘Green Infrastructure Plan’ makes reference to urban 

‘brownfield’ habitats and the importance that these can have on supporting 

Tudalen 158



 

 3 

biodiversity in Cardiff. Given the pressure to develop ‘brownfield’ sites in 

the city, Members would like to understand what the Council can do in 

practical terms to support the range of biodiversity that relies upon these 

sites.  

 
 Section 3.3.4 of the ‘Green Infrastructure Plan’ makes reference to a 

various forms of green infrastructure and the mitigating impact that these 

can have against climate change; this includes an acknowledgement of 

the contribution that trees can make. Members support this, however, feel 

that the document should go further and highlight current and potential 

future policies that the Council can use to protect and enhance tree 

coverage in Cardiff.   

 
 Section 3.1.1 of the document makes reference to the six objectives of the 

‘Green Infrastructure Plan’, these are: 

 Protecting the natural environment;  

 Protecting people and places;  

 Supporting the local economy;  

 Improving health;  

 Creating opportunities for people;  

 Enhancing local character and sense of place.  

 
Members welcome the creation of these objectives, however, recommend 

that the document sets out who will be responsible for each of the 

objectives and supporting actions.  The task group would also welcome 

greater detail on how the supporting actions will be delivered, for example, 

timescales and actions for each delivery action.  

 
I would be grateful if you would consider the above comments and provide a 

response to the content of this letter.  

 

 

 

Tudalen 159



 

 4 

Regards, 

 

Councillor Ramesh Patel 

Chairperson Environmental Scrutiny Committee 

Cc: 
 
 Andrew Gregory - Director of Planning, Transport & Environment 

 James Clemence – Head of Planning 

 Simon Gilbert – Operational Manager - Development Management 

(Strategic & Place Place Making) 

 Matthew Harris - Ecologist 

 Members of Cardiff’s Environmental Scrutiny Committee 

Tudalen 160



 

1 
 

CYNGOR CAERDYDD 

CARDIFF COUNCIL 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL SCRUTINY COMMITTEE              

                   20 NOVEMBER 2019  

 
 

 
MEMBER BRIEFING NOTE:  NATIONAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK 
CONSULTATION 
 
 

Reason for the Report 
 

1. To provide Members with an opportunity to note the content of the Cabinet response 

to the Welsh Government’s National Development Framework 2020-2040.  

 
Background Information 
 

2. The National Development Framework (NDF) is a new development plan which will 

set the direction for development in Wales from 2020 to 2040. It is being prepared by 

the Welsh Government and will represent the highest tier of statutory development 

plans in Wales.  

 
3. It will provide a framework which will be built upon by Strategic Development Plans 

(SDPs) at a regional level and Local Development Plans (LDPs) at a local authority 

level. SDPs and LDPs will be required to be in conformity with the NDF. 

 
4. The NDF is a spatial plan which means that it sets a direction for the future provision 

of infrastructure and development. It does not allocate exact locations for 

development but, in the case of SDPs, sets out the policies and key issues the 

Welsh Government requires the regions to take forward. 

 
5. The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 influences the content of the 

Plan which seeks to maximise contributions to the wellbeing goals and well-being 

objectives. The NDF also gives a spatial expression to Welsh Government policies 

of national importance and is intended to be read alongside ‘Planning Policy Wales’ 

(PPW), which provides planning policy on an all-Wales basis. 

Tudalen 161

Eitem Agenda 6



 

2 
 

Issues 
 

6. A copy of the Consultation Draft NDF is included in Appendix1 of this report. The 

front portion of the document outlines the scope of the NDF and sets out 11 

overarching ambitions based on national planning principles and sustainable 

placemaking outcomes as outlined in PPW. 

 
7. This is followed by the NDF Spatial Strategy which sets out a guiding framework for 

where large scale change and nationally important developments will be focused 

over the next 20 years. It contains a Spatial Strategy Key Diagram along with 15 

policies based on three components: 

 
 Where in Wales growth should be focused; 

 How growth should be planned and managed; 

 How we should power and heat places using renewable energy. 

 
8. Particular attention is drawn to the final section of the document which sets out 

policies for the three regions in Wales including six policies relating to South East 

Wales. Relevant extracts from policies and their supporting justification set out 

below: 

 
 Policy 27 – Cardiff - Cardiff will retain and extend its role as the primary national 

centre for culture, sport, leisure, media, the night time economy and finance. The 

Welsh Government supports regional development which addresses the 

opportunities and challenges arising from Cardiff’s geographic location and its 

functions as a Capital City. The Welsh Government supports Cardiff’s status as 

an internationally competitive city and a core city on the United Kingdom stage. 

 
 Policy 28 – Newport - The Welsh Government supports Newport as the focus 

for regional growth and investment and wants to see the City play an increased 

strategic role in the region. The strategic emphasis should be focussed on 

achieving growth in the city. Strategic and Local Development Plans across the 

region should recognise Newport as a focus for strategic housing and economic 

growth; essential services and facilities; transport and digital infrastructure; and 

consider how they can support and benefit from Newport’s increased strategic 

regional role. Development in the wider region should be carefully managed to 

Tudalen 162



 

3 
 

support Newport’s growth and to provide a focus for regional planning. The 

Welsh Government will work with authorities within the region and in England to 

promote Newport’s strategic role and ensure key investment decisions in Wales 

and England support Newport and the wider region. 

 
 Policy 28 supporting text: Cardiff is currently experiencing a period of 

growth in population and employment, but the city cannot continue to expand 

indefinitely without major consequences for the environment. It is a compact 

city nearing its physical limits, which include Caerphilly and Garth mountains 

to the north and the Bristol Channel to the south. Cardiff must generate and 

support regional growth throughout the south east while enhancing its status 

as a vibrant capital city of Wales. 

 
 The Strategic Development Plan will need to consider the interdependence 

between Cardiff and the wider region. Regional transport infrastructure 

reflects the significance of Cardiff and has consolidated its role as the main 

focal point of the region. The potential to reach central Cardiff quickly and 

conveniently using the Metro generates opportunities for development in 

settlements outside the city. The cultural and economic strength of Cardiff 

must generate region-wide prosperity and well-being. 

 
 The Welsh Government is determined to see development and growth in 

Newport, allowing the city to fulfil its potential as a second focal point for the 

region. It has significant brownfield development opportunities to provide new 

housing and employment areas. There are emerging highly skilled 

employment opportunities in the transport and digital communications sectors 

which should be catalysts for further economic investments. The Metro will 

improve the city’s public transport system, especially within the city and to 

surrounding towns. It benefits from established road and rail links with Cardiff, 

Bristol and London. 

 
 Growth at Newport will help manage the development pressures in Cardiff 

and provide a strategic focus for the eastern part of the region. Strategic 

growth should be focussed in and immediately adjoining Newport itself, to 

support brownfield regeneration.  

Tudalen 163



 

4 
 

 
 Policy 30 – Green Belts in South East Wales - The Welsh Government 

requires the identification of green belts through a Strategic Development Plan to 

manage urban form and growth in South East Wales, particularly around Newport 

and the eastern part of the region. Regional plans should consider the 

relationship of any new green belts with the green belt around Bristol. 

 
 Policy 30 supporting text: Strategic decisions on the location of 

development, key services and infrastructure should support the region’s 

cities and Valleys communities and be taken on a regional basis, ensuring 

they are located in the most accessible and sustainable locations within the 

context of the whole region. The Welsh Government supports the use of 

green belts in the South East region in managing and planning urban growth. 

Planning Policy Wales sets out the policy context for them. The Strategic 

Development Plan must identify a green belt that includes the area to the 

north of the M4 from the Severn Crossings to North Cardiff.  

 
Cabinet Response 
 

9. In response to the details set out in the National Development Framework 2020 – 

2040: Consultation Draft (attached to this report as Appendix 1) the Cabinet report 

made the following comments: 

 
 The Cabinet welcomes a strategic approach to development in Wales and 

recognises the opportunities for using the planning system to address national 

and regional priorities. Clearly, a strategic approach can play an important role in 

informing the infrastructure investment and developments needed to deliver in 

areas relating to economic growth, decarbonisation, resilient ecosystems, health 

and community well-being. As a major urban area, Cardiff particularly welcomes 

Policy 1, which explicitly supports sustainable urban growth given it is uniquely 

positioned to deliver on this. 

 
 Of particular relevance to Cardiff are statements which recognise and support the 

key role played by cities and large towns by:  

 
 Encouraging sustainable and efficient patterns of development; 

Tudalen 164



 

5 
 

 Co-locating homes with jobs and vital services and the efficient use of 

resources; 

 Focussing on cities and large towns as the main development areas; 

 Creating concentrations of jobs, services and amenities; 

 Creating a critical mass to support and sustain good public transport services 

and encourage active travel.  

 
 For this approach to function effectively however, the National Development 

Framework must be informed by, and respond to, the major demographic, 

economic, housing and transport trends across Wales. This is particularly relevant 

for Cardiff, given that its size and scale is of regional and national significance. 

 
 For example, Cardiff is projected to be the fastest growing UK Core City and over 

the next 20 years is projected to grow by more than every other Welsh Local 

Authority combined. Cardiff is also the economic powerhouse of Wales with 82% 

of net new jobs created in Wales over the last 5 years created in the capital city. 

The regional significance of the capital city is further underlined by the fact that 

over 100,000 commuters travel into Cardiff rom outside the local authority 

boundary every day. Cardiff’s population and economic growth therefore 

represents a major opportunity for Wales that the National Development 

Framework, as currently drafted, significantly underplays, placing a 

disproportionate emphasis on the challenges associated with growth. 

 
 For example, Policy 28 recognises the capital city’s growth but states that “the 

city cannot continue to expand indefinitely without major consequences for the 

environment.” The Council’s LDP which is underpinned by a robust detailed 

evidence base demonstrates clearly that significant capacity exists for Cardiff to 

grow sustainably and in accordance with place-making principles for the duration 

of the plan period. Furthermore, significant brownfield contributions over recent 

decades have played a key role in delivering sustainable growth in Cardiff and 

there is no new evidence within the NDF to suggest that further contributions may 

not be achieved beyond the current plan period. Policy 28 therefore fails to 

recognise the sustainable city paradigm where critical mass and agglomeration 

effects can have major advantages for both the economy and the environment. 

Tudalen 165



 

6 
 

 The National Development Framework identifies “Newport as the focus for 

regional growth and investment.” Cardiff Council fully supports the growth of 

Newport- as well as any other major conurbation area within the region in line 

with the principles expressed in Policy 1 of the Framework. However, the Council 

is very concerned that rather than promoting and supporting economic and 

population growth in Cardiff and Newport the Framework is instead proposing a 

dispersal of growth from Cardiff to Newport. 

 
 Cardiff Council would argue that such a policy of dispersal could undermine 

Cardiff’s role as the economic driver of the Welsh economy, and run counter to 

delivering sustainable long-term economic growth in Wales. A policy of dispersal 

runs the real risk that the jobs and investment currently attracted into Wales by 

the capital city will not be deflected to Newport but instead would be directed to 

Bristol and other core cities, and thus not come to Wales at all. The Council 

would instead argue that the Framework should respond to the national trends 

outlines in paragraph 12 through seeking to support the Cardiff’s population and 

economic growth, and the unique role the city economy plays in the national 

economy, whilst ensure that the benefits of this growth are felt across the wider 

Capital Region. 

 
 In supporting the proposal that ‘the cultural and economic strength of Cardiff 

must generate region-wide prosperity and well-being,’ the Council would also 

urge the Welsh Government to ensure that national policy recognises the 

significant inequalities that exist within Cardiff. For example, if the ‘Southern Arc’ 

of Cardiff, Ely in the West to Trowbridge in the East, and area with a greater 

population than Newport, was a single local authority it would be by far the most 

deprived in Wales. The economic growth in the city centre must lead to improved 

outcomes for deprived and disconnected communities within the city and the 

wider city region. 

 
 The Council is very concerned that the statements above (para 8) appear in the 

Framework devoid of reference to any evidence base. It is in the Council’s view 

considered inappropriate for the National Development Framework to include 

unqualified statements, for example relating to Cardiff’s growth potential, in the 

absence of robust evidence in the form of urban capacity studies and other 

Tudalen 166



 

7 
 

relevant data that would be expected in the development of LDPs and in any 

future SDP. Given the role that the National Framework will play in informing both 

the Strategic Development Plan and Local Development Plans it is imperative 

that it is underpinned by the same rigorous and detailed evidence base expected 

at local and regional levels. The Council is concerned that this is not currently the 

case. 

 
 This report in the main limits our comments to those parts of the NDF dealing 

directly with Cardiff. Nevertheless, we have significant concerns about other 

aspects as well. These derive broadly from the incompatibility of having an 

evidence-weak NDF which would in turn form the basis of SDPs an LDPs which 

must be evidence-led. We reserve the right to make further comments as 

appropriate on aspects beyond Cardiff. 

 
 The Council would also argue strongly that the proposals such as those in Policy 

28 do not belong in a National Development Framework, but is instead a decision 

for Strategic and Local Development Plans. 

 
 In summary, while Cardiff Council welcomes a great deal in the National 

Development Framework for the reasons outlined above the Council cannot 

support the NDF as currently drafted. 

 
 Cardiff Council would therefore welcome further dialogue with Welsh 

Government to more fully demonstrate how the city is uniquely positioned to 

deliver on the 11 outcomes of the National Development Framework, and how 

this role can be more clearly expressed in the final version of the document. This 

dialogue could also explore how robust local evidence can help inform the 

development of the National Framework to ensure that any national plan benefits 

from the same rigorous assessment as local plans. 

 
Report Recommendations 

 
10. In response to the report, the Cabinet was ‘recommended to approve the proposed 

response to the NDF Consultation Draft as set out in paragraphs 9-20 of the Cabinet 

report and seek further dialogue with Welsh Government to address the issues 

raised’. 

Tudalen 167



 

8 
 

Way Forward 
 

11. Members are to note the contents of the Member Briefing Note.  
 
Legal Implications 
 

12. The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and recommend 

but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in this report are to 

consider and review matters there are no direct legal implications. However, legal 

implications may arise if and when the matters under review are implemented with or 

without any modifications. Any report with recommendations for decision that goes to 

Cabinet/Council will set out any legal implications arising from those 

recommendations. All decisions taken by or on behalf of the Council must (a) be 

within the legal powers of the Council; (b) comply with any procedural requirement 

imposed by law; (c) be within the powers of the body or person exercising powers on 

behalf of the Council; (d) be undertaken in accordance with the procedural 

requirements imposed by the Council e.g. Scrutiny Procedure Rules; (e) be fully and 

properly informed; (f) be properly motivated; (g) be taken having regard to the 

Council's fiduciary duty to its taxpayers; and (h) be reasonable and proper in all the 

circumstances. 

 
Financial Implications 
 

13. The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and recommend 

but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in this report are to 

consider and review matters there are no direct financial implications at this stage in 

relation to any of the work programme. However, financial implications may arise if 

and when the matters under review are implemented with or without any 

modifications. Any report with recommendations for decision that goes to 

Cabinet/Council will set out any financial implications arising from those 

recommendations. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 168



 

9 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Committee is recommended to: 
 
i. Note the content of this Member briefing note. 

 
DAVINA FIORE 
Director of Governance & Legal Services 
25 September 2019 

Tudalen 169



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



National Development Framework 2020-2040  
Consultation Draft: 7 August – 1 November 2019

IntroductionaAPPENDIX 1

T
udalen 171



 

2

Caernarfon

Holyhead

Bangor
Colwyn

Bay

Dolgellau

Wrexham

Welshpool

Builth Wells

Llandrindod Wells

Newtown

Brecon

Fishguard

Carmarthen

Aberystwyth

Cardigan

Haverfordwest

Milford Haven
Pembroke Dock

Swansea

Merthyr Tydfil

Neath
Llanelli

Port Talbot

Ebbw Vale

Caerphilly
Pontypridd

Bridgend

Barry

Abergavenny

Chepstow

Monmouth

Cwmbran

CARDIFF

Newport

Mostyn

Pwllheli

BRECON BEACONS
NATIONAL PARK

PEMBROKESHIRE COAST
NATIONAL PARK

SNOWDONIA
NATIONAL PARK

Motorway

Trunk Road

Rail network

Ferry Port

Port

Airport

    © Crown copyright 2019       WG37092           Digital ISBN 978-1-83876-656-6           Print ISBN 978-1-83876-655-9

Mae’r ddogfen yma hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg. / This document is also available in Welsh. 

 

T
udalen 172



 

Foreword by Mark Drakeford AM, First Minister of Wales 4

Foreword by Julie James AM, Minister for Housing and Local Government 5

1. Introduction 6

2. Wales: An Overview – Challenges and Opportunities 12

3. NDF Outcomes 18

4. Strategic and Spatial choices: The NDF Spatial Strategy 22

 Strategic diagram 25

5. Regions 44

 North Wales 48

 Mid & South West Wales 55

 South East Wales 61

Contents

3

T
udalen 173



 

4

Foreword by Mark Drakeford
This National Development Framework sets out where we think we 
should try to grow and the types of development we need over the next 
twenty years to help us be a sustainable and prosperous society.  

The Well-being of Future Generations Act means the Welsh Government 
and other public bodies must think about the long-term impacts of 
the decisions we make today, and this ethos is clear throughout the 
National Development Framework.    

It is difficult to imagine how the world might look in 2040. We know 
there are significant challenges to meet, not least in tackling climate 
change. It is the globally defining challenge of our time and it is why we 
have declared a climate emergency. Tackling the causes and mitigating 
the effects of climate change is a key consideration in our plans and 
hopes for Wales.  

The National Development Framework is another building block in 
making Wales a fair, green and prosperous place. It complements and 
builds on our national strategy, Prosperity for All, our Economic Action 
Plan and our plan for a Low Carbon Wales. The Well-being of Future 
Generations Act also commits us to the creation of a more equal Wales.  
We know from the UK2070 Commission that there are deep-rooted 
inequalities across the UK. The Commission concluded that in the UK 
“we are not taking full advantage of the economic potential that all 
parts of the UK have to offer”. The National Development Framework 
has combatting inequality at its core.    

It covers a range of issues and challenges, including energy 
supply, transport, the natural environment, housing and industrial 
development. We can’t pretend that a long-term plan will eliminate 
all the tensions which are an inevitable part of policy making, but it 
will give us a basis for our decisions and help explain how decisions 
are reached. The National Development Framework is clear about 
what kind of place we want Wales to be by 2040 and that clear vision 
will be priceless as we take big decisions that affect the future of our 
country.  

A great deal of collaboration from stakeholders and communities 
across Wales has gone into the preparation of this document and 
I am grateful for your continued support. The consultation on this 
draft National Development Framework is open until 1st November 
and I encourage you to get involved.

 

 
Mark Drakeford AM 
First Minister of Wales

T
udalen 174



 

Foreword by Julie James

5

I am delighted to launch this consultation on the National Development 
Framework. It’s an exciting responsibility to be putting forward the 
Welsh Government’s twenty year spatial vision for development and 
I am confident it can support our ambition to make Wales a healthier, 
fairer and more prosperous place.

We know the next twenty years will see huge changes to the way 
we currently live our lives. We can expect the way we travel to be 
revolutionised with the growth of electric vehicles and the potential 
emergence of automated vehicles. The internet is already making 
us more flexible in where can do our work and it is likely that the 
role and function of town centres has changed forever. We also know 
that climate change demands different attitudes about energy and 
a long-term mind-set in all our planning.

The challenge for a plan like the NDF is not necessarily to predict how 
Wales might change over the next twenty years, but to make sure 
we can build a society and an economy that is flexible and resilient, 
to enable all of us to benefit from the changes in a sustainable way. 
It means the NDF has a strong focus on sustainable travel, with 
policies on Metro systems and charging infrastructure for low emission 
vehicles. It sets a clear vision for more renewable energy, coupled with 
a commitment for more and better green infrastructure.

One of my personal priorities as a Minister is to ensure everyone has 
access to a good home. As a country we have not provided the homes 
that meet all our needs. Market led housing provision has failed 
to meet the needs of far too many people. I look forward to future 
housing development that includes far more houses to rent from local 
authorities and other registered social landlords. I want a planning 
system that consistently delivers the homes that meet all our needs 
and a system that makes it easier to live active and healthy lives. 

I hope the policies in the NDF, complemented by the strong leadership 
set out in the new Planning Policy Wales, will help make this a reality.

A really important feature of this document is the regional policies. 
Across the Government we are committed to enabling bespoke 
approaches that suit the different parts of Wales to be developed. 
We are proposing the same regional footprint as the Economic Action 
Plan, so that local planning authorities and their stakeholders have 
a consistent basis for regional working and are encouraged to move 
ahead with developing Strategic Development Plans.

I firmly believe our plan-led system will work most efficiently and 
deliver the best results when we have a complete coverage of plans 
across three tiers – national, regional and local. We are close to a full 
suite of Local Development Plans in local authority and National Park 
areas, and we can look forward to having the National Development 
Framework in place next year.

This is the first version of the NDF. It has benefitted hugely from 
the involvement and contribution of stakeholders throughout its 
preparation. The Welsh Government will review and update the NDF 
every 5 years, but I am very keen that we use this first opportunity 
to set an ambitious path towards making sustainable places that 
work for everyone in our society. 

I look forward to hearing what you think of it.

 

 
Julie James AM 
Minister for Housing and Local Government

T
udalen 175



Introduction 

1 Introduction

What is the National Development Framework?
The National Development Framework (NDF) is a new development 
plan which will set the direction for development in Wales from 2020 
to 2040. It sets a strategy for addressing key national priorities through 
the planning system, including sustaining and developing a vibrant 
economy, decarbonisation, developing resilient ecosystems and 
improving the health and well-being of our communities. 

The NDF is a spatial plan, which means it sets a direction for where 
we should be investing in infrastructure and development for the 
greater good of Wales and its people. The NDF sets the challenge of 
delivering these improvements to public, private and third sectors. 
It makes clear the importance of planning new infrastructure and 
development in such a way they are complementary rather than 
competing priorities, ensuring opportunities are maximised and 
multiple benefits are achieved.

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 influences the 
way we plan for new development; it demands that development and 
use of land contribute to improving the economic, social, environmental 
and cultural well-being of Wales. Under the commitment to delivering 
sustainable development we will maximise our contribution to each of 

the well-being goals. Choosing where to invest or considering whether a 
development is suitable in a certain place are difficult decisions where 
a balance often has to be found between competing priorities. We must 
strive to find solutions which maximise our contribution to the goals 
and well-being objectives. The NDF provides leadership and strategic 
direction for taking these decisions. 

The NDF is the highest tier of development plan and is focused on 
issues and challenges at a national scale. Its strategic nature means 
it does not allocate development to all parts of Wales, nor does it 
include policies on all land uses. It is a framework which will be built 
on by Strategic Development Plans (SDPs) at a regional level and 
Local Development Plans (LDPs) at local authority level. These plans 
will identify the location of new infrastructure and development. SDPs 
and LDPs are required to be in conformity with the NDF and must be 
kept up to date to ensure they and the NDF work together effectively. 
Planning decisions at every level of the planning system in Wales must 
be taken in accordance with the development plan as a whole. 

Managing change and planning development that will last for generations is one of the most important responsibilities of government. 
This document is the Welsh Government’s twenty year plan for shaping the future growth and development of our country.

T
udalen 176



Introduction
7

T
udalen 177



Introduction

8

Well-being of Future Generations Act 2015 and the National 
Development Framework
The Act gives a legally-binding common purpose – the seven 
well-being goals – for national government, local government, 
local health boards and other specified public bodies. It details 
the ways in which these bodies must work, and work together, 
to improve the well-being of Wales. It is through the Act that Wales 
will make its contribution to the achievement of the 17 United 
Nations Sustainable Development Goals.

In developing the NDF, we have recognised our obligations under 
the Act. Embedding the principles of the Act, including the 5 
ways of working (long-term thinking, prevention, collaboration, 
integration and involvement), within our strategic thinking and 
policy development has informed, influenced and shaped the NDF. 
We have carefully considered how the NDF reflects, aligns with 
and maximises its contribution to the well-being goals, objectives 
and ways of working.

A globally
responsible

Wales

A Wales of 
vibrant culture

and thriving 
Welsh

Language

A Wales of 
cohesive

communities

A resilient 
Wales

A healthier 
Wales

A more equal
Wales

A prosperous 
Wales

T
udalen 178



Introduction

9

Document Structure
The document follows a sequential structure, with each section building on the previous one. 

The first chapter explains how the NDF fits within wider Welsh 
Government policy objectives and the purpose of the NDF. 
Key challenges and opportunities facing Wales over the next 20 years 
are highlighted in Chapter 2. It also introduces the three regions of 
Wales and provides a background to the economic, environmental, 
cultural and social conditions in each region:

North Wales  |  Mid and South West Wales  |  South East Wales

The challenges and opportunities inform the NDF outcomes, which 
taken together are a vision for change over the next 20 years. These 
outcomes, set out in Chapter 3, form the basis and the context for the 
remaining chapters. 

A spatial strategy is presented in Chapter 4. The strategy focuses 
on the major patterns of development and areas of change on which 
the planning system at a national scale will focus to achieve the 
NDF outcomes. The spatial strategy is the overarching framework for 
deciding where to locate nationally significant developments, in order to 
maximise their contribution to the well-being goals. A strategic diagram 
shows the main components of the spatial strategy.

Chapter 4 also provides a policy framework for all-Wales issues 
of national importance, including renewable energy, affordable 
housing, mobile communications, ecological networks and charging 
infrastructure for electric vehicles.

Chapter 5 sets the Welsh Government’s ambitions and policies for 
nationally important growth and development in the three regions. 
It highlights the key locations for development, identifies opportunities 
for developing infrastructure and sets a framework for regional and 
local planning.

How does the NDF fit with wider Welsh Government policy?
The NDF gives a spatial expression to Welsh Government policies of 
national importance. Policies and strategies on wide-ranging matters 
such as housing, transport, energy, natural resources and health have 
implications for all parts of Wales and can be supported if the planning 
system is aligned to deliver their aims. The NDF ensures the aims of 
the planning system across Wales are consistent with, and support the 
delivery of, Welsh Government policies.

The role and purpose of the NDF is defined by legislation and by the 
Programme for Government. The NDF is highlighted in Prosperity for All: 
the national strategy as holding an important role in driving sustainable 
growth and combating climate change by guiding strategic development 
over the next 20 years. 

The NDF should be read alongside Planning Policy Wales (PPW) which 
provides planning policy on an all-Wales basis. The NDF complements 
PPW, with a shared commitment to placemaking and by setting out the 
spatial priorities for planning and development where national-level 
consideration is required. In combination, and supplemented by 

Introduction Challenges and
Opportunities NDF Outcomes Spatial Strategy The Regions

T
udalen 179



Introduction

10

Technical Advice Notes and procedural guidance, the NDF and PPW 
ensure the planning system across Wales is fully aligned in working 
towards national ambitions and well-being goals. The NDF does not 
repeat PPW nor cover all of the same policy areas. Together they set 
out how the planning system responds to and addresses national 
challenges and opportunities. 

The NDF will be used to guide both public and private investment. 
Our aim is to ensure investments and developments – whether large 
or small in scale – contribute to the broader ambitions of the Welsh 
Government and to the well-being of communities. A broad range 
of Government strategies and policies have helped shape the NDF, 
including the Welsh National Marine Plan, the Transport Strategy 
and the Low Carbon Wales plan. The relationship is two-way with the 
NDF taking strategic direction and providing a means of delivery and 
a framework for maximising the potential outcomes. 

We will lead the way with our own investments. The NDF will 
complement the Wales Infrastructure Investment Plan and Regional 
Economic Development Plans by enabling development that maximises 
the impacts of our investment. The scale of ambition for change 
outlined in the NDF reflects the ability of the public sector to deliver 
new development. The NDF spatial strategy will inform the Wales 
Infrastructure Investment Plan in determining our capital investment 
priorities, aligning the planned programme of infrastructure investments 
in Wales with the NDF’s spatial approach. 

The Welsh National Marine Plan is the first marine plan for Wales 
and represents the start of a process of shaping our seas to support 
economic, social, cultural and environmental objectives. Marine 
planning will guide the sustainable development of our marine area 
by setting out how proposals will be considered by decision-makers. 
The NDF and Marine Plan work together to provide a framework for 
the management of change around our coast. Co-ordination between 
marine and terrestrial planning is important to sustain and facilitate the 
development of port, harbour and marina businesses and associated 
enterprises; coastal communities; tourism opportunities; energy 

generation; and seascapes. The emerging Welsh National Marine Plan 
has informed the preparation of the NDF and, where relevant, should 
inform Strategic and Local Development Plans and decisions made 
through the development management process.

The NDF replaces the Wales Spatial Plan.

The NDF and Habitats Regulation Assessment
Under Article 6 of the Habitats Directive (and Regulation 102 of 
the Habitats Regulations), an assessment is required where a plan 
or project is likely to have a significant effect upon a Natura 2000 
(European designated) site. Specific mitigation measures have been 
recommended in the Habitats Regulations Assessment of the NDF to 
provide a strong guide to lower-tier plans and projects. It concludes 
that, on the assumption that these mitigation measures are adopted 
at the lower-tier planning or project scales, significant effects would 
be avoided. The Welsh Government therefore expects the findings 
of the Habitats Regulations Assessment of the NDF to be taken into 
consideration during their preparation and implementation of all 
development plans, including Strategic and Local Development Plans.

How does the NDF fit with Strategic and Local Development 
Plans?
There are three different tiers to the development plan in Wales – 
the NDF, Strategic Development Plans and Local Development Plans. 
The NDF is all Wales; Strategic Development Plans are prepared at a 
regional level covering more than one local planning authority area; 
Local Development Plans are prepared by each individual local planning 
authority. 

Strategic and Local Development Plans must support the 
implementation of the NDF, and the strategic decisions they take must 
conform with the direction provided by the NDF.  

The role of each development plan is to plan and manage land use at its 
spatial scale. The NDF therefore considers issues at the national scale, 
Strategic Development Plans cover regional or sub-regional scales and 

T
udalen 180



Introduction

11

Local Development Plans consider issues at the local scale. All three 
tiers are important and it is the collective effect of all tiers working 
together that is the strength of the planning system in Wales. 

The NDF and its spatial strategy has been prepared in the context 
of the three tiered development planning system. The NDF does 
not seek to take decisions that are most appropriately taken at the 
regional or local level. It provides direction and in the case of Strategic 

Development Plans, sets out the policies and key issues the Welsh 
Government requires the regions to take forward. It does not seek to 
identify the exact location for new development, the scale of growth in 
individual settlements or prescribe precise boundaries of areas where 
development should not take place. The regional and local tiers are 
the most appropriate level at which to take these decisions, involving 
communities as they do so.  

National
Development

Framework

Regional Planning

Local Planning and Delivery

Legislation

Well-being of Future Generations Act
Environment Act

Planning Act
Government of Wales Act

UK legislation and EU directives
Strategic Development Plans

Local Well-being Plans
Joint Local Development Plans

Local Development Plans
Local development plans ‘Lite’

National Infrastructure
Commission for Wales

Planning Policy Wales
Wales Infrastructure Investment Plan

Welsh National Marine Plan
Wales Transport Strategy
Natural Resources Policy

Regional Economic Development Plans

Prosperity for All
Economic Action Plan &

Low Carbon Wales

Government policy
and strategy

Independent advice

Programme for Government

Model of NDF 
Influence

T
udalen 181



Wales: An Overview – Challenges and Opportunities

2 Wales: An Overview –  
Challenges and Opportunities

Wales is a nation with a long and proud history and a rich social and cultural heritage. We face challenges and opportunities and  
are committed to protecting the well-being of our future generations. 

Changing population
We are a nation of over 3 million people, whose population has grown 
by 8% between 1997 and 2007 and are projected to rise by a further 
4% between 2018 and 2038. We are an ageing nation, reflecting 
wider UK and European trends, and will have a third more people 
aged 65 and over by 2038. We are living longer but life expectancy is 
below the UK as a whole. Communities are spread across Wales from 
the populated northern and southern areas to sparsely populated 
mid Wales.  

A living, thriving Welsh language
Welsh is a living language, with over 562,000 speakers across all 
parts of the nation. Our ambition for the Welsh language is to reach 
a million Welsh speakers, as well as increase the percentage of people 
who speak Welsh daily by 10% by 2050. Communities in the Welsh 
speaking heartlands in the north-west and west of Wales continue 
to live everyday life through a language spoken in our nation for 
1,500 years.

Natural resources
Natural resources and resilient biodiversity and ecosystems support 
our well-being and prosperity; they have shaped our past and will shape 

our future. Welsh coal, steel and iron drove the industrial revolution, 
and our wind, solar and tidal resources point forward to a clean, 
sustainable future. We depend on high quality natural resources to fuel 
our industries, provide our food, clean air and water and create jobs 
and wealth. We are committed to living within our means, using only 
our share of the planet’s resources and using them efficiently.

A living landscape
Our landscapes are amongst the best in the world and tell the story 
of our nation from volcanoes, glaciers, mountains and river valleys to 
castles, farms, industrial heritage and ports. A quarter of our country 
is covered by our three national parks and five areas of outstanding 
natural beauty. We have a number of World Heritage Sites and 
nature conservation areas, and our coast on three sides connects 
communities and people to the sea.

Industrial legacy
Our economy changed profoundly in the late 20th Century and will 
change again through the 21st. Wales’ main population centres in 
south and north Wales were strongly tied to the traditional heavy 
industries they grew up around, and as these industries declined, 
so too did the local economies and the communities that relied upon 

T
udalen 182



Introduction

13

T
udalen 183



14

Wales: An Overview – Challenges and Opportunities

them. On average, economic activity, wages and productivity in Wales 
are lower than the UK average. Gross Value Added (GVA) per head in 
Wales in 2017 was £19,900 compared to the UK average of £27,300. 

A changing economy
Our economy now is more service-based and there is an increasing 
focus on technology and the digital sector. Over the last 10 years 
the fastest growing parts of our economy in terms of employment 
have been in the information and communication sectors. Small and 
medium sized enterprises are an important part of our economy and 
grew more in Wales in 2018 than within the UK as a whole. Research 
and innovation are recognised as twin drivers for competitive economic 
advantage and driving productivity. The importance of developing an 
innovative and knowledge based society, built upon research and 
innovation, is an integral factor for driving our global competitiveness 
and supports our sustainable economic and social improvement 
ambitions.

Our visitors
We attract visitors from all over the world, with 10% of our overnight 
visitors coming from outside the UK. There were 96 million tourist 
day visits in 2018, 10 million overnight stays and around £6.3 billion 
generated from tourism for the Welsh economy. 

A connected nation
We are an increasingly connected nation. 93% of homes and 
businesses have access to a superfast fixed broadband speed, though 
only 38% of homes in Wales use the service. The next stage is to 
develop access to ultrafast fixed broadband speeds. In 2018, ultrafast 
coverage rose by almost 20 percentage points, to cover 29% of Welsh 
homes and businesses. This figure remains behind the UK average, 
which is a consequence of our dispersed settlements and distinctive 
topography, and increasing coverage is a key goal.

Our place in the world
We live alongside our neighbours, with close ties across the border in 
north, mid and south Wales. There are almost 8 million people living 
within 50 miles of the Wales-England border. More than a fifth of our 
population was born in England. People travel daily in both directions to 
work, to shop, to socialise and access services and institutions. We visit 
and trade with Ireland, Europe and beyond and our ports, roads and rail 
lines are key connections into wider European networks. We are well 
connected to Europe but peripheral in a wider geographic context and 
will strive to maintain and enhance these connections. 

Diverse regions
The North Wales region comprises Conwy, Denbighshire, Flintshire, 
Gwynedd, the Isle of Anglesey and Wrexham and is home to almost 
700,000 people, of whom over 200,000 speak Welsh. Its dramatic 
landscape includes low lying coastal plains, mountain ranges and 
industrialised former coal fields. The population is concentrated in an 
arc along the coast from the Menai Straits to the border with England. 
The main concentration of population is in the east around Wrexham-
Deeside. 

The Mid and South West Wales region comprises Carmarthenshire, 
Ceredigion, Neath Port Talbot, Pembrokeshire, Powys and Swansea 
and has a population of over 900,000 people, of whom over 200,000 
speak Welsh. This large and diverse region includes some of the 
most rural and sparsely populated parts of the UK, and the urban, 
industrialised areas around Wales’ second city, Swansea. The region 
has a renowned coastal environment and it includes two of Wales, 
three national parks.

The South East Wales region is geographically the smallest. 
It comprises Blaenau Gwent, Bridgend, Caerphilly, Cardiff, Merthyr 
Tydfil, Monmouthshire, Newport, Rhondda Cynon Taf, Torfaen and 
the Vale of Glamorgan and is the most populous region of Wales, 
with over 1.5 million residents, of whom over 150,000 speak Welsh. 
The region includes the coastal cities of Cardiff and Newport and the 
former industrial heartlands of the South Wales Valleys.  

T
udalen 184



Wales: An Overview – Challenges and Opportunities

15

Challenges & Opportunities
We face a number of challenges and opportunities and these have 
shaped our first NDF. 

Climate change and the decline in biodiversity are global challenges 
and the biggest issues faced by our nation. Addressing these is our 
greatest responsibility when considering the legacy we will leave 
for future generations and as a consequence we have declared a 
Climate Emergency. In response to the challenge, we are committed to 
decarbonising Wales and to delivering healthy, resilient ecosystems. 
The NDF, together with Planning Policy Wales, will ensure the planning 
system nationally, regionally and locally focusses on delivering a 
decarbonised and resilient Wales through the places we create, the 
energy we generate and use, a circular economy, the houses we live in 
and the way we travel.

Wales can become a world leader in renewable energy technologies. 
Our wind and tidal resources, our potential for solar generation, 
our support for both large and community scaled projects and our 
commitment to ensuring the planning system provides a strong lead 
for renewable energy development mean we are well placed to support 
the renewable sector, attract new investment and reduce carbon 
emissions.

Wales has a rich variety of nature conservation sites, protecting a 
diverse range of important and unique habitats and protected species. 
Ecosystems underpin our well-being, health, economy, culture and 
identity. We depend on them to provide us with food, raw materials 
and clean water, and to regulate our climate and air quality. Many of 
our key industries such as agriculture, forestry, fisheries, energy, water 
and tourism rely on healthy, functioning ecosystems to prosper and 
to support communities across Wales. Ensuring the resilience of our 
ecosystems provides an opportunity to promote green growth and 
innovation to create sustainable jobs, sustain a more resource efficient 
economy and maintain healthy, active, sustainable and connected 
communities. 

As our climate changes, pressure on water resources is predicted to 
increase. The supply and management of water will be of increasing 
importance. Currently, Wales can meet its water needs and we are able 
to transport water from source to areas of demand. The location of 
future growth provides an opportunity to consider where we will need 
water and how we safeguard our resources in the future. Focussing 
development in existing built-up areas reduces the likelihood of a 
need for significant new sources of water, but we must recognise 
the potential impact of climate change on the supply and availability 
of water. 

The management of our coasts is important for all regions in Wales. 
The built-up coastal areas are where the majority of people live. 
In coastal areas Shoreline Management Plans identify opportunities 
to build ecosystems resilience and inform spatial choices in relation 
to development, taking into account erosion and current and future 
flood risks. 

Travel across Wales is shaped by our topography and the distance 
between the main built-up areas in the north and south. Connections 
between North Wales and South Wales are fragmented and it is 
not possible to travel by train without leaving the country. East-
West connections are better, but the road and rail networks can be 
congested. Significant investment in public transport, including Metro 
schemes and active travel infrastructure, including the walking and 
cycling routes being developed as a result of the Active Travel Act, 
provide an opportunity to re-think how our places work. Growth should 
be shaped around sustainable forms of transport and deliver places 
that make us and the environment healthier. The National Cycle 
Network is an important part of our national infrastructure and its 
planned improvements are supported. 

Aggregates underpin economic growth, providing construction related 
products essential for the delivery of placemaking, housing and 
infrastructure. When construction leads to a spike in demand, caused 
for instance by major infrastructure projects, pressures are placed on 

T
udalen 185



Introduction

16

Wales: An Overview – Challenges and Opportunities

T
udalen 186



Wales: An Overview – Challenges and Opportunities

17

the minerals industry to provide the necessary materials. Effective 
planning ensures a good stock of permitted reserves is available to 
supplement existing productive capacity at any given time. A reliable 
supply of minerals, capable of meeting demand in all regions of Wales 
simultaneously, is vitally important.  

The pace of change in technology is a challenge and opportunity for 
all nations. The jobs that future generations will do may not have been 
invented yet. Automation and Artificial Intelligence technologies will 
impact on all occupations. Advancements in technologies like electric 
vehicles, coupled with mobile applications which provide bespoke 
transport services, have the potential to re-shape the way we travel, 
the vehicles we own, public transport and the places we will live in. 
Work patterns have the potential for change too, becoming more 
flexible in terms of location and hours. The NDF and Planning Policy 
Wales support the provision of the infrastructure required to support 
new technologies and to ensure the places we create in the future can 
support our changing society. 

The NDF has been prepared at a time when the UK is changing its 
relationship with Europe. Since 2016 Brexit has been central to public 
debate and has given rise to profound uncertainty on our future 
relationship with Europe and a wide-range of well established policy 
frameworks, which impact all aspects of our lives. As a nation, we 
are especially vulnerable to the impacts of Brexit. Both agricultural 
funding and regeneration programmes are areas of major public policy 
which have been shaped by wider European policies and funding. In 
response the NDF seeks to provide a positive, proactive framework 
to give certainty and direction on where Wales will grow and where 
we will invest. It also provides a framework responsive to changing 
circumstances to ensure that we are able to take decisions on future 
policy issues that are still to be defined. 

Prosperity and reducing inequality remain the priorities Welsh 
Government policies. Prosperity is not equal across all parts of Wales, 
and West Wales and the Valleys continues to be recognised within 
Europe as one of the less developed regions. Health varies across 
Wales, with our poorest communities experiencing pronounced 
differences in health outcomes. The NDF provides a framework for 
regional planning to tackle regional inequalities and ensure that the 
most prosperous parts of Wales play a role in supporting their wider 
regions. It will ensure we take action to meet the needs of those 
struggling to access housing and that the places we create make us 
happier and healthier.

Good quality affordable homes are the bedrock of communities and 
form the basis for individuals and families to flourish in all aspects of 
their lives. The NDF provides evidence of the need for housing across 
Wales at both a national and regional level. In particular, this evidence 
demonstrates the need for a focus on increasing the delivery of 
affordable homes. The Welsh Government is targeting its housing and 
planning interventions towards achieving this aim within the broader 
context of increasing supply and responding to different needs. 

Our society is ageing and we need to think about the type of houses 
in which we will live in the future; where they are; the social and 
healthcare services that will support us; and the type of places that 
we as an ageing population would like to live in. It is also a reminder 
that we need to retain and attract young people and promote active 
lifestyles. The NDF, together with Planning Policy Wales, places a strong 
focus on the places we create through our planning system. Building 
new houses or infrastructure is not an end itself; we are determined to 
create places that support our well-being across the whole of our lives. 

The NDF will help us prepare for the future. The NDF Outcomes set 
out the Wales we wish to pass on to future generations.

T
udalen 187



NDF Outcomes

3 NDF Outcomes

Identifying what we want to achieve is an important step in preparing 
a strategy for a development plan. The NDF Outcomes are overarching 
ambitions based on the national planning principles and national 
sustainable placemaking outcomes set out in Planning Policy Wales. 
The 11 outcomes are collectively a statement of where we want to be 
in 20 years time. Every part of the NDF, from the spatial strategy to 
regional policies, is concerned with achieving the NDF Outcomes. Most 
policy areas will contribute to multiple outcomes.

Through the NDF, we will develop:

A Wales where people live....

1.  and work in connected, inclusive and healthy places

2.  in vibrant rural places with access to homes, jobs and services

3.    in distinctive regions that tackle health and socio-economic 
inequality through sustainable growth

4.  in places with a thriving Welsh Language

5.    and work in towns and cities which are a focus and springboard 
for sustainable growth

6.   in places where prosperity, innovation and culture are promoted

7.    in places where travel is sustainable

8.  in places with world-class digital infrastructure 

9.    in places that sustainably manage their natural resources and 
reduce pollution

10. in places with biodiverse, resilient and connected ecosystems 

11. in places which are decarbonised.

The 11 Outcomes can be achieved over the next 20 years if the 
planning system – through the NDF and other development plans – 
is focussed on the long-term and provides quality development in the 
right places for the right reasons. These Outcomes are inter-related and 
inter-dependent, and will improve places and well-being across Wales.

T
udalen 188



Introduction

19

T
udalen 189



20

NDF Outcomes

Outcome

1
Our cities, towns and villages will be physically and digitally well connected, offering good quality of life to their 
residents. High-quality homes meeting the needs of society will be well-located in relation to jobs, services and 
accessible green and open spaces. Places will meet and suit the needs of a diverse population, with accessible 
community facilities and services.

2
In rural areas, job opportunities and community services will be supported to help attract and retain people. A balance 
will be found between development and preserving the character of rural Wales, ensuring our small towns and villages 
have bright futures as attractive places to live and work. There will be support for the agricultural sector and its supply 
chains to boost resilience through diversification. 

3
The regional approach will recognise that different parts of Wales work differently to each other, with distinct 
underlying characteristics and challenges. The three regions will address inequalities by building stronger links between 
public services, communities and business. Each region will be encouraged to build on their existing strengths and 
pursue opportunities to achieve greater prosperity and well-being. 

4
We aim to have a million Welsh speakers in Wales by 2050 – an increase of almost 80% on current levels. Where 
Welsh is the everyday language of the community, development will be managed to ensure there are jobs and homes 
to enable the language to remain central to those communities’ identities. Elsewhere education authorities will lead in 
developing infrastructure to enable the language to develop as a natural, thriving part of communities.

5

Cities and large towns are magnets for jobs and investment, while people are drawn to live and work there for the 
economic and social opportunities they provide. Development plans will enable and support aspirations for large towns 
and cities to grow, founded on sustainability and urban design principles, active travel and investment in key built and 
green infrastructure to enable population and economic growth whilst reducing pollution. Areas outside the urban 
centres will benefit directly from the strength of our large towns and cities, through improved connectivity and additional 
investment in new homes, jobs and services.

6

Development Plans will have a forward thinking, positive attitude towards enabling economic development, 
investment and innovation. Increased prosperity and productivity will be pursued across all parts of Wales, building 
on current activity and promoting a culture of innovation, social partnership, entrepreneurialism and skills-development 
in sustainable industries and sectors. The culture, heritage and environment of Wales will play a positive, modern role 
in the economy by attracting the interest and expenditure of tourists, and providing a distinctive and trusted brand for 
Welsh businesses.

T
udalen 190



NDF Outcomes

21

7
All methods of travel will need to have low environmental impact and low emissions, with ultra low emission vehicles 
and public transport replacing today’s petrol and diesel vehicles. Active travel and public transport will be a significant 
part of the transport mix, allied with a reduced reliance on private vehicle use, with sustainable transport infrastructure 
embedded within new developments to enable easy and convenient access from one place to another for commuting, 
business, tourism and leisure purposes.

8
Broadband provision will develop and evolve, beginning with comprehensive coverage of superfast and progressing to 
ultra-fast fibre, which will help businesses to be more productive, resilient and innovative. Better digital communication 
will enable changes to the economy and way of life, and ensure Wales can lead and keep pace with the latest global 
technological advancements. 

9
Wales’ natural resources, including its minerals, coast, water, forests and landscape, support a range of activities and 
sectors and are assets of great value in their own right. The environmental, social and cultural value of our resources 
will be managed, maintained and enhanced, while economic benefits will be utilised sustainably and appropriately by 
promoting nature-based solutions and a circular economy. Across Wales better resource choices will be reflected in 
more sustainable places, which benefit from reductions in levels of pollution, and be healthier and more liveable.

10
The variety of flora and fauna found across Wales make Wales a special place. Biodiversity underpins the functioning 
of healthy resilient ecosystems and the multiple benefits they provide. While biodiversity has declined in recent decades, 
we will reverse these losses and enhance the resilience of ecosystems. The planning system will ensure wildlife is able 
to thrive in healthy, diverse habitats, both in urban and rural areas, recognising and valuing the multiple benefits to 
people and nature.

11
The challenges of climate change demand urgent action on carbon emissions and the planning system must help 
Wales lead the way in promoting and delivering a competitive, sustainable decarbonised society. Decarbonisation 
and renewable energy commitments and targets will be treated as opportunities to build a more resilient and equitable 
low-carbon economy, develop clean and efficient transport infrastructure, improve public health and generate skilled 
jobs in new sectors.

T
udalen 191



4 Strategic and Spatial Choices:  
the NDF Spatial Strategy

Strategic and Spatial Choices: the NDF Spatial Strategy

A spatial strategy sets a structure for the type and location of 
development across the plan area. It highlights the key settlements 
in which development will be focussed and the infrastructure, 
transport, actions and resources required to support the strategy.

The NDF spatial strategy is a guiding framework for where large scale 
change and nationally important developments will be focused over the 
next 20 years. The strategy blends the existing settlement patterns and 
the distribution of jobs and homes with a vision of managing change 
and future trends for the benefit of everyone in Wales. 

The spatial strategy supports the NDF Outcomes. Decisions taken 
at a national level, including Welsh Government investment choices, 
will reflect the principles of the strategy and make positive contributions 
towards the national placemaking objectives. 

Our strategy is to build on existing strengths and to consolidate 
advantages. It encourages sustainable and efficient patterns 
of development, based on co-locating homes with jobs and vital 
services and the efficient use of resources. It contributes to achieving 
decarbonisation and biodiversity objectives and supports national 
ambitions for improving health. It enables the creation of thriving, 
sustainable communities and is aligned with the Welsh Government’s 
broader goal of encouraging a million people to speak the Welsh 
language by 2050.

Co-locating homes, jobs and services means focusing on cities 
and large towns as the main development areas. Developing our 
urban areas to enhance their performance will be challenging, 

but we firmly believe it is the right ambition for Wales and supports the 
Welsh Government’s commitment to social justice. Choosing to develop 
new towns and enabling sprawling greenfield development would 
be to ignore the untapped potential of places which already have town 
centres, universities and colleges, public transport infrastructure and 
a good range of public services. It would also squander key assets in 
the form of productive countryside and natural resources. 

The focus on growing urban areas will create concentrations of jobs, 
services and amenities and a critical mass of people to sustain good 
public transport services and a range of economic activities. An urban 
growth focus enables more people to walk and cycle for everyday 
journeys and, with good urban design, can create positive impacts on 
public health, air quality and well-being.

Sustainable growth will involve setting an ambitious strategy for 
achieving biodiversity and green infrastructure enhancement in our 
urban areas. Effective and innovative nature-based solutions to the 
challenges of urban form, design and density will be required in order 
to reap the well-being rewards of living and working in exemplar, 
future-resilient settlements.

In all parts of Wales, the strategy supports sustainable growth. 
Any place without jobs, homes, community spaces and wildlife has no 
prospect of having a thriving and cohesive community, Welsh language 
or economy. There is such a thing as too much development or the 
wrong type of development, whereas sustainable development should 
foster a stable or growing population to ensure a healthy natural 
environment and economic and social stability.

T
udalen 192



Introduction

23

T
udalen 193



24

Strategic and Spatial Choices: the NDF Spatial Strategy

 
Growth and new development must be in the right place, 
undertaken in the right way and make efficient use of our 
resources to achieve the NDF Outcomes. The spatial strategy 
has three components and sets out:

• where in Wales growth should be focused;

•  how growth should be planned and managed

• how we should power and heat places using renewable 
energy and district heat networks.

Spatial Strategy: Where Wales will grow
Population trends in Wales have historically reflected economic 
fortunes, with people drawn to the areas where jobs were 
available. Over two centuries this has resulted in the development 
of three main urban clusters of cities and towns:

• Cardiff, Newport and the Valleys;

• Swansea Bay and Llanelli; and

• Wrexham and Deeside.

Each of these urban areas is economically distinctive, supporting 
a range of businesses, enterprises and universities, and offering 
culturally rich lifestyles to residents and visitors. They are 
nationally significant places and this strategy promotes their 
continued growth and regeneration. As a result, new large-
scale employment opportunities and housing growth will occur 
predominantly, though not exclusively, in these urban areas.  

Outside of these areas are a mix of smaller towns and villages 
and large areas of countryside. Many towns are traditionally 
market towns and have retained the function of being gathering 
places for people living and working in rural places. Along the 
coast our maritime and resort towns remain popular places in 
which to live and visit, though there is a need for regeneration in 
some places. Development in towns and villages in rural areas 
will support local aspirations and need, complementing rather 
than competing with efforts to grow our cities and towns.   

The NDF identifies a range of important regional centres which, 
through specific policies in Strategic and Local Development 
Plans, should retain and enhance the commercial and public 
service base that make them focal points in their areas. This will 
apply in places like Carmarthen, the Pembrokeshire Haven towns, 
Aberystwyth, Llandrindod Wells, Newtown, Caernarfon, Bangor 
and the coastal towns from Llandudno to Prestatyn. 

By focussing large scale growth on the urban areas, development 
pressures can be channelled away from the countryside and 
productive agricultural land can be protected. Rural areas have 
an important function as providers of food, energy and mineral 
resources. Communities in rural areas are strongly supported;  
the aim is to secure sustainable economic and housing growth 
which is focussed on retaining and attracting working age 
population and maintaining and improving access to services.  
In areas designated for their landscape or ecological importance, 
protection against inappropriate development remains in place.

The spatial strategy empowers local policy and decision-makers 
to develop the national priorities through Strategic and Local 
Development Plans and identify areas and issues of significance 
to their particular areas. 

T
udalen 194



25

South
East

Wales

North
Wales

Mid and
South West

Wales

Wrexham
and Deeside

Swansea
Bay and
Llanelli Cardiff

National Parks

Regional Connectivity

Intra-urban Connectivity

International Connections 

Regional Growth Areas

National Growth Areas

Strategic Port / Airport

Areas of Outstanding
Natural Beauty (AONBs)

Spatial Strategy

T
udalen 195



26

Strategic and Spatial Choices: the NDF Spatial Strategy

Spatial Strategy: Planning and managing growth
We want places to be healthy, prosperous, vibrant and cohesive, 
and to support well-being. How we shape places will determine 
how we respond to climate challenges and make use of our 
resources. It is important that places are well planned and have 
strategies for ensuring our needs and demands are met and 
managed in a sustainable way. Sustainably planned places 
reduce the need to travel by car; encourage walking, cycling and 
public transport; embed green infrastructure; and take action 
to ensure air is clean. They ensure homes and businesses are 
connected to essential services such as energy, water and 
broadband and provide different spaces for all our daily activities. 

Planning is fundamental to achieving liveable, successful places.  
We set out in the preceding section those parts of Wales which 
will accommodate strategic growth. This section, which applies 
to all parts of Wales, sets out how this growth should be planned 
and managed to create sustainable places.

Supporting our urban areas

The growth aspirations of the NDF are an opportunity to shape 
and grow, renew and regenerate our cities and towns and create 
sustainable, healthy places which embed green infrastructure. 
The Welsh Government wants towns and cities that are compact 
and organised around urban centres and public transport hubs.

Density is a key factor in shaping how places grow and function. 
Higher density development makes efficient use of land, requires 
less land to be developed and protects rural areas from loss of 
countryside. Higher densities provide the necessary intensity of 
people and activity to animate streets and public spaces, support 
high streets and sustain good public transport services. 

Successful, healthy towns and cities have a rich mix of 
residential, commercial and community uses within close 
proximity to each other. This creates activity throughout the day 
and enables people to walk and cycle to school, work or the 
shops, rather than being reliant on travelling by car. 

The density and mix of uses of development should reflect the 
site and area’s wider context, particularly the proximity to an 
urban centre and the public transport accessibility. This variety 
will result in different areas having different characteristics, 
including some lively and busy areas and some quieter and more 
secluded areas, which will result in places that cater for varied 
lifestyles. However, low density and mono-functional development 
in areas with the potential for greater densities and a mix of uses, 
misses the opportunity to allow more people to live closer to 
transport hubs, jobs, services and cultural destinations and fails 
to create more sustainable places. 

The Welsh Government promotes Transit Orientated 
Development, which involves the above mentioned principles 
of compact, higher density, mixed use development around 
transport corridors and stations. The Metro projects, which 

Policy 1 – Sustainable Urban Growth
Urban growth should support towns and cities that are compact and orientated around urban centres and integrated public transport and active travel networks. 
Higher density and mixed use development on sites with good access to urban centres and public transport hubs, including new and improved Metro stations, 
will be promoted and supported.

P1

P1

T
udalen 196



Strategic and Spatial Choices: the NDF Spatial Strategy

27

are at different stages of progress, all offer significant and 
timely opportunities to identify locations for Transit Orientated 
Developments around new and existing stations. Land in 
close proximity and with good access to Metro stations is an 
important and finite resource and will play a key role in delivering 
sustainable urban places.

Good planning and a commitment to excellence in urban design 
are required to successfully accommodate higher density 
developments. High density does not necessarily mean high 
rise and it should not be achieved by squeezing standard design 
houses closer together or by reducing internal living space. Urban 
solutions to the layout and design of development, including 
compact forms of development, are capable of integrating 
higher densities in a way that creates vibrant places, with a high 
quality public realm and a good quality of life. Incorporating 
green infrastructure, in particular, will require innovative design 
solutions to deliver wider well-being benefits.

These principles are applicable to towns and cities with good 
public transport links throughout Wales. They are scalable, with 
the definition of higher density and mixed use development 
varying in different places. Further guidance will be produced 
to support the implementation of the policy in different parts of 
Wales. 

The principle of ‘town centres first’ is well established in planning 
policy in relation to retail developments. However, good planning 
can help us re-think the future of town and city centres, which 
are moving away from their traditional retail roles. They remain 

important focal points of communities and are increasingly 
becoming places to live and work, centres of community and 
cultural activity, and the focus for public services such as health 
and education. 

Public service facilities include hospitals, primary healthcare 
facilities, libraries, universities and colleges and any public 
sector organisation building which attracts significant numbers 
of workers and visitors. Local planning authorities, both urban 
and rural, should be confident in defining what constitutes 
development of ’a significant scale’ for their area. Appropriate 
definitions can be produced through an understanding of the 
type and scale of development an area can expect, the quality 
of the public transport services they will rely upon and with local 
consultation.

Public investment and land 

Investment by the public sector and the decisions it takes 
regarding its land can make a major contribution to shaping 
places. The Welsh Government and the wider public sector must 
lead the way in shaping sustainable places. Public services and 
facilities are central to our lives and support society best when 
they are accessible to all.  

Major public buildings and facilities serve large populations, 
often well beyond the boundaries of the settlement. These 
include general hospitals, large government buildings, council 
offices, transport hubs, colleges and universities. Smaller 
developments which serve part of a city or town, including 

Policy 2 – Supporting Urban Centres 
Proposals for new public service facilities of a significant scale should be located in town and city centres. A sequential approach must be used to assess 
development plan allocations and to determine planning applications for developments. Only in exceptional circumstances should public service facilities 
of a significant scale be approved outside of town and city centres. 

P2

P2

T
udalen 197



28

Strategic and Spatial Choices: the NDF Spatial Strategy

schools and GP surgeries, may be more appropriate in accessible 
locations within neighbourhoods, particularly in or adjacent to local 
centres, where they can better meet the needs of communities. 

Policy P3 applies to major trip-generating developments, such as 
public service facilities, sport stadia, cultural venues and exhibition 
spaces which have the potential to drive regeneration and often 
rely on public funding.  

The Well-being of Future Generations Act means all public sector 
bodies in Wales have a duty to deliver the well-being goals. This will 
require consideration of the wider implications  
of decisions in relation to the sale, re-use and development  
of publicly owned land. 

In assessing the cost or value of the potential development 
of publicly owned land, either by the public sector or following 
a sale to a private or third sector interest, all potential costs 
should be considered. These include costs to the environment, 
climate change targets and wider society. A development in an 
unsustainable location that results in increased car trips, that 
is poorly served by public transport, that is inaccessible to the 
least mobile or poorest members of society, that fails to make 
a contribution to supporting vibrant town and city centres will have 
negative impacts on both current and future generations. A short 
term capital receipt or a cheaper development cost is unlikely to 
offset these longer term costs. 

The Welsh Government, UK Government departments, 
local authorities and other public landowners should undertake 
strategic reviews of their land holdings in Wales and consider the 
NDF Outcomes and spatial strategy. Where publicly owned land 
could support sustainable places, positive consideration should 
be given to the future use of this land and whether it could, for 
example, support new mixed use development, including affordable 
housing and new commercial activities, or transport infrastructure.

Supporting our rural areas 

Large parts of Wales are rural in character. Rural areas are sparsely 
populated, with 40% of the population living in settlements of less 
than 10,000 people in Wales, and they are integral to the health 
and livelihood of our nation. Like our urban centres, rural areas 
are diverse, with both prosperous and deprived communities, 
innovative businesses, essential resources and distinctive histories 
and cultures. They draw visitors to Wales from around the world 
and they play a major role in meeting our water, food and energy 
needs. They also include places where Welsh is the main language 
of the community.

It is important the challenges faced by the rural economy, 
in particular the agricultural sector, are at the fore when 
considering the future of rural areas and that the planning 
system responds to these challenges, facilitating appropriate new 
development and diversification. 

Policy 3 – Public Investment, Public Buildings and Publicly Owned Land
Welsh Government investments and land holdings will support the delivery of sustainable places. We will work with all public land owners and investors to ensure 
that new development of a significant scale is located in town and city centres which are accessible by walking, cycling and public transport. 
Strategic and Local Development Plans should review publicly owned land, both redundant and in current use, to identify potential sites for development  
and re-development, including for mixed use and affordable housing developments that will support the creation of sustainable places.  

P3

P3

T
udalen 198



Strategic and Spatial Choices: the NDF Spatial Strategy

29

Strategic and Local Development Plans should ensure people living 
in rural areas have access to jobs, services and social infrastructure 
of appropriate scale. They should support strong and resilient 
rural areas, with a positive framework for economic development, 
diversification and meeting local housing needs. Strategic spatial 
decisions must ensure the needs of the dispersed rural population 
are met.   

Rural towns are integral to their surrounding areas and should be 
supported. It is important that rural communities have appropriate 
access to wider job and economic markets, and decisions on 
regional economic development and transport infrastructure and 
services should consider the needs of all parts of Wales. It is also 
important that rural communities are able to develop stronger 
economies and support enterprise. Strong rural economies support 
strong and resilient communities, can reduce the need to travel, and 
reduce the reliance on a small number of larger economic centres. 
Priority should be given to economic activities with strong links to 
rural areas, including food and drink processing, energy generation, 
tourism and leisure, the environmental economy and businesses 
ancillary to farming, forestry and other rural economic activities. 
The improved provision of broadband in rural Wales supports an 
increasingly diverse business base.

The Welsh Government wants rural areas to sustain themselves and 
meet the needs of those living there and it also wants the Strategic 
and Local Development Plans prepared in rural areas to develop 
strong, ambitious policies that support rural areas. Where these 
plans identify growth in rural settlements, this will be supported 
where it is appropriate, proportionate to the needs of the settlement 
and the wider rural area they serve and where it has been planned 
through the evidence based, consultative development plan process. 

In the preparation of development plans and in determining 
proposals through the Development Management process, decision 
makers should be confident in identifying which areas constitute 
‘rural’ in the context of this policy. A rural location within proximity of 
the major urban areas experiences a different set of issues in terms 
of access to housing, employment, essential health, education and 
transport services than a rural location in central mid Wales and 
it may not be appropriate for rural focussed policy to be applied 
to both types of location equally. Through an understanding of the 
issues and geography of an area and through the preparation of 
development plans, appropriate definitions can be prepared. 

The policies in this section on supporting urban centres, delivering 
affordable homes, supporting communities through the use of 
publicly owned land, mobile action zones and the provision of 
electric vehicle charging infrastructure all apply to Wales’ rural areas. 
They should be considered as priority issues for the preparation of 
Strategic and Local Development Plans across the whole of Wales.

Policy 4 – Supporting Rural Communities
The Welsh Government supports sustainable rural communities and appropriate proportionate growth in rural towns and villages. 
The future for rural areas are best planned at the regional and local level. Strategic and Local Development Plans should plan positively to meet the needs of rural 
communities with regard to housing, transport, businesses, services and diversification in the agricultural sector.

P4

P4

T
udalen 199



30

Strategic and Spatial Choices: the NDF Spatial Strategy

Delivering Affordable Homes

Providing housing in Wales at levels which meet our needs 
is a priority. There is a complex picture of provision and the 
opportunities people have vary significantly depending on income 
and where they live in Wales. 

The Welsh Government has published a range of ‘Estimates 
of housing need in wales’ based on different demographic 
scenarios. The central estimate suggests a need for an additional 
114,000 homes across Wales up to 2038. During the initial five 
years (2018/19 to 2022/23) it is estimated that on average 
8,300 additional homes will be required annually, with more 
than half (57%) of these homes needed in South East Wales, 
almost a quarter (24%) in Mid and South West Wales and 19% in 
North Wales.

These estimates also indicate that the provision of affordable 
homes should become a key focus for housing delivery. It is 
estimated under the central estimate that on average 47% of 
additional homes should be affordable housing (social housing 
or intermediate rent) throughout 2018/19 to 2022/23, with the 
remaining 53% being market housing. This represents an average 
of approximately 3,900 affordable homes and 4,400 market 
homes per year over the five year period.

The scale of the housing challenge is illustrated in the Chart 
below, which demonstrates that delivery of new homes over 
the last ten years has not reached the level of additional homes 
that it is now estimated are required over the next five years. 

18000

16000

14000

12000

10000

8000

6000

4000

2000

0

Private enterprise new dwellings Registered Social Landlords new dwellings Local Authority new dwellings

1974 - 1979 1979 - 1984 1984 - 1989 1989 - 1994 1994 - 1999 1999 - 2004 2004 - 2009 2009 - 2014 2014 - 2018

Housing completions 1974-2018: Wales

Source: Information on new dwelling completions by financial year by tenure in Wales are based on the reports of local authority building inspectors and the National House Building Council (NHBC). It is sometimes difficult for building control 
officers who record the data to identify the intended final tenure of the property (the basis for the tenure information). This may lead to an under-count of social sector new house building and an over-count for the private sector. Therefore 
the tenure breakdown should be treated with caution.

T
udalen 200



Strategic and Spatial Choices: the NDF Spatial Strategy

31

To address both the ‘delivery gap’ and housing need in Wales, 
a shift in the delivery model is required by building affordable 
homes at scale and pace. The gap has widened since greater 
reliance has been placed on the private sector to meet this basic 
human need. To address this we will support a more balanced 
approach with local authorities, registered social landlords and 
Small and Medium sized construction and building enterprises 
encouraged to build more homes. The reuse of publicly owned 
land will be important to the delivery of these homes.

The planning system has a long established role in the delivery 
of affordable housing. We are committed to ensuring that new 
housing meets the needs of all members of society especially 

those unable to afford to buy on the open market. Sustainable 
places are inclusive and welcoming to all; they do not exclude 
sections of the community or create ghettos of the affluent and 
the poor. The Welsh Government is committed to increasing the 
delivery of affordable housing in the areas where it is needed 
and will use its funding, land, planning and housing policies to 
drive delivery. We recognise that the affordability of housing is not 
uniform across Wales and different responses will be needed in 
different parts of Wales to meet the needs of local communities.  

The Welsh Government will work with everyone involved in the 
planning and delivery of affordable housing, including those in 
the public, private and third sectors to achieve these aims. 

Policy 5 – Delivering Affordable Homes
The Welsh Government will increase delivery of affordable homes by ensuring that funding for affordable homes is effectively allocated and utilised. 
Strategic and Local Development Plans should develop strong evidence based policy frameworks to deliver affordable housing, including setting development plan 
targets based on regional estimates of housing need and local assessments. In response to local and regional needs, they should identify sites for affordable housing 
led developments and explore all opportunities to increase the supply of affordable housing. 

P5

P5

T
udalen 201



32

Strategic and Spatial Choices: the NDF Spatial Strategy

Changing Technology: Mobile Communications

Mobile phones are an essential tool in our everyday lives. In 
addition to making calls, for many of us they are how we access 
media, e-mails, entertainment, services and information. 
They are becoming means of payment, tools to make transport 
arrangements, order our food and shopping and keep in touch 
with schools, public services and employers. Good mobile 
communications coverage is important to economic and 
social wellbeing. 

We are committed to ensuring all parts of Wales are supported 
by the telecoms infrastructure they need. We will identify Mobile 
Action Zones, focusing on areas of little or no coverage and 
where there is demand for new infrastructure, to provide a focus 
for our actions. We will work with mobile network operators, 
infrastructure providers and local authorities to increase digital 
connectivity in the Mobile Action Zones we identify.

Changing Technology: Ultra Low Emission Vehicles

Sustainable places will support a reduction in the need to travel, 
particularly by private vehicles, and a modal shift to walking, 
cycling and public transport. A transition away from petrol and 
diesel vehicles to ultra low emission (including electric) vehicles 
is also crucial to the achievement of the Welsh Government’s 
carbon reduction targets. 

It is important that we plan and deliver the infrastructure, and 
in particular the charging infrastructure, that electric vehicles 
will rely on. We expect business and industry to drive much of 
the roll out of charging infrastructure. There is also an important 
role for the public sector and the Welsh Government will set 
out a strategy for electric charging infrastructure. We will keep 
under review the pace and geography of the delivery of charging 
infrastructure, particularly in rural areas, to ensure that no parts 
of Wales are left behind in this transition.

Changes in transport technology also offer the opportunity to 
change the way in which we travel. The advent of driverless cars 
will inevitably present new challenges and opportunities and 
could, in the future, completely transform the current concepts 
of private car ownership, especially within and close to our major 
urban areas. 

P6

Policy 6 – Planning in Mobile Action Zones
In Mobile Action Zones, local planning authorities and telecommunications operators will work together to increase mobile coverage collaboratively by identifying 
suitable sites and buildings for new equipment and infrastructure. 
Considerable weight will be given to the need to increase mobile phone coverage, along with its associated economic benefits. Accordingly, there is a presumption in 
favour for new mobile telecommunications infrastructure, provided that there are no significant adverse landscape impacts. 

Policy 7 – Ultra Low Emission Vehicles
The Welsh Government supports the increasing use of ultra low emission vehicles. We will work with the UK Government, local authorities, the energy sector and 
businesses to plan for and implement the roll out of electric vehicle charging infrastructure, including the creation of a network of rapid charging points to enable 
longer distance travel by electric vehicles throughout Wales. 

P6

P7

P7

T
udalen 202



Strategic and Spatial Choices: the NDF Spatial Strategy

33

Supporting Strategic Green Infrastructure 

The Welsh Government is committed to reversing the decline 
in biodiversity and increasing the resilience of our ecosystems. 
In collaboration with our partners, including Natural Resources 
Wales and local authorities, we will take strategic action to secure 
biodiversity enhancements, to safeguard ecological networks, 
and to maximise the use of green infrastructure and nature 
based solutions. Effective action is generally best undertaken at 
a regional or local level reflecting individual opportunities.

Planning Policy Wales sets out a range of policies to maintain and 
enhance biodiversity and promote the resilience of ecosystems, 
including the stepwise approach. The NDF’s strategic focus on 
urban growth requires an increased emphasis on biodiversity 
enhancement in order to ensure that the approach is sustainable. 

We need to expand and make connections between our 
designated sites to increase the ability of species and 
ecosystems to adapt to the pressures of climate change and 
pollution. Strategic and Local Development Plans should consider 
how designated sites fit within the wider network of habitats, 
and assess what action needs to be taken to safeguard land 
which may be needed to connect or enlarge those sites in order 

to contribute to their long-term resilience, to contribute to the 
wider resilience of ecological networks, or to protect and enhance 
ecological services.

Safeguarding is intended to ensure that areas of land that are 
potentially important for expanding or connecting ecological 
networks, adapting to climate change or other pressures, 
or which provide key ecological services, are not unduly 
compromised by development. Safeguarding does not necessarily 
prohibit development, but sets out a requirement to consider both 
the long-term future land needs of the habitats and species it is 
intended to protect and improve, and the present and predicted 
future needs for particular ecosystem services and functions. 
Areas may be safeguarded for a wide variety of reasons, including 
the need to increase the resilience or connectivity of certain 
habitat types, such as species rich meadows.

Local authorities and Natural Resources Wales should work 
together to ensure that appropriate action is taken to safeguard 
sites both within and beyond their administrative boundaries. 
Safeguarded areas should be identified through the Green 
Infrastructure Assessment, and set out in the development plan.

Policy 8 – Strategic framework for biodiversity enhancement and ecosystem resilience
To ensure the enhancement of biodiversity and the resilience of ecosystems, the Welsh Government and its key partners will identify:

• areas which could be safeguarded as ecological networks for their potential importance for adaptation to climate change or other pressures, for habitat 
restoration or creation, or which provide key ecosystems services, to ensure they are not unduly compromised by future development; and

• opportunities where strategic green infrastructure could be maximised as part of development proposals, requiring the use of nature based solutions as a key 
mechanism for securing sustainable growth, ecological connectivity, social equality and public well-being. 

Planning authorities should include these sites in their development plan strategies and policies in order to promote and safeguard the functions and opportunities 
they provide.
In all cases, cumulative action towards securing the enhancement of biodiversity and the resilience of ecosystems should be demonstrated as part of development 
proposals through innovative, nature-based approaches to site planning and the design of the built environment.

P8

P8

T
udalen 203



34

Strategic and Spatial Choices: the NDF Spatial Strategy

Strategic green infrastructure in and around urban areas

Urban ecosystems play a vital role in supporting physical and 
mental well-being. There are significant positive links between 
mental well-being and access to green space in urban areas, 
and we receive benefits not only by being more active, but also 
just through being in and near green spaces. Even limited open 
green space in dense urban areas can provide benefits to large 
numbers of people, provided that it is high quality and accessible. 

As the population of Wales becomes increasingly urban, the 
opportunity to optimise well-being benefits from ecosystems 
will be greatest in these areas. Through the innovative use of 
nature-based solutions, and by increasing well-integrated green 
infrastructure in and around urban areas, development can 
restore natural features and processes into cities and landscapes, 
maintain and enhance the strategic functioning of our natural 
resources and ecological networks, and provide locally accessible, 
high quality green spaces and corridors.

Strategic Green Infrastructure mapping

Natural Resources Wales have produced indicative maps to 
illustrate national biodiversity themes. They provide the starting 
point for considering enhancement as part of green infrastructure 
assessments and a means of ensuring that cumulative action is 
taken to secure enhancement through development proposals.

Area Statements will develop this approach by identifying 
key challenges and opportunities to strengthen ecological 
networks and ecosystem services. They will provide a local scale 
evidence base and mapping of key environmental themes, 
and will identify areas where taking action at the right scale 
can maximise benefits. Any priority areas for action identified 
in Area Statements are a material planning consideration, 
and development plans should set out appropriate policies to 
safeguard and connect these areas, and to protect and enhance 
their identified key ecological functions and features.

Regional and local interventions can collectively contribute 
towards increasing the resilience of our national ecological 
networks. The Welsh Government expects Strategic and Local 
Development Plans to set out strategies that contribute to these 
aims through their Green Infrastructure Assessments, and form 
an appropriate policy response. 

Woodlands provide a wide range of benefits for society, from 
abating carbon emissions and reducing flood risk in sensitive 
locations, to being increasingly important as community 
resources, and providing places for active recreation, education 
and lifelong learning. Our woods and forests underpin many 
economic activities and sectors and have a key role to play in 
replacing fossil fuels, storing carbon and helping us to cope with 
the effects of a changing climate. The ‘right tree in the right place’ 
plays a key role in realising these benefits. 

T
udalen 204



Strategic and Spatial Choices: the NDF Spatial Strategy

35

Policy 9 – National forest 
The Welsh Government is committed to developing a national forest, and will identify appropriate delivery sites and mechanisms to achieve this aim. Action to 
safeguard proposed locations for the national forest will be supported.

P9

P9

An increase in woodland cover is needed to help build the 
resilience of our ecosystems, to secure the delivery of our climate 
change and decarbonisation aspirations, and to ensure that the 
productive potential of Welsh woodlands is maintained.

The Welsh Government has therefore set a target to increase 
woodland cover in Wales by at least 2,000 hectares per annum 
from 2020. A national forest will help achieve this target and 
improve well-being for people and communities.

The forest will be a national asset which could provide jobs 
in timber, leisure, tourism and other sectors. It is likely to be 
dispersed across a number of locations, and could act as a 
catalyst for improving land in need of regeneration. Any sites 
or development proposals, which require planning permission 
and forming part of this project, should be supported where 
appropriate. There is an opportunity for the national forest to be 
linked by green infrastructure incorporating active travel facilities 
and to become an important asset for local people and tourists.

T
udalen 205



36

Strategic and Spatial Choices: the NDF Spatial Strategy

Spatial strategy: Powering and heating places with 
renewable energy and District Heat Networks
The spatial strategy provides a long term context and framework 
for infrastructure investment and the protection of the 
environment and places a strong emphasis on the requirement 
to make the best use of our resources.

Growing our towns and cities will require clean energy and an 
efficient means of providing heat and power to homes and 
workplaces. This section sets out the spatial implications of our 
energy and heat needs.

Renewable Energy

Wales is abundant in opportunities to generate renewable 
energy and the Welsh Government is committed to maximising 
this potential. Generating renewable energy is a key part of our 
commitment to decarbonisation and tackling the causes of 
climate change. 

We have set the following ambitious targets for the generation of 
renewable energy:

• For 70 per cent of electricity consumption to be generated 
from renewable energy by 2030.

• For one gigawatt of renewable energy capacity to be 
locally owned by 2030.

• For new renewable energy projects to have at least an 
element of local ownership by 2020.

Proposals for large scale energy development are classed as 
Developments of National Significance and are determined by 
Welsh Ministers. Proposals below the threshold for Developments 
of National Significance are determined by local planning 
authorities. Large scale energy developments include: 

• All on-shore wind generation over 10 mega watts.

• Other renewable energy generation sites with generating 
power between 10 mega watts and 350 mega watts.

Our spatial priority is for large scale wind and solar development 
to be directed towards Priority Areas for Wind and Solar Energy 
shown on page 42. There is a presumption in favour of large scale 
on-shore wind and solar energy development in these areas, 
an acceptance of landscape change and a focus on maximising 
benefits and minimising impacts. Communities will be protected 
from significant cumulative impacts to avoid unacceptable 
situations whereby, for example, smaller settlements could be 
potentially surrounded by large wind schemes.

The Welsh Government will use its policy levers to assist in 
the delivery of renewable energy projects in these areas. 
The development of Priority Areas will assist in co-ordinating 
strategic action, bringing a critical mass of new renewables 
developments together to build the case for new or reinforced 
grid infrastructure. We will work with relevant stakeholders to help 
unlock the renewable energy potential of these areas and the 
economic, social and environmental benefits they can bring to 
communities. 

T
udalen 206



Strategic and Spatial Choices: the NDF Spatial Strategy

37

Large scale wind and solar renewable energy development can 
be visually prominent. A strategic review of landscape and visual 
impact identified the Priority Areas for Solar and Wind Energy 
as the most appropriate locations to accommodate landscape 
change. There is, therefore, an acceptance of landscape change 
in these areas. However, the design and micro siting of proposals 
must minimise the landscape and visual impact, particularly 
those in close proximity to built-up areas. 

The Welsh Government adopts a clear 
traffic light based approach to its policy 
on large scale wind and solar renewable 
energy projects. 

These technologies are viable and deliverable, and have the 
greatest ability to make positive contributions to our renewable 
energy targets in the short-to-medium term:

RED: Large scale on-shore wind and solar 
energy development is not appropriate 
within National Parks and Areas of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty.

AMBER: Areas not within the Priority Areas. 
These will not carry explicit Welsh Government 
support and proposals will be determined on 
their individual merits. 

GREEN: Priority Areas for Solar and Wind 
Energy where there is a presumption in favour 
of development and where the principle of 
landscape change is accepted.

T
udalen 207



38

Strategic and Spatial Choices: the NDF Spatial Strategy

Not all of the area within the Priority Areas for Solar and Wind 
Energy is suitable for the generation of renewable energy. 
Natura 2000 sites within the Priority Areas are excluded. 
Careful consideration will be given to the siting of schemes, 
particularly the cumulative impacts. Further guidance on the 
development of on-shore wind and solar energy schemes in 
Priority Areas will be produced to assist in the development 
process. The implementation of developments within the 
Priority Areas will be monitored against the Welsh Government’s 
renewable energy targets. 

Policy 10 – Wind and Solar Energy in Priority Areas
The Welsh Government supports large scale on-shore wind and solar energy development in the identified Priority Areas for Solar and Wind Energy. There is 
a presumption in favour of development for these schemes and an associated acceptance of landscape change. 
When determining planning applications for large scale on-shore wind and solar energy development in Priority Areas, significant weight will be given to the proposal’s 
contribution to reducing Wales’ greenhouse gas emissions and meeting our decarbonisation and renewable energy targets. 
Planning applications must demonstrate how local social, economic and environmental benefits have been maximised and the following adverse impacts have been 
minimised:

• landscape and visual impacts;  
• cumulative impacts;  
• the setting of National Parks and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty;  
• visual dominance, shadow flicker, reflected light or noise impacts;   
• electromagnetic disturbance to existing communications systems; and
• the following identified protected assets:

- archaeological, architectural or historic assets;
- nature conservation sites and species;
- natural resources or reserves.

Suitable access to the site for construction and maintenance purposes must be provided. Plans must also be in place for the end of the development’s lifetime, 
including the removal of all infrastructure as soon as their use ceases and the appropriate after-use of the site.

P10

P10

T
udalen 208



Introduction

39

T
udalen 209



40

Strategic and Spatial Choices: the NDF Spatial Strategy

Policy 11 – Wind and Solar Energy Outside of Priority Areas
Outside of the Priority Areas for Solar and Wind, planning applications for large scale wind and solar development must demonstrate the proposal is acceptable, 
in accordance with the criteria below.
Planning applications must demonstrate how local social, economic and environmental benefits have been maximised and that there are no unacceptable adverse 
effects on, or due to, the following:

• landscape and visual impacts;  
• cumulative impacts;  
• the setting of National Parks and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty;  
• visual dominance, shadow flicker, reflected light or noise impacts;   
• electromagnetic disturbance to existing communications systems; and
• the following identified protected assets:

- archaeological, architectural or historic assets;
- nature conservation sites and species;
- natural resources or reserves.

Suitable access to the site for construction and maintenance purposes must be provided. Plans must also be in place for the end of the development’s lifetime, 
including the removal of all infrastructure as soon as their use ceases and the appropriate after-use of the site.

Policy 12 – Wind and Solar Energy in National Parks and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty
Large scale on-shore wind and solar energy development is not acceptable within National Parks and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty.

P11

Outside the Priority Areas, large scale on-shore wind and solar 
energy developments may be appropriate. Applications will be 
determined based on the merits of the individual proposal and 
the onus is on the applicant to demonstrate that a proposal will 
not have an unacceptable impact on its surroundings.

Large scale on-shore wind and solar energy development is not 
appropriate within National Parks and Areas of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty. Proposals close to the boundaries of these designated 
areas must demonstrate that the development will not undermine 
the objectives that underpin the purposes of the designation.

P11

P12

P12

T
udalen 210



Strategic and Spatial Choices: the NDF Spatial Strategy

41

Renewable energy technologies other than wind and solar are 
supported in principle. The Welsh Government is preparing an 
Energy Atlas to identify opportunities for all types of renewable 
projects. Proposals should ensure there is no significant 
unacceptable detrimental impact on the surrounding natural 
environment and local communities and that the development 
brings with it positive social, environmental and economic 
benefits. 

Large scale renewable energy schemes can generate direct social 
and economic benefit to local communities across the country. 
Local ownership of projects in whole or part can ensure these 
benefits are accrued over the long-term, generating funds to 
develop community facilities and help address fuel poverty.

Renewable energy projects can also provide environmental 
benefits, such as contributing to resilient ecological networks, 
restoring degraded peatlands and restoring semi-natural 
grasslands on post-agricultural land. The Welsh Government 
encourages active consideration of how these benefits can be 
realised in all renewable energy developments. With all projects, 
provisions for access to the site for construction and maintenance 
of the scheme should recognise and respond to the environment 
in which they are located. The careful removal of infrastructure as 
soon as their use ceases and the appropriate after-use of the site 
will also ensure environmental benefits are realised.

Policy 13 – Other Renewable Energy Developments
Proposals for other large scale renewable energy generation will be determined in accordance with the criteria of policy P11. 

P13

P13

T
udalen 211



42

Strategic and Spatial Choices: the NDF Spatial Strategy

Wales Energy Priority Areas

Caernarfon

Holyhead

Bangor

Colwyn
Bay

Dolgellau

Welshpool

Builth Wells

Llandrindod Wells

Newtown

Fishguard

Carmarthen

Cardigan

Haverfordwest

Milford Haven

Pembroke
Dock

Merthyr
Tydfil

Port Talbot

Ebbw Vale

Pontypridd

Abergavenny

Chepstow

Monmouth

Mostyn

Pwllheli

Caernarfon

Holyhead

Bangor

Colwyn
Bay

Dolgellau

Welshpool

Builth Wells

Llandrindod Wells

Newtown

Fishguard

Carmarthen

Cardigan

Haverfordwest

Milford Haven

Pembroke
Dock

Merthyr
Tydfil

Port Talbot

Ebbw Vale

Pontypridd

Abergavenny

Chepstow

Monmouth

Mostyn

Pwllheli

Wrexham

Brecon

Aberystwyth

Swansea
Neath

Llanelli

Caerphilly

Bridgend

Barry

Cardiff

Newport

Connah’s Quay/
Shotton

Pontypool

Wrexham

Brecon

Aberystwyth

Swansea
Neath

Llanelli

Caerphilly

Bridgend

Barry

CwmbranCwmbran

Cardiff

Newport

Connah’s Quay/
Shotton

Pontypool

Solar and Wind Energy

Solar Energy only

data source: Arup

PRIORITY AREAS

1

2

3

4

5

9

14

13

12 11

8

6

7

15

District Heat Networks

10

T
udalen 212



Strategic and Spatial Choices: the NDF Spatial Strategy

43

District Heat Networks

District Heat Networks are a method of delivering heating and 
hot water to multiple buildings from a central heat source and, 
particularly in urban areas, can be the most effective way to 
provide low carbon heat. The Welsh Government supports the 
establishment of District Heat Networks, as part of delivering the 
urban growth focus of the Spatial Strategy. 

Our spatial priority is for the suitability and viability of District 
Heat Networks to be investigated in the towns and cities 
identified as Priority Areas for District Heat Networks shown on 
page 42. These are the areas in Wales considered to have the 
greatest potential for District Heat Networks. They have been 
identified on the basis of having a sufficiently high heat density 
to make them viable. They take into account settlement size, 
mix of uses, development potential and any existing work being 
undertaken to develop District Heat Networks. In principle, they 
are supported wherever they are viable.  

Planning authorities should explore and identify opportunities 
for District Heat Networks, particularly in the Priority Areas, and, 
where possible, seek to develop city or town-wide District Heat 
Networks in as many locations as possible. 

As a minimum, proposals for large scale, mixed use 
developments of 100 dwellings or more should consider the 
potential for a District Heat Network. There is also potential for 
them below this threshold. 

The design of new development should maximise the 
opportunities to accommodate a District Heat Network. Particular 
consideration should be given to the form, density, mix of uses 
and phasing of development.

Policy 14 – Priority Areas for District Heat Networks
Within Priority Areas for District Heat Networks, planning authorities should identify opportunities for District Heat Networks and ensure they are integrated 
within new and existing development. 

Policy 15 – Masterplanning for District Heat Networks 
Large scale mixed used development should, where feasible, have a District Heat Network. Planning applications for such development should prepare an Energy 
Masterplan to establish whether a District Heat Network is the most effective energy supply option and, for feasible projects, a plan for its implementation. 

P15

P15

P14

P14

T
udalen 213



5 The Regions

The Regions

Wales’ three regions provide a focus for Welsh Government policy 
and future investment. Each region has its own distinctive opportunities 
and challenges. Embracing these through more effective regional 
collaboration will lead to better outcomes for all parts of Wales and 
create a fairer distribution of wealth and opportunity.

The planning system has an important role to play in shaping regional 
development by co-ordinating and managing development across 
each region and by ensuring that wider than local issues are tackled 
collaboratively and strategically.

Strategic Development Plans are prepared at a regional scale. 
They consider strategic regional issues in relation to future growth 
areas, housing demand, economic development, transport and green 
infrastructure which cut across local planning authorities and require 
a regional, integrated planning response. 

Informal regional arrangements including commitments to work 
together through traditional Local Development Plans or approaches 
to regional planning that do not result in the preparation of a Strategic 
Development Plan, do not constitute the form of regional planning 
required by the NDF. 

The Development Plans Manual provides guidance on the preparation 
and revision of Strategic Development Plans and Local Development 
Plans.

Mid and South
West Wales

South
East Wales

North Wales

CONWY

DENBIGHSHIRE

WREXHAM

PEMBROKESHIRE

NEATH
PORT TALBOT 

VALE OF GLAMORGAN

CEREDIGION

POWYS

CARMARTHENSHIRE

ISLE OF

ANGLESEY 

GWYNEDD 

FLINTSHIRE 

SWANSEA

MONMOUTHSHIRE 

TORFAEN

BRIDGEND

CARDIFF

NEWPORT

CAERPHILLY

RHONDDA
  CYNON

  TAF 

BLAENAU
GWENT

MERTHYR TYDFIL

T
udalen 214



Introduction

45

T
udalen 215



46

The Regions

Strategic Policies for Regional Planning
Many policy areas are best considered at the regional scale and 
the role of a regional plan is to develop a clear policy framework 
that identifies these issues; develops a strategic policy response; 
and provides direction for decision makers in accordance with the 
plan-led system.

Local authorities and national, regional and local partners in the 
public, private and third sectors all have a contribution to make to 
the development of Strategic Development Plans and these plans 
can include other policy issues that are important at the regional 
scale. The preparation of Local Well-being Plans, Area Statements 
(Natural Resources Wales); regional transport models and plans 
(Transport for Wales); and the Welsh Government’s Housing Need 
Assessment are examples of work that can directly support the 
preparation of Strategic Development Plans. 

To deliver direction for their region, it is important that Strategic 
Development Plans are prepared. Local planning authorities 
should determine their geographical footprints. The Welsh 
Government will work with local planning authorities to support 
the establishment of Strategic Development Plans.

Alignment of Regional Development Plans and 
Strategies
It is important that Strategic Development Plans both shape 
and are shaped by other regional strategies, including the 
Welsh Government’s Regional Economic Development Plans 
and City and Growth Deals. If key outcomes are not aligned or 
do not support one another, the region’s ability to deliver will be 
undermined. Although different regional strategies will operate 
to different timeframes and may be revised at different times, 
regional plan makers should explore with regional partners how 
evidence and consultation activities can be joined. 

Policy 16 – Strategic Policies for Regional Planning
Strategic Development Plans should embed placemaking as an overarching principle and should establish for the region (and where required constituent LDPs):

• a spatial strategy;
• a settlement hierarchy;
• the housing provision and requirement;
• the gypsy and traveller need;
• the employment provision;
• the spatial areas for strategic housing and employment growth, renewable energy and the identification of green belts, green corridors and nationally important 

landscapes;
• the location of key services, transport and connectivity infrastructure;
• a framework for the sustainable management of natural resources and cultural assets;
• ecological networks and opportunities for protecting or enhancing the connectivity of these networks; and
• a co-ordinated framework for minerals extraction and the circular economy, including waste treatment and disposal.

The Welsh Government requires Strategic Development Plans to come forward in each of the three regions to deliver the requirements of this policy. 

P16

P16

T
udalen 216



The Regions

47

NDF Review & Regional Planning
The Welsh Government requires progress on regional planning 
across Wales and as part of the monitoring of the NDF, 
will monitor formal progress on the preparation of Strategic 
Development Plans.  

The Three Regions
The following sections set out the NDF policies for each region 
and provide direction for the preparation of Strategic and Local 
Development Plans and decisions to be taken on planning 
proposals.  

T
udalen 217



48

The Regions

North Wales

A northern arc of 
built up areas runs across 
the region where population, deprivation, 
key services, facilities, commuting and 
economic activity are concentrated.

The east is part of a much larger 
cross-border built up area, 
which includes Liverpool and Manchester.

There is good connectivity 
by road and rail along the northern coast.

The west is an area of 
high landscape 
and environmental quality.

North-south connections 
are weaker and influenced 
by topography.

The risk of flooding 
is significant on areas of the 
northern and western coasts.

There are over 200,000 
Welsh speakers 

Settlement sizes are generally 
small. Over 80% of the population 
live in settlements of 
fewer than 25,000 
people. In Anglesey and 
Gwynedd the majority of the 
population live in settlements of 
less than 2000 people. 

Population is spread across the region. 

More than 310,000 people 
live in Anglesey,Gwynedd and Conwy.

There is a large
rural hinterland.

Only Wrexham, Rhyl and Colwyn Bay have 
more than 25,000 people.

T
udalen 218



The Regions

49

Overview
The North Wales region comprises Conwy, Denbighshire, 
Flintshire, Gwynedd, the Isle of Anglesey, Snowdonia National 
Park and Wrexham and is home to almost 700,000 people. 
Its dramatic landscape includes low lying coastal plains, 
mountain ranges and industrialised coal fields. The population 
is concentrated in an arc along the coast from the Menai Straits 
to the border with England and the main concentration of 
population is in the east around Wrexham-Deeside. 

The regional issues that local planning authorities should work 
together to plan for, are set out below alongside the spatial policy 
areas that the Welsh Government will focus on from a national 
perspective to support the North region.

A collaborative, holistic approach

Across North Wales, there are a range of strategic issues that 
need to be considered. Many of these issues have national, 
regional and local dimensions and will be delivered through co-
ordinated action at all levels. 

Housing, economic growth and connectivity infrastructure 
should be co-ordinated and planned on the basis of the whole 
region. The management of natural resources and flooding and 
the protection and enhancement of areas of environmental 
and landscape importance should inform strategic decisions 
on locations for growth and new infrastructure. Decarbonising 
society and responding to the threats of climate change should 
be central to all regional planning.

The region should work together to consider the connections with  
Mid & South West Wales, Cheshire West and Chester and 
North West England. Promoting accessibility and inter-linkages 
between these areas, based on an understanding of their roles 
and functions, will ensure these areas operate as a cohesive 
whole, and do not compete against each other or take strategic 
decisions in isolation. 

Focus for growth

In accordance with the NDF Spatial Strategy, growth in the North 
region should be focussed on the main existing built-up areas 
of Wrexham-Deeside. The Wrexham and Deeside area includes 
Wrexham (and Wrexham Industrial Estate), Broughton, Buckley, 
Deeside (and Deeside Industrial Park).

Policy 17 – Wrexham and Deeside
The Welsh Government supports Wrexham and Deeside as the primary focus for regional growth and investment. Wrexham and Deeside’s role within the North 
region and the wider cross-border areas of Cheshire West and Chester and Liverpool City Region should be maintained and enhanced. 
Strategic and Local Development Plans across the region should recognise Wrexham and Deeside as the focus for strategic housing and economic growth; 
essential services and facilities; advanced manufacturing; transport and digital infrastructure; and consider how they can support and benefit from Wrexham 
and Deeside’s regional role. 
The Welsh Government will work with cross border authorities to promote Wrexham and Deeside’s strategic role and ensure key investment decisions support 
Wrexham and Deeside and the wider region.

P17

P17

T
udalen 219



50 Wrexham

Deeside

Llandudno Colwyn 
Bay

Rhyl

Prestatyn

Bangor

Caernarfon

Mostyn

Holyhead

Regional Connectivity

Intra-urban Connectivity

International Connections 

Ports

Green Belt

Anglesey Airport

Anglesey Energy Island

Trawsfynydd

North Wales Metro

Centres of National Growth

Centres of Regional Growth

M

National Growth Area

M

The Regions

T
udalen 220



The Regions

51

The built-up corridor along the North Wales coast from 
Caernarfon to Deeside includes Bangor, Llandudno, Colwyn Bay, 
Rhyl and Prestatyn. The Welsh Government expects the built up 
areas in this arc to continue to play an important role within the 
region, providing jobs; leisure and retail; cultural opportunities; 
education, health and services. It is important this corridor 
maintains its regional role and supports a managed growth 
approach that allows these roles to be enhanced. Regeneration 
opportunities in this corridor are strongly supported. Strategic 
and Local Development Plans across the region should recognise 
the role of this corridor as a focus for housing, employment and 
key services.

Flooding from rivers and sea is a major issue across the region. 
The potential for flooding around Wrexham and Deeside and 
along the North Wales coast will have implications for the delivery 
of growth in this area. Strategic decisions on flood management 
and related investment must be co-ordinated with decisions to 
direct development to growth areas. 

Planning and co-ordinating the delivery of new housing to meet 
identified needs will be an important task for the regional 
planning process. Under the Welsh Government central estimates 
19,400 additional homes are needed in the region until 2038 
and over the initial five years (2018/19 to 2022/23) 51% of 
the additional homes needed should be affordable homes. 
These estimates provide part of the evidence and context on 
which Housing Requirements for Strategic Development Plans 
can be based.

Strategic decisions on the location of key services and 
infrastructure should support existing built-up areas and be 
taken on a regional basis, ensuring they are located in the 
most accessible and sustainable locations and support actions 
to address inequality and deprivation and improve links to 
neighbouring areas of England. The Welsh Government supports 
the use of green belts in the North region in managing and 
planning urban growth. Planning Policy Wales sets out the policy 
context for them. Strategic development plans must identify a 
green belt that includes the area to the north east of Wrexham.

Policy 18 – North Wales Coastal Settlements
The Welsh Government supports the built up coastal arc from Caernarfon to Deeside as the focus for managed growth, reflecting this area’s important sub-regional 
role supporting the primary growth area of Wrexham and Deeside.
Strategic and Local Development Plans across the region should recognise the role of this corridor as a focus for housing, employment and key services.

Policy 19 – Green Belts in North Wales
The Welsh Government supports the role of Strategic Development Plans identifying and establishing green belts to manage urban form and growth in North Wales, 
particularly around Wrexham and Deeside. 
The Strategic Development Plan should consider the relationship of any new green belts with the green belt in Cheshire West and Chester. 

P18

P19

P18

P19

T
udalen 221



52

The Regions

Welsh language

With over 200,000 Welsh speakers across the region and with 
concentrations of settlements where Welsh is the first language 
for many people, it is important that development plans consider 
the relationship between strategic housing, transport and 
economic growth and the Welsh language. 

A strong economy

The Regional Economic Development Plan prepared by the Welsh 
Government in partnership with local authorities, communities, 
business and key stakeholders, will set out the priorities for future 
regional economic development. The planning system, through 
its Strategic and Local Development Plans and the decisions it 
takes, will have a major role to play in shaping the places that 
support and strengthen the regional economy. 

The Strategic Development Plan should be informed by and 
seek to facilitate the delivery of the North Wales Growth Deal 
and ensure support for a smart, resilient and connected North 
Wales. It will provide a framework to take the strategic locational 
decisions that will support the long term ambitions of the Growth 
Deal in relation to housing, economic growth, key services 
and essential infrastructure. They should also consider the 
importance of key economic sectors across the region. 

Tourism is an important sector to the economy across North 
Wales. Strategic and Local Development Plans should consider 
the main tourism areas, the type of visitors they attract and 
the infrastructure required to support existing areas and future 
growth. 

Universities have an important presence in the region, providing 
further education, undertaking research and supporting 
innovation, providing employment, attracting students to 
Bangor and Wrexham and supporting the local businesses 
and communities around them. 

The Strategic Development Plan should seek to maximise 
opportunities arising from investment in high value 
manufacturing sectors. Supported by the Welsh Government, 
the Advanced Manufacturing Research Institute at Broughton, 
when built in 2020, will be a collaboration between the University 
of Sheffield’s Advanced Manufacturing Research Centre, 
Deeside Enterprise Zone Advisory Board, Swansea University and 
Coleg Cambria. It will support Airbus and other key high value 
manufacturing companies and will focus on R&D in advanced 
manufacturing techniques and skills development, for high value 
manufacturing aerospace, automotive, nuclear and food sectors.

The Welsh Government strongly supports resilient and 
prosperous rural communities, as set out by policy P4, and 
expects to see development plans across the region responding 
positively to the aims of this policy.  

T
udalen 222



The Regions

53

P20

P20

A connected, accessible region

The region is served by ports at Holyhead and Mostyn. The Welsh 
Government recognises the importance of the port at Holyhead 
to Anglesey, North Wales, Wales, the wider UK and Ireland. 
Holyhead is a major regional asset and an important gateway 
to Wales and can be the first experience people have of visiting 
Wales. It is important they have a positive experience. Strategic 
and Local Development Plans should consider and plan for 
its future development needs and maximise the opportunities 
it provides to support growth across the region. A new cruise 
terminal can provide enhanced facilities for ships and passengers 
and be a gateway for visitors to the north of Wales. Mostyn plays 
an important role in supporting the off-shore renewable energy 
sector.

Proposals for a North Wales Metro provide an opportunity 
to improve accessibility across the region and are supported 
by the Welsh Government. In accordance with P16, Strategic 
Development Plans must ensure that long term strategic 
decisions maximise the opportunities in areas that will benefit 

from improved accessibility and investment in public transport 
services. There are strong functional relationships between 
settlements and regions in North Wales and North West England, 
with people travelling daily in both directions to access jobs, 
services and facilities in neighbouring regions. 

Strategic and Local Development Plans should be confident in 
seeking to align areas of need with areas of opportunity, including 
where areas of opportunity are across the border and resulting 
investment and action is focussed on improving the links between 
Welsh communities and economic opportunities in England.  

The Welsh Government will maintain its commitment to tackling 
congestion on the A55 including through its Pinch Point 
Programme of small scale interventions aimed at addressing 
congestion pinch points on the main road network. Where 
connectivity corridors between North Wales and England are 
identified, the potential for these corridors to become green 
infrastructure will be explored.  

Policy 20 – Port of Holyhead
The Welsh Government will work with port operators, local authorities and investors to support the development of the port and facilitate new investment in order 
to ensure that its strategic gateway role is maintained and enhanced. Investment to improve the port’s capacity to accommodate cruise ships is supported. 
New development around the port should be carefully managed to ensure that future expansion and change at the port is not constrained or compromised. 

Policy 21 – Transport Links to North West England
The Welsh Government will work with local and regional authorities in North Wales and North West England to ensure transport investments, including in the North 
Wales Metro, strengthen cross-border transport links. 
Strategic and Local Development Plans should support improved transport links between North Wales, Chester, Liverpool and Manchester and plan growth 
to maximise the potential opportunities arising from better regional connectivity.

P21

P21 

T
udalen 223



54

The Regions

A unique region

Managing the North’s outstanding natural resources, which 
include the coast, two world heritage sites, a national park, 
Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty and minerals is a priority 
for the region and it should be ensured they can be enjoyed by 
future generations and help provide economic benefits for the 
region’s communities. The region’s distinctive heritage should 
be preserved and enhanced by high quality development.  

The planning system has a key role in supporting renewable 
energy and ensuring the North plays its part in decarbonising 
society. The region has strong potential for generating wind, solar 
and tidal energy. 

The Welsh Government supports the North West Nuclear Arc 
initiative which is a shared vision (with the UK Government, 
universities and the National Nuclear Laboratory) of realising the 
potential positive impacts the nuclear sector can bring to an area 
in terms of investment, skills and training. The Anglesey ‘Energy 
Island’ Programme also seeks to co-ordinate action around new 
energy developments to maximise the benefits for the area. 

The potential Wylfa Newydd nuclear power station development 
could provide significant employment, training and other 
associated economic benefits across the whole region if 
a decision is made to proceed with the scheme. Small Modular 
(nuclear) Reactors could also potentially provide low carbon 
energy generation in the region. Trawsfynydd is currently being 
promoted by the Snowdonia Enterprise Zone Advisory Board as a  

potential site for a Small Modular Reactor, building on the existing 
sector-specific technical capacity and expertise available locally.

The potential economic benefits of new nuclear developments, 
particularly in terms of their high-value job creation may 
provide a catalyst for regional development. However, 
these considerations will need to be balanced against the  
long-term impact these large-scale developments can 
have on sensitive areas and the surrounding environment. 

The region’s concentration of population, its historic and future 
growth and proximity to markets in North West England mean it 
is a high consumer of materials and natural resources. It is vital 
the region makes the best use of material resources, promotes 
resource efficiency and is ambitious in supporting innovative 
ways of promoting a circular economy. 

Within the region sand and gravel extracted primarily from 
Wrexham and Flintshire and crushed rock aggregates from 
Flintshire, serve both local markets and those in North West 
England. Whilst similar deposits exist in North West Wales, 
particularly in Gwynedd, these are less well-placed to serve the 
main markets and production is therefore more limited. Conwy 
and Denbighshire play an important role providing limestone for 
development and infrastructure projects along the North Wales 
coast. The quarrying of slate aggregate is largely constrained 
by National Park and Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
designations and, where extracted, it is generally used locally 
or for high value developments further afield.

Policy 22 – North West Wales and Energy
The Welsh Government supports North West Wales as a location for new energy development and investment. 
New energy-related development should support local and regional communities; provide jobs and investment in training and skills; and work with universities and 
businesses across the region and North West England to co-ordinate and maximise new investment to support the wider region. 
In determining any applications for nuclear energy generating stations in this region, consideration should be given to the need for further non-renewable energy 
generation, their contribution towards Wales’ energy mix, their impacts on the natural and historic environment and the economic benefits they would bring to 
the region.   

P22

P22

T
udalen 224



The Regions

55

The region contains two national 
parks and an Area of 
Outstanding Natural 
Beauty.

Mid and 
West Wales

Swansea-Neath Port Talbot – Llanelli is part 
of the larger South Wales 
coastal-valleys built-up 
area running east.

574,000 live in Swansea, Neath Port 
Talbot & Carmarthenshire.

Northern and western 
parts of region 
are largely rural.330,000 live in 

Powys, Ceredigion 
& Pembrokeshire.

There are no settlements in 
Powys, Ceredigion or 
Pembrokeshire of more than 
25,000 people.

67% of people in Ceredigion and 
60% in Powys live in settlements 
of fewer than 2000 
people.

There is relatively good 
connectivity along the 
southern coast by road and rail. 

Undulating 
topography across 
mid Wales limits ease of movement 
and digital connectivity.

Outside of the southern coastal area, 
travel by train is 
limited.

There are universities 
at Lampeter, Carmarthen, Swansea 
and Aberystwyth. 

The region has significant 
renewable energy 
potential. 

T
udalen 225



56

The Regions

Overview
The Mid and South West Wales region comprises 
Carmarthenshire, Ceredigion, Neath Port Talbot, Pembrokeshire, 
Powys, Swansea and the Brecon Beacons and Pembrokeshire 
Coast National Parks and has a population of over 900,000 
people. This large and diverse region includes some of the most 
rural and sparsely populated parts of the UK and the urbanised, 
industrialised built up areas around Wales’ second city, Swansea. 
The population is concentrated in the south around Swansea 
Bay and Llanelli, with a secondary cluster of towns around the 
Milford Haven waterway and across the region’s larger towns 
which include Aberystwyth, Carmarthen, Llandrindod Wells and 
Newtown.

The regional issues that local planning authorities should work 
together to plan for are set out below, alongside the spatial 
policy areas the Welsh Government will focus on from a national 
perspective to support the Mid and South West region.

A collaborative, holistic approach

Across Mid and South West Wales, a range of strategic issues 
need to be considered. Many of these issues have national, 
regional and local dimensions and will be delivered through  
co-ordinated action at all levels. 

Housing, economic growth and connectivity infrastructure 
should be co-ordinated and planned across the whole region. 
The management of natural resources and flooding and the 
protection and enhancement of areas of environmental and 
landscape importance should inform strategic decisions on 

locations for growth and new infrastructure. Decarbonising 
society and responding to the threats of climate change should 
be central to all regional planning.

The size and diversity of this region, which includes Wales’ 
second city, two national parks and some of the most rural 
areas of the UK, means that the region does not have the 
degree of interconnectedness of other regions. From a high 
level national perspective, there are two broad spatial sub-
regions – the built up areas around Swansea, Neath Port Talbot, 
southern Carmarthenshire and the Haven towns, and the 
dispersed settlements in a wider rural hinterland across north 
Pembrokeshire, Ceredigion, Powys and northern Carmarthenshire. 

There will be common strategic issues for the region and issues 
which are specific to sub-regions. It will be for local planning 
authorities to determine how regional planning should be 
undertaken across the region. It may be that a combination 
of a Strategic Development Plan and one or more Joint Local 
Development Plans are required. The Welsh Government will 
support approaches that define and focus on  
sub-regions, rather than a single full region, where it is 
demonstrated this is appropriate.

Focus for growth 

In accordance with the NDF Spatial Strategy, growth in the 
Mid and South West Region should primarily be focussed in 
the Swansea Bay and Llanelli area and in a secondary role, 
the Haven Towns, Carmarthen, Llandrindod Wells, Newtown 
and Aberystwyth. 

T
udalen 226



Swansea

Llandrindod Wells

Aberystwyth

Newtown

Carmarthen

Fishguard

Port Talbot

Neath
Llanelli

Milford Haven Pembroke 
Dock
 Pembroke

Haverfordwest

Regional Connectivity

Intra-urban Connectivity

International Connections 

Ports

Swansea Bay Metro 

Centres of National Growth

Centres of Regional Growth

M

National Growth Area

M

The Regions

57

T
udalen 227



58

The Regions

The Welsh Government supports the Swansea Bay and Llanelli 
area (comprising Neath, Port Talbot, the City of Swansea and 
Llanelli) as the primary growth area for the region. This area is the 
main existing centre of population, employment and services and 
is served by the main connectivity infrastructure. The area can 
accommodate new growth in a planned and co-ordinated way, 
to support the needs of the wider surrounding region.

The Welsh Government supports the role of the regional centres 
of Carmarthen, Llandrindod Wells, Newtown, Aberystwyth and the 
four Haven Towns (Milford Haven, Haverfordwest, Pembroke and 
Pembroke Dock). These places play important sub-regional roles, 
providing jobs; leisure and retail; education and health services; 
and connectivity infrastructure that is used and relied on by 
both their own populations and communities around them. It is 
important that these settlements maintain their regional role and 
support a managed growth approach that allows their roles to be 
enhanced. 

Planning and co-ordinating the delivery of new housing to meet 
identified needs will be an important task for the regional 
planning process. Under the Welsh Government central estimates 

23,400 additional homes are needed in the region until 2038 
and over the initial five years (2018/19 to 2022/23) 44% of 
the additional homes needed should be affordable homes. 
These estimates provide part of the evidence and context on 
which Housing Requirements for Strategic Development Plans 
can be based and should be considered at the regional scale.

Strategic decisions on the location of key services and 
infrastructure should support existing communities and be 
taken on a regional basis, ensuring they are located in the 
most accessible and sustainable locations and support actions 
to address inequality and deprivation. In the east of the region, 
links to the English Midlands provide an opportunity to build 
upon existing functional relationships, particularly in relation to 
housing, employment markets and public services. Joint planning 
and infrastructure delivery is supported where it contributes to 
the well-being of the region’s communities. Strategic and Local 
Development Plans should be confident in seeking to align 
areas of need with areas of opportunity, including where areas 
of opportunity are across the border and resulting investment 
and action is focussed on improving the links between Welsh 
communities and economic opportunities in England.

Policy 23 – Swansea Bay and Llanelli
Swansea Bay and Llanelli will be the main focus for regional scale growth and investment. 
Regional and local development plans should recognise Swansea Bay and Llanelli as the focus for strategic growth; essential services and facilities; transport 
and digital infrastructure; and consider how they can support and benefit from their strategic regional role. 
The Welsh Government will promote Swansea Bay and Llanelli’s strategic role and ensure key investment decisions support it and the wider region. 

Policy 24 – Regional Centres 
The towns of Carmarthen, Llandrindod Wells, Newtown, Aberystwyth and the four Haven Towns will be the focus for managed growth, reflecting their important 
sub-regional functions. 
Regional and local development plans should recognise the roles of these settlements as being a focus for housing, employment and key services within their 
wider areas and consider how they continue as a focal point for sub-regional growth.

P24

P24

P23

P23

T
udalen 228



The Regions

59

Welsh language

With strong Welsh speaking heartlands in the region, it is 
important that Strategic and Local Development Plans consider 
the relationship between strategic housing, transport and 
economic growth and the Welsh language.

A strong rural Wales

The Welsh Government strongly supports resilient and 
prosperous rural communities, as set out in policy P4, and 
expects to see development plans across the region responding 
positively to the aims of this policy. 

Regional plans should provide a strong and positive framework 
to support rural communities across the Mid and South West 
region. They should consider how jobs, services and homes can 
be provided within rural communities, so that rural settlements 
are able to sustain themselves and grow. Regional plans should 
also consider how people will access the jobs and services they 
rely on outside their community. Accessibility and inter-linkages 
between settlements, based on an understanding of their roles 
and functions, is an important component of strategic planning 
and key locational decisions should be fully informed by the needs 
of rural communities and how they will access jobs and services. 

The Growing Mid Wales Partnership have set out an important 
framework for action to grow productivity, innovation and jobs 
across Mid Wales and are making the case for a regional growth 
deal. Regional plans will have a key role to play in facilitating 
the infrastructure that will support economic growth and 
co-ordinating it with the delivery of new homes and services. 

A strong city region

The Regional Economic Development Plan prepared by the Welsh 
Government in partnership with local authorities, communities, 
business and key stakeholders, will set out the priorities for 
future regional economic development. The planning system, 
through Strategic and Local Development Plans and the decisions 
it takes, will have a major role to play in shaping the places that 
support and strengthen the regional economy.

The Strategic Development Plan should be informed by the 
Swansea Bay City Region City Deal and Economic Regeneration 
Strategy. They should ensure that key locational decisions 
on housing and employment sites, key services and essential 
infrastructure are planned to support and benefit from the 
investment and projects across the region; and consider the 
role of the universities in supporting growth and innovation.  

The region is served by ports at Milford Haven, Port Talbot, 
Swansea and Fishguard and plays an important role supporting 
the maritime sector and the national economy. They are 
important national infrastructure and supporting their future role 
locally, regionally and nationally is a key consideration. 

The Haven Waterway has a unique combination of a natural 
harbour, long established industries and the potential for new 
strategic development. Development plans should recognise this 
and provide a framework for managing future growth.

Policy 25 – Haven Waterway 
The Welsh Government supports continued operations and future development at Haven Waterway. 
Strategic and Local Development Plans should support its growth and seek to maximise the benefits it provides to the region and Wales. The Welsh Government 
will work with operators, local authorities and investors to support and facilitate appropriate new development. 

P25

P25

T
udalen 229



60

The Regions

The Strategic Development Plan should seek to improve 
connectivity across the region and should consider long term 
proposals such as the Swansea Metro scheme, which can provide 
a basis for better integrating land-use and transport planning. 
The Metro provides an opportunity to improve accessibility 
across the region and is supported by the Welsh Government. 
In accordance with P16, development plans must ensure that long 
term strategic decisions maximise the opportunities in areas that 
will benefit from improved accessibility and investment in public 
transport services. Where new transport corridors are created by 
the Metro scheme, the potential for these corridors to incorporate 
green infrastructure must be explored. The Welsh Government will 
maintain its commitment to tackling congestion on the M4 and 
trunk road network including through its Pinch Point Programme 
of small scale interventions aimed at addressing congestion pinch 
points on the main road network. 

A resource rich region

Mid and South West Wales has outstanding natural resources, 
which include the coast, two national parks, an Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty, minerals, agricultural land, water and a high quality 
landscape. Development plans should provide a framework for 
their management and enhancement, enabling them to be enjoyed 
by future generations and to provide economic benefits for the 
region’s communities.  

It is vital the region plays its role in decarbonising society and 
supports the realisation of renewable energy. There is strong 
potential for wind, tidal and solar energy generation and 
development plans should provide a framework for generation 
and associated infrastructure. 

The region’s minerals and aggregates play an important role in 
supporting development across Wales and England. There are 
active quarries in the region, primarily within Pembrokeshire Coast 
National Park and Ceredigion, supplying sand and gravel mainly 
for local markets. Powys is an important focus for sandstone and 
igneous rock extraction and fulfils demand both in and outside of 
Wales.  

A diverse region

The Mid and South West region supports a large and diverse 
tourism industry. Development plans and decisions on planning 
applications should provide a positive framework to support growth 
and ensure that communities across all parts of the region are able 
to benefit from their landscapes, natural and historic environment, 
heritage assets and visitor attractions to support and grow their 
economies. It is important the region’s distinctive heritage is 
preserved and enhanced by high quality development.

Policy 26 – Swansea Bay Metro
The Welsh Government supports the development of the Swansea Bay Metro and will work with agencies to enable its delivery. 
Strategic and Local Development Plans should support the scheme and plan growth to maximise the potential opportunities arising from better regional 
connectivity.  

P26

P26

T
udalen 230



The Regions

61

South East 
Wales

Almost half the 
population of Wales live in the region 
and there are over 150,000 Welsh speakers.

The region’s population grew 

by over 9% between 
1997–2017.

There are significant populations in 
built up areas across the 
whole region. 

Population growth between 1997–2017 
has been uneven, with the largest 
growth in Cardiff. 

Major population centres are in the 
Valleys and two cities.

The majority of people live in settlements 
of at least 25,000 people.

Continuous built up areas are a distinctive 
feature of the valleys. 

There are over 
640,000 people 
in Rhondda Cynon Taf, Caerphilly, Torfaen, 
Blaenau Gwent, and Merthyr Tydfil. 

The region is served by Cardiff 
Airport and major ports 
at Cardiff, Newport and Barry.

The valley topography 
in the north of the region has defined 
settlement and movement patterns.

Connectivity is good east-west 
by road and rail in the southern part of 
the region. 

Road connectivity is good 
east-west along the heads of the valleys. 

Connectivity from the valleys to 
the coast is along the linear valley floors. 

Rural areas in the east and south of 
the regions are well connected 
to main urban centres.

T
udalen 231



62

The Regions

Overview
The South East Wales region comprises Blaenau Gwent, 
Bridgend, Caerphilly, Cardiff, Merthyr Tydfil, Monmouthshire, 
Newport, Rhondda Cynon Taf, Torfaen and the Vale of Glamorgan 
and is the most populous region of Wales, with over 1.5 million 
residents. It is a major city region on a UK scale. The region is 
the smallest geographically of the three regions and includes the 
coastal cities of Cardiff and Newport and the former industrial 
heartlands of the South Wales Valleys. 

The regional issues that local planning authorities should work 
together to plan for are set out below alongside the spatial policy 
areas that the Welsh Government will focus on from a national 
perspective to support the South East region.

A collaborative, holistic approach

Across South East Wales, there are a range of strategic issues 
that need to be considered. Many of these issues have national, 
regional and local dimensions and will be delivered through  
co-ordinated action at all levels. 

Housing, economic growth and connectivity infrastructure  
should be co-ordinated and planned on the basis of the whole 
region. The management of natural resources, flooding  
and the protection and enhancement of areas of environmental 
and landscape importance should inform strategic decisions 
on locations for growth and new infrastructure. Decarbonising 
society and responding to the threats of climate change should 
be central to all regional planning.

Clear decisions should be made on the scale and location of 
growth through the preparation of a Strategic Development Plan 
to ensure that all parts of the region are working together to 
achieve the region’s goals. A Strategic Development Plan should 
focus on the movement of people across the region and support 
an integrated approach to strategic land-use and transport 
planning. Key locational decisions including for employment 
centres, strategic housing growth and services should focus 
on the most sustainable and accessible locations and seek to 
address congestion, reduce car based commuting and improve 
air quality. 

Focus for growth

In accordance with the NDF Spatial Strategy, growth in the South 
East Region should primarily be focussed in Cardiff, Newport and 
the Valleys. 

Cardiff will remain the primary settlement in the region, its future 
strategic growth shaped by its strong housing and employment 
markets and it will retain its capital city role, accommodating 
higher level functions and attractions. Strategic and Local 
Development Plans will need to consider the interdependence of 
Cardiff and the wider region. Cardiff relies on people from across 
the full region and ensuring communities around the Capital are 
vibrant, prosperous and connected helps to support Cardiff.  

Policy 27 – Cardiff 
Cardiff will retain and extend its role as the primary national centre for culture, sport, leisure, media, the night time economy and finance. 
The Welsh Government supports regional development which addresses the opportunities and challenges arising from Cardiff’s geographic location and its functions 
as a Capital City.
The Welsh Government supports Cardiff’s status as an internationally competitive city and a core city on the UK stage. 

P27

P27

T
udalen 232



Cardiff

Newport
Caerphilly

Pontypridd

Bridgend

Merthyr 
Tydfil

Barry

Regional Connectivity

Intra-urban Connectivity

International Connections 

Ports

Green Belt

Valleys Regional Park

South Wales Metro

Cardiff Airport

M

National Growth Area

Centres of National Growth

Centres of Regional Growth
M

The Regions

63

T
udalen 233



64

The Regions

Cardiff is currently experiencing a period of growth in population 
and employment, but the city cannot continue to expand 
indefinitely without major consequences for the environment. 
It is a compact city nearing its physical limits, which include 
Caerphilly and Garth mountains to the north and the Bristol 
Channel to the south. Cardiff must generate and support 
regional growth throughout the south east while enhancing 
its status as a vibrant capital city of Wales.

The Strategic Development Plan will need to consider the 
interdependence between Cardiff and the wider region. 
Regional transport infrastructure reflects the significance of 
Cardiff and has consolidated its role as the main focal point 
of the region.  The potential to reach central Cardiff quickly 
and conveniently using the Metro generates opportunities 
for development in settlements outside the city. The cultural 
and economic strength of Cardiff must generate region-wide 
prosperity and well-being. 

The Welsh Government is determined to see development and 
growth in Newport, allowing the city to fulfil its potential as a 
second focal point for the region. It has significant brownfield 
development opportunities to provide new housing and 
employment areas. There are emerging highly skilled employment 
opportunities in the transport and digital communications sectors 
which should be catalysts for further economic investments. 
The Metro will improve the city’s public transport system, 
especially within the city and to surrounding towns. It benefits 
from established road and rail links with Cardiff, Bristol and 
London.

P28

Policy 28 – Newport
The Welsh Government supports Newport as the focus for regional growth and investment and wants to see the City play an increased strategic role in the region. 
The strategic emphasis should be focussed on achieving growth in the city. 
Strategic and Local Development Plans across the region should recognise Newport as a focus for strategic housing and economic growth; essential services and 
facilities; transport and digital infrastructure; and consider how they can support and benefit from Newport’s increased strategic regional role. Development in the 
wider region should be carefully managed to support Newport’s growth and to provide a focus for regional planning.  
The Welsh Government will work with authorities within the region and in England to promote Newport’s strategic role and ensure key investment decisions in Wales 
and England support Newport and the wider region. 

P28

T
udalen 234



The Regions

65

Growth at Newport will help manage the development 
pressures in Cardiff and provide a strategic focus for 
the eastern part of the region. Strategic growth should 
be focussed in and immediately adjoining Newport 
itself, to support brownfield regeneration.

The South East region includes some of the most 
distinctive landscapes in the country. Few areas in 
the UK have been as shaped by their natural resources 
as the South Wales Valleys, which in turn drove the 
growth of the coastal communities. The legacy of 
20th Century industrial decline remains a major issue. 
The commitment to addressing these challenges 
has been strong and the work of local authorities, 
the third sector and businesses has delivered 
investment and supported large-scale regeneration 
initiatives. Strategic and Local Development Plans 
should focus on how further regeneration can be 
achieved; how sustainably located brownfield sites 
can be brought back into use; and how communities 
can access the homes, jobs and services they need. 
It is important to preserve and enhance the region’s 
cultural heritage with high quality development.

T
udalen 235



66

The Regions

The Heads of the Valleys area, covering the northern parts of 
Rhondda Cynon Taf, Merthyr Tydfil, Caerphilly, Blaenau Gwent and 
Torfaen, is a priority area for the Welsh Government and should 
be a priority for the Strategic Development Plan. The area, like 
the Valleys more generally, has one of the most distinctive urban 
settlement patterns in the UK; has seen significant investment 
in the A465, from EU funding programmes and in the future 
through the South Wales Metro. It has the potential to build on its 
tourism offer and proximity to the Brecon Beacons National Park. 
National, regional and local strategies, plans and investment 
must be co-ordinated and focus on those interventions that can 
address the structural economic and social issues that impact 
upon communities’ prosperity and well-being.  

Planning and co-ordinating the delivery of new housing to meet 
identified needs will be an important task for the regional 
planning process. Under the Welsh Government central estimates 
71,200 additional homes are needed in the region until 2038 
and over the initial five years (2018/19 to 2022/23) 48% of 
the additional homes needed should be affordable homes. 

These estimates provide part of the evidence and context on 
which Housing Requirements for Strategic Development Plans 
can be based and should be considered at the regional scale. 
It is vital that housing is considered at the regional level and 
not on the basis of the aspirations of individual local planning 
authorities. Understanding and managing different development 
pressures across the region will be a key issue and Strategic 
Development Plans will need to consider housing need across 
the full region.

Strategic decisions on the location of development, key services 
and infrastructure should support the region’s cities and Valleys 
communities and be taken on a regional basis, ensuring they are 
located in the most accessible and sustainable locations within 
the context of the whole region. The Welsh Government supports 
the use of green belts in the South East region in managing and 
planning urban growth. Planning Policy Wales sets out the policy 
context for them. The Strategic Development Plan must identify 
a green belt that includes the area to the north of the M4 from 
the Severn Crossings to North Cardiff.

Policy 29 – The Heads of the Valleys 
The Welsh Government supports co-ordinated regeneration and investment in the Heads of the Valleys area to increase prosperity and address social inequalities. 
The Welsh Government will work with local authorities, businesses, the third sector, agencies and stakeholders to support investment, including in the 
manufacturing sector, and to ensure a regional approach is taken to addressing issues in the Heads of the Valleys area. 
Strategic and Local Development Plans across the full region must identify how they can support, both directly and through a joined-up regional approach, 
the Heads of the Valleys area to deliver greater prosperity, support regeneration and improve well-being. 

Policy 30 – Green Belts in South East Wales
The Welsh Government requires the identification of green belts through a Strategic Development Plan to manage urban form and growth in South East Wales, 
particularly around Newport and the eastern part of the region. 
Regional plans should consider the relationship of any new green belts with the green belt around Bristol. 

P29

P30

P29

P30

T
udalen 236



The Regions

67

A growing, equitable region

The South East region accounts for 51% of the total economic 
output of the Welsh economy and accounts for over 55% of 
additional housing need in Wales during the next few years, 
with estimates suggesting this proportion will increase in the 
future. The Regional Economic Development Plan prepared by 
the Welsh Government in partnership with local authorities, 
communities, business and key stakeholders will set out the 
priorities for future regional economic development. The planning 
system, through Strategic and Local Development Plans and the 
decisions it takes, will have a major role to play in shaping the 
places that support and strengthen the regional economy. 

The Strategic Development Plan should seek to maximise 
opportunities arising from investment in the compound 
semiconductor sector. Compound semiconductor technology 
lies at the heart of the next industrial revolution and is a 
technology growing rapidly in Wales. The technology underpins 
a range of products including smartphones, Wi-Fi, satellite 
communication systems, robotics and efficient LEDs. In Wales, 
industry, academia and Governments are working to develop 
a world class compound semiconductor cluster. By developing 
these capabilities in the region, Wales has established the core 
elements for a compound semiconductor ecosystem that will 
help bridge early stage research, applied industrial research 
and innovation through to high volume manufacturing and its 
supporting supply chain.

Prosperity is not uniform across the region. The Cardiff 
Capital Region City Deal has made progress in developing 
and strengthening a regional approach. Strategic and Local 
Development Plans should consider how prosperity can 
be spread across the region, how local economies can be 

strengthened and how growth in the strongest economic areas 
can benefit the whole region. They should consider social, 
health and environmental inequalities and ensure that strategic 
land-use choices contribute to tackling these issues. Improving 
accessibility and the movement of people and goods is a key 
strategic priority and can support actions to address economic, 
social, cultural and environmental inequality.  

Welsh language

There are more than 150,000 Welsh speakers across the region 
and the number is growing. It is important that development 
plans consider the relationship between strategic housing, 
transport and economic growth and the Welsh language.

An integrated, connected region

The South East region has traditionally had a high degree of 
integration, with the relationship between the cities, the Valleys 
and adjoining rural areas shaping the roles and functions of 
settlements in the region. The opportunity to build on these 
relationships and re-establish them where they have weakened, 
will allow issues that are difficult to address at the local level, 
to be considered collectively at the regional level.

A Strategic Development Plan will need to consider where people 
live, work, shop and spend their leisure time now and in the 
future and the location of the key health, education and social 
infrastructure they rely on. It should consider how the energy the 
region requires will be generated and transported; how waste will 
be managed; and the digital infrastructure required to support 
the region’s communities. By focussing on improving accessibility 
and identifying the most sustainable locations, a strategic 
development plan should make clear choices on strategic 
locations and plan for the region as a cohesive whole.  

T
udalen 237



68

The Regions

The relatively high population density in South East Wales means 
the region is well-suited to Transit Orientated Development, as set 
out in P1. The quality, variety and frequency of transport services 
will vary across the region and should be taken into account 
by local planning authorities in the preparation of the regional 
settlement strategy, in accordance with P16.  

The South Wales Metro scheme provides a major strategic 
opportunity to improve rail, bus, cycling and walking infrastructure 
across the region and provide a focus for investment, 
regeneration and associated development. Development plans 
must ensure that long term strategic decisions maximise 
opportunities in areas that will benefit from improved accessibility 
and investment in public transport, including from the Metro. 

The Metro reflects the importance of Cardiff to the region but also 
provides potential and opportunity for other parts of the region to 
function as key centres. Merthyr Tydfil, Pontypridd, Caerphilly and 
Bridgend will be strategically important locations on the South 

Wales Metro system. Regeneration and sustainable, inclusive 
economic growth in these towns will help deliver the ambitions of 
the Our Valleys, Our Future project. Where new transport corridors 
are created by the Metro scheme, the potential for these corridors 
to incorporate green infrastructure must be explored.

Cardff Airport is an essential part of Wales’ strategic transport 
infrastructure. It is an international gateway, connecting Wales 
to the world, and is a key driver within the Welsh economy. 
Proposals to expand airport operations and improve connectivity 
and accessibility are essential to the airport’s future success 
and its ability to compete with other UK regional airports. 
There are ambitious plans to grow Cardiff Airport’s passenger 
numbers from 1.6 million passengers per annum to three million 
and beyond by 2040. Proposed growth in the airport’s capacity 
will require new and improved airport facilities and passenger 
services.

Policy 31 – Growth in sustainable transit orientated settlements 
Development and growth in the region should be focussed in places with good active travel and public transport connectivity. Land in close proximity to existing and 
committed new mainline railway and Metro stations should be the focus for development.
Strategic and Local Development Plans should plan growth to maximise the potential opportunities arising from better regional connectivity. 
The Welsh Government supports the development of the South Wales Metro and will work with agencies to enable its delivery.  

Policy 32 – Cardiff Airport
The Welsh Government supports the growth and development of Cardiff Airport. 
Proposals to expand the capacity of the airport; to provide new and improved airport facilities and passenger services; and to improve transport links to the airport 
are supported. Improvements to accessibility are supported and should prioritise a modal shift from the private car to sustainable transport modes including public 
transport.
Development of land adjacent to Cardiff Airport which is part of the Enterprise Zone is supported where it supports the functions of the airport.
New development around the airport should be carefully managed to ensure future expansion and change at the airport is not constrained.

P32

P31

P31

P32

T
udalen 238



The Regions

69

The region is served by ports at Newport, Cardiff and Barry. 
Each plays an important economic role and collectively they 
are key infrastructure within the region. Development plans 
should consider the role of the ports locally, regionally and 
nationally and establish frameworks to support their operation 
and potential expansion. The Welsh Government will maintain 
its commitment to tackling congestion on the M4 and trunk road 
network including through its Pinch Point Programme of small 
scale interventions aimed at addressing congestion pinch points 
on the main road network.

Rivers and valleys

The Welsh Government, communities and partners have 
developed a positive framework through ‘Our Valleys, Our Future’ 
to drive change and regeneration. The Valleys Regional Park 
seeks to maximise the social, economic and environmental 
potential of the Valleys’ natural and cultural heritage assets and 
it is important that the planning system supports its delivery.

The region’s concentration of population and its historic and 
future growth mean that it is a high consumer of materials and 
natural resources. It is vital the region makes the best use of 
material resources, promotes resource efficiency and is ambitious 
in supporting innovative ways of promoting a circular economy. 
The region is heavily dependent upon marine aggregates from the 
Bristol Channel and the Severn Estuary and minerals from this 
area serves both Welsh and English markets.

Policy 33 – Valleys Regional Park
The Welsh Government supports the establishment of the Valleys Regional Park. 
Strategic and Local Development Plans should embed its principles into their planning frameworks. The Welsh Government will work with local authorities, the third 
sector and key partners to support the Valleys Regional Park and maximise opportunities for new development.  

P33

P33

T
udalen 239



70

The Regions

OUTCOMES 
 
A Wales where people live …

P1 P2 P3 P4 P5 P6 P7 P8 P9 P10 P11 P12 P13 P14 P15 P16 P17 P18 P19

and work in connected, inclusive  
and healthy places

● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ●

in vibrant rural places with access  
to homes, jobs and services

● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ●

in distinctive regions that tackle health 
and socio-economic inequality through 
sustainable growth

● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ●

in places with a thriving Welsh Language ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ●

and work in towns and cities which  
are a focus and springboard for  
sustainable growth

● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ●

in places where prosperity, innovation  
and culture are promoted

● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ●

in places where travel is sustainable ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ●

in places with world-class digital 
infrastructure

● ● ● ● ●

in places that sustainably manage their 
natural resources and reduce pollution

● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ●

in places with biodiverse, resilient  
and connected ecosystems

● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ●

in places which are decarbonised ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ●

The relationship between the NDF’s policies and the ‘Outcomes’ it sets out to achieve.

T
udalen 240



The Regions

71

OUTCOMES 
 
A Wales where people live …

P20 P21 P22 P23 P24 P25 P26 P27 P28 P29 P30 P31 P32 P33

and work in connected, inclusive  
and healthy places

● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ●

in vibrant rural places with access  
to homes, jobs and services

● ● ● ● ● ● ●

in distinctive regions that tackle health 
and socio-economic inequality through 
sustainable growth

● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ●

in places with a thriving Welsh Language ● ● ● ● ●

and work in towns and cities which  
are a focus and springboard for  
sustainable growth

● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ●

in places where prosperity, innovation  
and culture are promoted

● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ●

in places where travel is sustainable ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ●

in places with world-class digital 
infrastructure

● ● ●

in places that sustainably manage their 
natural resources and reduce pollution

● ● ● ●

in places with biodiverse, resilient  
and connected ecosystems

● ●

in places which are decarbonised ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ●

T
udalen 241



T
udalen 242



 

1 
 

CYNGOR CAERDYDD 

CARDIFF COUNCIL 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL SCRUTINY COMMITTEE              

                 20 NOVEMBER 2019  

 
 

 
MEMBER BRIEFING NOTE:  RIGHTS OF WAY IMPROVEMENT PLAN 
(ROWIP) 2020-30 
 
 

Reason for the Report 
 

1. To provide Members with an opportunity to review the content of the report titled 

‘Rights of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP) 2020-30’ that is due to be presented at 

the Cabinet meeting on the 21st November 2019.    

 
Background 
 

2. There was a legal obligation for all Local Authorities to make a 10-year ROWIP 

under Section 60 (1) of the CROW Act 2000. Cardiff published its first ROWIP in 

June 2008. Under section 60 (3)-(4) there is a legal obligation to review the first 

ROWIP and to make a new assessment and decide whether to republish a new 

ROWIP; this should be done every subsequent decade. 

 

3. There have been many legal and policy changes in the last 10 years; consequently, 

Welsh Government (WG) issued guidance on what needed to be considered if a new 

ROWIP were made. Following due consideration of various legislative changes and 

an appreciation of current economic challenges, it was decided to produce a new 

Cardiff ROWIP for 2020-30.     

 
4. Cardiff has approximately 200 km/124 miles of Public Rights of Way (PROW) 

footpaths and bridleways, most are in the north and north-west of Cardiff. Cardiff 

Council’s PROW team is responsible for making sure the Rights of Way network is 

clearly mapped and the paths are maintained for safe use for the public to enjoy. In 

the built-up urban areas of the city, most other paths are pavements adjacent to 

Tudalen 243

Eitem Agenda 7



 

2 
 

roads (adopted highway), including shared use or segregated pavements for 

pedestrians and cyclists.  

 
5. Cardiff’s ROWIP 2020-30 sets out how the PROW team will identify, prioritise and 

plan improvements across the network for the duration. Proposals for managing 

Cardiff’s PROW network are detailed in the Statement of Action Key Strategies and 

Key Aims (described below). These were identified as a result of the evaluation 

process and are important for the future management and improvement of Cardiff’s 

PROW network. The Statement of Action sets out what we plan to achieve over the 

course of 10 years and will help to identify priorities in the Delivery Plan, which will 

be tailored to available finance and staff resources.  

 

6. The ROWIP is split into five sections: 
 

 Section 1 gives an Introduction and background to the ROWIP and the Cardiff 
Public Rights of Way (PROW) network. 

 Section 2 gives the reasons for making a new ROWIP for 2020-30. 

 Section 3 gives details of the New Assessment, which looks at 3 main points: 

 
 Reviewing ROWIP 1: 2008-18;  

 Evaluating the current network; and, 

 Evaluating the public’s future needs and opportunities of the network.  

 
 Section 4 outlines the Statement of Action for ROWIP 2020-30, which has 5 Key 

Strategies for the long term aims over the 10-year period as listed below. 

 Section 5 The Key Aims provide a more detailed plan of the Council’s priorities 
over the next 10 years, as listed below. These will inform the PROW team’s 
Delivery Plan (annual work programme). 

 

7. Statement of Action – Details of ROWIP Sections 4 & 5: The Statement of Action 

(SOA) is an overall 10-year outline plan of what we hope to achieve for Cardiff’s 

PROW network. We considered all the information from the New Assessment; this 

helped identify the 5 Key Strategies for the ROWIP 2020-30. These strategies inform 

the 12 Key Aims and tasks for improvements and activities that will be considered 

over the next 10 years. The Key Aims will inform the Delivery Plan (Annual Work 

programme), which will have specific tasks that may change during the course of the 

Tudalen 244



 

3 
 

year, while other tasks may also be put forward which will be dependent on 

availability of funding and staff resources.    

 

8. Key Strategies: The table below describe the 5 Key Strategies to achieve over the 

next 10 years, based on outcomes from the New Assessment. A full assessment of 

each key strategy, SWOT analysis and its links to the New Assessment. 

 
 Table 1 – The ‘5 Key Strategies’ 

 
 

 Key Strategy Description 
 

1 
 

Develop a 
more efficient 
management 
system for 
statutory 
Rights of Way 
work 

Management of the PROW network will be fully supported by the 
ongoing development and data input to the Council’s Digital 
Management System (DMS). It will provide key outputs for 
managing, maintaining and reporting any issues on the PROW 
network and its inventory. This includes signage, path clearance, 
surfacing and any work needed to ensure paths are fully available 
and fit for purpose. It also includes the need to take into 
consideration ecosystems and access for all. This strategy is the 
overarching strategy and will link to strategies 2-5. 
 

2 Increase 
access for all, 
through 
network 
improvements 

This is based on the need to provide the least restrictive access to 
PROWs and any improvements to the network will have this as a 
driver for change. For example, existing stiles could be replaced 
with gates or gaps. 
 

3 Improve and 
promote the 
PROW 
network and 
outdoor 
activities  

Encourage and support the public to access the PROW network and 
green spaces across the city, through various promotional 
materials including electronic, on site information boards and 
printed leaflets.  

4 Preserve and 
enhance the 
PROW 
network and 
ecosystems 

Effectively manage and update the Definitive Map and Statement 
and any changes to the network such as diversions, 
extinguishments and creations. Any opportunities to improve the 
PROW network will be pursued, such as consideration of new 
projects (e.g. bridleways), strategic links (e.g. cross-border), ways 
to enhance existing paths (e.g. access for all – see 2 above) and 
consideration of ecosystems and seasonal work. These will be 
dependent on funding. 

Tudalen 245



 

4 
 

5 Be responsive 
to new 
legislation, 
revised local 
plans and 
strategies and 
emerging land 
developments 

Over the next 10-year period there will likely be unforeseen events 
that affect the PROW network. These will be addressed through 
the Delivery Plans to ensure the network is maintained and 
managed responsively to changes in legislation, plans and 
strategies. Particular attention will be paid to PROWs affected by 
new land developments to ensure they are preserved and 
enhanced. 
 

 
 

9. Key Aims: The Key Aims provide a more detailed plan of how Key Strategies will be 

achieved over the next 10 years. These Key Aims have been specifically developed 

to inform the PROW team’s Delivery Plan (annual work programme), which will have 

specific tasks and have sufficient flexibility to change during the course of the year 

depending on availability of funding and staff resources or changes in policy. 

 
 Table 2 – The ‘Key Aims’ 

 

No. Key Aims 
1 Improved management and ongoing maintenance of the PROW network 
2 Maintain an up-to-date Definitive Map and process Legal Orders 
3 Enhance Cardiff’s ecosystems along PROW routes 
4 Install waymarking across the PROW network to help the public find their way 
5 Support the Cardiff Local Access Forum and work in partnership with interest 

groups and volunteers 
6 Identify and improve strategic links and accessibility of the network 
7 Improve and increase the bridleway network 
8 Protect and enhance paths within new developments and on private land 
9 Publicise information online to help the public ‘Report a Problem’ on the path 

network 
10 Maintain and improve the Wales Coast Path (WCP), liaise with NRW  
11 Improve information about trails, places to visit, outdoor activities and events 
12 Promote Codes of Conduct for the public to respect the environment and other 

path users 
 

 
10. Delivery Plans: The Delivery Plan sets out short, medium and long term projects 

and work tasks which demonstrate how we will apply the Key Strategies and Key 

Aims over a specified period of time. These plans will complement the Statement of 

Action and Key Aims in order to allow the new ROWIP to be more responsive to 

changing circumstances (staff resource, funding, etc.) without losing sight of the 

Council’s commitments. Diagram 1 below shows how projects will follow an annual 

Tudalen 246



 

5 
 

cycle of development, delivery and review. It is proposed that the first full delivery 

plan will be compiled and published for the 2020-21 period. 

 
 Diagram 1 – Statement of Action: Key Strategies & Key Aims 

 

 
 

11. If approved by Cabinet, the ROWIP 2020-30 will be published and publicly available 

in December 2019. Professionally printed hard copies of the document will be 

available for review at community hubs and other Council buildings. Electronic 

copies will be freely available to download from the Council website, with photocopy 

prints at a nominal fee upon request. 

 

Issues 
 

12. The first 10-year ROWIP was published in 2008. Welsh Government issued 

guidance in summer 2016 to Local Authorities to advise them about whether (and 

how) to make a new ROWIP. Cardiff Council’s Public Rights of Way team took the 

view that the 1st ROWIP 2008-18 would need to be reviewed and a new ROWIP 

planned, however due to limited existing levels of staffing an additional temporary 

officer was required to undertake the task. The ROWIP officer was appointed in 

autumn 2017. The process of delivering the final ROWIP has progressed through 

several stages, resulting in publication of the ROWIP for the period 2020-30.  

 
13. The ROWIP will provide a defined methodology for delivering PROW functions for 

the period 2020-30. As described above, the ROWIP has been designed using the 

New Assessment to inform Key Strategies and Key Aims that provide a framework to 

Tudalen 247



 

6 
 

establish annual Delivery Plans. However, as proposed the delivery plans will flex to 

suit the availability of funding and resource. At present the PROW team has two 

Officers managing and undertaking day to day tasks and two operatives delivering 

cyclic maintenance and repairs. For the 2019-20 period there are two main revenue 

budgets: 

 
i. £10,600 – to maintain the Taff Trail, Rhymney Trail and Ely Trail for shared 

use with cyclists. 

ii. £6,770 – to maintain the PROW network (footpaths & bridleways) and carry 

out any improvement works.  

 

14. In addition to the revenue funding mentioned above, the following grant funded 

projects exist: 

 
 £40k – Aftercare funding to realign the Wales Coast Path (WCP) near the coast 

through Lamby Way landfill site (additional funding would be required to install a 

pedestrian crossing on Lamby Way Road to link to Parc Tredelerch and the 

onward route). 

 £4,366 (includes 25% Council contribution) – WCP Grant to clearly waymark the 

route and for general maintenance. 

 £40k Green Trails Bridle & Bike Network Project – A partnership project between 

5 neighbouring local authority areas (Bridgend, Vale of Glamorgan, Cardiff, 

Rhondda Cynon Taff & Merthyr). Currently at the feasibility study stage; its aim is 

to produce a plan for the delivery of long distance horse and mountain bike trails 

linking bridleways and access across the five Local Authorities. 

 Approx. £60k Living Levels – A partnership project between PROW, Parks  and 

other organisations (e.g. Bug Life, RSPB and Plant Life) to implement various 

projects to enhance biodiversity & habitats, access and education information.  

 

Local Member Consultation – Consultee & Public Consultations: 
 

15. The ROWIP Officer has attended regular Local Access Forum (LAF) meetings, 

informing them of progress regarding the ROWIP process. The LAF is a statutory 

advisory body created under the CROW Act 2000 (s 94-95). This is a group of 

appointed volunteers with a variety of interests in the PROW network, usually 

meeting quarterly. A ROWIP Sub-Group (with several members of the LAF and 

Tudalen 248



 

7 
 

neighbouring LAs) has been involved regularly. Various stakeholder groups and 

organisations were engaged during the ROWIP process as consultees, including 

current Councillors at key stages of the process. 

 

16. Initial Consultation (issued 27/10/17): this was to inform consultees of our 

intention to review the current Rights of Way and to outline the process of delivering 

the new ROWIP. The Next Stages phase of ROWIP (sent 16.08.18), included:  

 
i. Review of 1st ROWIP 

ii. ROWIP Survey; this was conducted between 10/04/18 to 14/10/18 and had 1,018 

responses (Compared to 673 in ROWIP 1 in 2005). It was sent to: 

 
 Consultees;  

 ROWIP web page; 

 Ask Cardiff web page; 

 Outdoor Cardiff web page; 

 On social media; 

 Internal face-to-face discussions; 

 Hard copies available in Hubs and Libraries.  

 
Lots of useful feedback was received; whilst there were pick lists for most 

answers, open questions were also asked where responders could comment 

freely. Comment topics included: maintaining paths; clearing vegetation; clear 

signage; and more information on routes. There were also several, often negative 

comments about shared use paths, most of which are not PROW; these have 

been discussed and shared with Transportation team for their consideration in 

future projects. 

 
iii.   The New Assessment Report links to ROWIP Survey and addresses the issues  

listed above in the ‘Key Strategies’ & ‘Key Aims’ in the ROWIP 2020-30. 

 

17. Draft ROWIP 2020-30: This required a 12-week statutory consultation period, 

undertaken between 18/07/19 to 14/10/19 comprising of: 

 
 Consultees were sent the draft on 18/07/19;  

 Public Notices (Echo & Western Mail) on 22/07/19; 

Tudalen 249



 

8 
 

 On website (ROWIP, PROW & Outdoor Cardiff); 

 Internal posts (Staff Info, Digigov, Intranet);  

 Social Media campaign from 22/07/19;  

 Sent to 380 people who requested updates (from the ROWIP Survey);   

 Reminders were sent to consultees on 13/09/19. The consultation closed 

14/10/19 and a press release (Echo & Western Mail) to remind people to respond 

was published approximately one week prior to this closing date. 

 
18. Website: Background information and reports featured on our ROWIP page (and 

linked to PROW page), also Outdoor Cardiff. 

 
19. Social Media: we have had regular posts at key stages on Twitter, Facebook & 

Instagram. We also conducted an Instagram photo competition with prize (organised 

by Comms); terms & conditions stated that submitted photos could be used on 

Cardiff Council publications and many will be featured in the ROWIP 2020-30.  

 

Cabinet Report Recommendations 
 

20. It is anticipated that the Cabinet report will recommend to: 
 
 Approve the Rights of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP) 2020-30 for publication 

and as the service delivery template to manage and improve Cardiff’s Public 

Right of Way network over the next 10 years. 

 
Way Forward 
 

21. Members are to note the contents of the Member Briefing Note.  

 
Legal Implications 
 

22. The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and recommend 

but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in this report are to 

consider and review matters there are no direct legal implications. However, legal 

implications may arise if and when the matters under review are implemented with or 

without any modifications. Any report with recommendations for decision that goes to 

Cabinet/Council will set out any legal implications arising from those 

recommendations. All decisions taken by or on behalf of the Council must (a) be 

within the legal powers of the Council; (b) comply with any procedural requirement 

Tudalen 250



 

9 
 

imposed by law; (c) be within the powers of the body or person exercising powers on 

behalf of the Council; (d) be undertaken in accordance with the procedural 

requirements imposed by the Council e.g. Scrutiny Procedure Rules; (e) be fully and 

properly informed; (f) be properly motivated; (g) be taken having regard to the 

Council's fiduciary duty to its taxpayers; and (h) be reasonable and proper in all the 

circumstances. 

 
Financial Implications 
 

23. The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and recommend 

but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in this report are to 

consider and review matters there are no direct financial implications at this stage in 

relation to any of the work programme. However, financial implications may arise if 

and when the matters under review are implemented with or without any 

modifications. Any report with recommendations for decision that goes to 

Cabinet/Council will set out any financial implications arising from those 

recommendations. 

 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Committee is recommended to: 
 

i. Note the content of this Member briefing note. 

 
DAVINA FIORE 
Director of Governance & Legal Services 
14th November 2019 

Tudalen 251



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



        

 

ENVIRONMENTAL SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - DRAFT FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 
 

3rd January 2020 to 3rd March 2020 
 

If you would like to share your experiences or views regarding the items being considered please 
contact Scrutiny.viewpoints@Cardiff.gov.uk 

 
Meeting 
Dates 

Type of 
Scrutiny 

Title and Description of Report Invitees & 
Consultees 

Directorate Contact 
Officer 

(a)  (b) (c) (d) 
 

7th 
January 

 
Cabinet 

Response to 
Scrutiny 
Report 

 
Cabinet Response to the Environmental 
Scrutiny Committee report titled ‘Improving 
Cardiff’s Air Quality’ 
 
An item to receive the Cabinet response to the 
Environmental Scrutiny Committee report titled 
‘Improving Cardiff’s Air Quality’. At the meeting 
Members will have an opportunity to comment on 
the response and provide feedback to the Cabinet 
Members.  
 
It is planned that this item will be webcast.  
 
 

 
Councillor Michael 
Michael, Cabinet 
Member for Clean 
Streets, Recycling & 
Environment 
 
Councillor Caro Wild, 
Cabinet Member for 
Strategic Planning & 
Transport 
 
Councillor Susan 
Elsmore, Cabinet 
Member for Social 
Care, Health & Well-
being 
 
Representatives from 
the Planning, 

 
Richard Bowen 
Principal Scrutiny Officer 
RBowen@cardiff.gov.uk T

udalen 253

E
item

 A
genda 8



        

 

Transport & 
Environment 
Directorate 
 

 
7th 

January 
2020 

 
Pre Decision 

Scrutiny 

 
Transport White Paper 
 
An item to carry out pre decision scrutiny on the 
Council’s Transport White Paper prior to it being 
presented at the January 2020 Cabinet meeting. 
Members will need to review the range of transport 
related themes and action plan contained within 
this document, before providing feedback to 
Cabinet. 
 
It is planned that this item will be webcast.  
 

 
Councillor Caro Wild, 
Cabinet Member for 
Strategic Planning & 
Transport 
 
Representatives from 
the Planning, 
Transport & 
Environment 
Directorate 

 

 
Richard Bowen 
Principal Scrutiny Officer 
RBowen@cardiff.gov.uk 

 
(Date 
TBC) 

February 
2020 

 
Pre Decision 

Scrutiny 

 
Draft Corporate Plan 2020 to 2023 & 2020/21 
Draft Cabinet Budget Proposals 
 
To provide Members with the context for the 
scrutiny of those sections of the Council’s Draft 
Corporate Plan 2020 to 2023 and Draft Cabinet 
2019/20 budget consultation proposals as they 
relate to the Directorates which fall under the remit 
of this Committee. 
 
It is planned that this item will be webcast.  
 

 
Councillor Michael 
Michael, Cabinet 
Member for Clean 
Streets, Recycling & 
Environment 
 
Councillor Caro Wild, 
Cabinet Member for 
Strategic Planning & 
Transport 
 

 
Richard Bowen 
Principal Scrutiny Officer 
RBowen@cardiff.gov.uk 

T
udalen 254



        

 

Representatives from 
the Planning, 
Transport & 
Environment 
Directorate 

 
 

3rd March 
2020 

 
Monitoring 

Performance 
& Progress 

 
Quarterly Performance Reports – Relevant to 
the Terms of Reference of the Environmental 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
An item to review the Quarterly Performance 
Reports for 2019/20. This will relate to Council 
services relevant to the terms of reference of the 
Environmental Scrutiny Committee. In particular, 
the item will consider progress against key 
performance indicators; the challenges facing 
service areas and the achievements made in the 
period. 
 
It is planned that this item will be webcast.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Councillor Caro Wild, 
Cabinet Member for 
Strategic Planning & 
Transport 
 
Councillor Michael 
Michael, Cabinet 
Member for Clean 
Streets, Recycling & 
Environment 
 
Representatives from 
the Planning, 
Transport & 
Environment 
Directorate 
 

 
Richard Bowen 
Principal Scrutiny Officer 
RBowen@cardiff.gov.uk 

T
udalen 255



        

 

 
3rd March 

2020 

 
Cabinet 

Response to 
Scrutiny 
Report 

 

 
Cabinet Response to the Environmental 
Scrutiny Committee report titled ‘Litter & Fly 
Tipping in Cardiff’ 
 
An item to receive the Cabinet response the 
Environmental Scrutiny Committee report titled 
‘Litter & Fly Tipping in Cardiff’. At the meeting 
Members will have an opportunity to comment on 
the response and provide feedback to the Cabinet 
Member.  
 
It is planned that this item will be webcast. 
 

 
Councillor Michael 
Michael, Cabinet 
Member for Clean 
Streets, Recycling & 
Environment 
 
Representatives from 
the Planning, 
Transport & 
Environment 
Directorate 
 

 
Richard Bowen 
Principal Scrutiny Officer 
RBowen@cardiff.gov.uk 

 
3rd March 

2020 

 
Policy 

Development 
& Review 

 
Reviewing the Impact of Fireworks in the 
Community 
 
A scrutiny to review the impact that fireworks have 
on the local community, and to consider any 
actions that the Council could take to reduce these. 
Key areas for discussion could include public 
safety; littering and the impact that they have on 
pets.  
 

 
For discussion - TBC 

 
Richard Bowen 
Principal Scrutiny Officer 
RBowen@cardiff.gov.uk 

 

T
udalen 256


	Agenda
	4 Gwasanaethau Rheoliadol a Rennir – Diweddariad ar Gynnydd Pedair Blynedd
	Atodiad 1_
	Appendix 2_
	Delivering with Less – Environmental Health Services – Follow-up Review –Cardiff Council
	Summary
	What we reviewed and why
	Background
	What we found

	Proposals for improvement
	The shared regulatory services (SRS) model is enabling the Council to sustain its delivery of environmental health services in a context of reducing resources and additional responsibilities placed on it by ongoing changes in legislation. There is sco...
	Resources available to environmental health services have reduced since 2014-15, but the Council’s performance has been maintained by collaborating with two other councils through the SRS
	Whilst the Council and SRS are confident that environmental health obligations are being met, neither has explicitly assessed whether this is the case. The Council and SRS would benefit from working together to distinguish between statutory and non-st...
	Governance and performance management frameworks are robust, but arrangements for review and challenge of performance information could be formalised
	There is scope for the Council to improve the level of independent challenge and oversight it exercises in relation to environmental health services provided to it by the SRS
	The Council has consulted key external stakeholders on significant changes to environmental health services, but should more carefully consider the impact of future changes on residents and businesses and undertake direct consultation where appropriate
	The Council and the SRS must continue to innovate and transform services in order to help mitigate any future funding reductions

	Auditor General’s recommendations – Delivering with less – the impact on environmental health services and citizens, October 2014
	Council’s progress in addressing the Auditor General’s recommendations 2 to 5


	Appendix 3_
	Appendix 4_
	Appendix 5_

	5 Adroddiad Gorchwyl a Gorffen Drafft – Rheoli, Bioamrywiaeth a’r Amgylchedd Naturiol yng Nghaerdydd
	Atodiad 1_
	Appendix 1 of Report - Letter to Councillor Wild - 12.09.2019

	6 Fframwaith Datblygu Cenedlaethol – Nodyn Briffio Aelodau
	Atodiad 1_

	7 Cynllun Gwella Hawliau Tramwy Cyhoeddus – Nodyn Briffio Aelodau
	8 Pwyllgor Craffu Amgylcheddol – Rhaglen Waith Drafft 2019/20

